
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 23 September 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

Thursday, 1 October 2020 at 1.00 pm 
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely 

using Skype for Business 
 

 
Members: 

 
Councillor Breda Griffin, Chairman of the Council 
Councillor Ian Stokes, Vice-Chairman of the Council 
 

Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth 
Councillor Robert Broughton 
Councillor George Chivers 
Councillor Louise Clack 
Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Councillor John Cottier 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Barry Dobson 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Helen Goral 
Councillor Jan Hansen 
 

Councillor Graham Jeal 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Anna Kelly 
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Matthew Lee 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Annie Mason 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Councillor Robert Reid 
Councillor Nick Robins 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Councillor Mrs Judy Smith 
Councillor Lee Steptoe 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Adam Stokes 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-
Bellew 
Councillor Sarah Trotter 
Councillor Dean Ward 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Jane Wood 
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
Councillor Ray Wootten 

 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Council - 1 October 2020 

Council 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/Z9R29WVM


 

 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held at 12:55pm before the 

commencement of the meeting. Please be seated by 12:50pm. 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Public Open Forum 
The public open forum will commence at 1.00 p.m. and the following formal 

business of the Council will commence at 1.30 p.m. or whenever the public 

open forum ends, if earlier. 

 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 

the meeting. 

 

   
4.   Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2020 (Pages 7 - 27) 

   
 Items carried forward from 16 July 2020 

 
5.   Update from the Leader of the Council  

   

 a)   Meetings of the Cabinet  (Pages 29 - 55) 

  Report of the Leader of the Council.   

 b)   Decisions made under urgency provisions  (Pages 57 - 111) 

  Report of the Leader of the Council. 

Appendix 1 to this report contains information which is exempt 

under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended) because it contains information relating to the 

financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation.  

 

6.   Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's Constitution:  
   

 a)   Councillor Virginia Moran  (Page 113) 

  1.  This Council resolves to grant free parking in Council car 

parks to ultra-low emission vehicles with ‘green’ 

registration plates. 

2.  After six months of operation, this policy will be reviewed 

by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

3.  The free parking will not be permitted beyond the existing 

maximum parking periods. 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

 b)   Councillor Annie Mason  (Pages 115 - 126) 

  As we move into the recovery phase of the COVID-19 crisis it is 

essential that the Council puts the Mental Health and Wellbeing of 

residents, staff and Councillors at the forefront of our agenda. 

Therefore, we ask the Council to sign the Mental Health Challenge, 

set out below: 

This Council notes: 

 1 in 4 people will experience a mental health problem in 

any given year. 

 The World Health Organisation predicts that depression will 

be the second most common health condition worldwide by 

2020. 

 Mental ill health costs some £105 billion each year in 

England alone. 

 People with a severe mental illness die up to 20 years 

younger than their peers in the UK. 

 There is often a circular relationship between mental health 

and issues such as housing, employment, family problems 

or debt. 

This Council believes: 

 As a local authority we have a crucial role to play in 

improving the mental health of everyone in our community 

and tackling some of the widest and most entrenched 

inequalities in health. 

 Mental health should be a priority across all the local 

authority’s areas of responsibility, including housing, 

community safety and planning. 

 All Councillors, whether members of the Executive or 

Scrutiny and in our community and casework roles, can 

play a positive role in championing mental health on an 

individual and strategic basis. 

This Council resolves: 

 To sign the Local Authorities’ Mental Health Challenge run 

by Centre for Mental Health, Mental Health Foundation, 

Mental Health Providers Forum, Mind, Rethink Mental 

Illness, Royal College of Psychiatrists and YoungMinds.  

 We commit to appoint two elected Members as the 

Council’s joint ‘mental health champion’ (role details set out 

in the report).  

 We will identify a member of staff within the council to act 

as ‘lead officer’ for mental health (role details set out in the 

report)  

 The Council will also:  

1. Support positive mental health in our community, 

including in local schools, neighbourhoods and 

 



 

 

workplaces.  

2. Work to reduce inequalities in mental health in our 

community.  

3. Work with local partners to offer effective support for 

people with mental health needs.  

4. Tackle discrimination on the grounds of mental 

health in our community. 

5. Proactively listen to people of all ages and 

backgrounds about what they need for better mental 

health.  

 Items carried forward from 17 September 2020 
 

7.   Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's Constitution:  
   

 a)   Councillor Amanda Wheeler  (Pages 127 - 128) 

  South Kesteven District Council recognises that systemic racism 

and inequalities still exist in the UK today. SKDC commits to 

ensuring there is no place for institutional racism or unconscious 

bias in its functions and practices and that it is an authority not just 

tackling inequality to meet a duty, but one that actively works with 

its communities and other agencies to fight racism and hate crime 

throughout the district. 

As such, SKDC resolves: 

 To declare that this Council is intolerant to racism and will 

continue to seek to eradicate it, Islamophobia, Anti-

Semitism and hate crime across the district by developing 

initiatives that are actively inclusive and anti-racist; 

 To ask organisations across the district to pledge their 

commitment to anti-racism and tackling inequality; 

 To initiate a review involving BAME (Black, Asian and 

Minority Ethnic) members of our community, of processes, 

policies and organisational attitudes; 

 To invite appropriate speakers on these issues to help with 

training for councillors and staff. 

 

 b)   Councillor Ashley Baxter  (Page 129) 

  The council resolves that: 

1) Cabinet commissions a report into how the Coronavirus 

episode has impacted our operations, focusing specifically 

on opportunities to make long term environmental and 

financial savings (the report should be produced and 

published before the end of the December 2020). 

2) Environment Committee and Cabinet to prioritise within 

their workplans:  

a) consideration of how to use remote working 

 



 

 

opportunities for staff and members to the mutual 

benefit of the council and individuals. 

b) further consideration of opportunities to improve 

grounds maintenance practices to improve ecology and 

reduce costs. 

c) in partnership with the waste disposal authority, 

consideration of how waste collection and disposal 

systems could be enhanced to improve efficiency and 

recycling rates. 

 Substantive business for 1 October 2020 
 

8.   Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)  
   

9.   South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan (Pages 131 - 161) 
   

10.   Corporate Restructure (To Follow) 
   

11.   Formation of LeisureSK 
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council. 

(To Follow) 

   
12.   Appointment of Directors to Gravitas Housing Limited 

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council to consider the appointment of 

four additional Directors to Gravitas Housing Limited. 

(Pages 163 - 165) 

   
13.   Updates from the Leader of the Council  

   

 a)   Meetings of the Cabinet   

  No minutes of Cabinet meetings have been approved since the last 

meeting of Council on 17 September 2020. 

 

 b)   Decisions taken as a matter of urgency   

  There have been no decisions taken as a matter of urgency to 

report to Council. 

 

14.   Members' Open Questions 
A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 

Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman 

and Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee, Licensing and Alcohol, 

Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committees and 

Governance and Audit Committee. 

 

   
The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday 26 November 2020 is 1pm on 
Friday 13 November 2020.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
PRESENT 

Councillor Jacky Smith Chairman then Councillor Breda Griffin 
  
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth 
Councillor Robert Broughton 
Councillor George Chivers 
Councillor Louise Clack 
Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Councillor John Cottier 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Barry Dobson 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Helen Goral 
Councillor Jan Hansen 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Matthew Lee 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 

Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Councillor Robert Reid 
Councillor Nick Robins 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith 
Councillor Lee Steptoe 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Adam Stokes 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 
Councillor Sarah Trotter 
Councillor Dean Ward 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Jane Wood 
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
 

OFFICERS OFFICERS 
 
Chief Executive  
Strategic Director, Growth  
Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 
Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change  

Interim Director of Finance 
Director of Law and Governance  
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing 
Delivery 
Head of Governance  
Democratic Services Officers 

 

 

MINUTES 
COUNCIL 
THURSDAY, 17 SEPTEMBER 2020 
1.00 PM 
 

 

7

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

1. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bellamy, Kelly, Manterfield 
and Mason.  Councillor Woolley gave an apology as she would be arriving late.  
 
The Chairman stated that the Regulations which had been brought into force due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic (The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020)  allowed Councils to either postpone their 
annual council meetings or to hold them later in the year.  It had been agreed that the 
Council’s Annual Council Meeting would be held in September 2020 rather than May 
2020. 
 
She also referred to how voting would be carried out at the meeting, where possible 
voting by exception would be used. Councillors would indicate if they were against a 
proposition or abstaining, anyone who did not indicate would be taken as being in 
favour of the proposition. 
 
2. Election of the Chairman of the District Council 

 
The Chairman referred Members to Article 4.13.7 of the Council’s Constitution, which 
set out the arrangements for voting on appointments. 
 
The Chairman proposed that in order to deal with appointments, Article 4.13.7 be 
suspended for agenda items 2, 4, 10 and 11.  The appropriate number of nominees 
who received the highest number of votes would be nominated, rather than voting 
multiple times and eliminating the candidate who received the fewest votes. 
  
The proposal was seconded and on being put to the vote it was AGREED to: 
 
Suspend Article 4.13.7 in respect of agenda items 2, 4, 10 and 11 when the Council 
would be asked to make appointments and that the appropriate number of nominees 
with the highest total number of votes be selected. 
 
Councillor Dilks requested that his vote in abstention be recorded in accordance with 
Article 4.13.5 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
The Director of Law and Governance clarified that the appointments were until May 
2021 unless any further Regulations were made. The Covid-19 Regulations were 
only in place until 6 May 2021. 
 
Members were invited to make nominations for the Chairman of the Council. 
 
A proposition was made and seconded that Councillor Breda Rae Griffin be elected 
as Chairman of the District Council.  Members spoke in support of the nomination 
and of Councillor Griffins civic experience as the Deputy and then Mayor of Stamford 
and also as the Vice-Chairman of the District Council. 
 
One Member asked if the Chairman would be elected again in May 2021 and hoped 
that Councillor Griffin would be politically impartial whilst she was Chairman of the 
District Council.  The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the Chairman would need to 

8



 

 
 

be elected again in May 2021.  The Leader of the Council stated that the proposal 
would be to re-elect Councillor Griffin at the May 2021 meeting so that she served a 
term of 18 months. 
 
The proposal had been seconded and on being put to the vote it was unanimously 
AGREED: 
 
To elect Councillor Breda Rae Griffin as the Chairman of South Kesteven District 
Council. 
 

COUNCILLOR BREDA RAE GRIFFIN IN THE CHAIR 
 

The new Chairman thanked members for their support and trust.  She was pleased to 
see so many members present at the meeting.   Over the years she had made 
friends with many members and in the current climate she hoped that the friendships 
extended outside of the meeting and into the community and encouraged Members 
to help out where possible.   
 
The Chairman referred to guidance issued by the Department of Health and Safety, 
which she indicated she would take into account in the way she would run meetings. 
The guidance stated that people using a computer screen should take frequent short 
breaks rather than fewer longer ones, which she would encourage. 
 
3. Vote of thanks to the retiring Chairman 

 
A vote of thanks was made by the Leader of the Council to Councillor Jacky Smith 
who had reluctantly taken the role of Chairman in May 2019.  Major projects, which 
were being undertaken at the time, had meant that council meetings had been held in 
the Jubilee Life Centre. As Chairman, Councillor Smith had instigated having prayers 
or blessing from different religious sectors and had encouraged people from a variety 
of cultural backgrounds.   
 
The Chairman had attended 120 events for which the Leader had had the pleasure of 
being the Chairman’s consort. The Chairman’s charities had been the Alzheimer’s 
Association and St Barnaba’s Hospice, for which she had raised £1500. The Leader 
concluded by thanking Councillor Jacky Smith for her commitment and perseverance 
during her term of office. 
 
The Leader of the Labour Group thanked Councillor Jacky Smith and stated that it 
had not been an easy term of office with having to contend with the technology to 
enable meetings to be held remotely.  She also thanked officers as well for their 
support in running meetings. 
 
The new Chairman also thanked Councillor Jacky Smith and said it had been an 
honour to be the Vice-Chairman during her term of office.  They had laughed a lot 
and she highlighted the visit to the model aircraft museum at Bracebridge Heath.  
She hoped to continue with the different prayers and blessings going forward and 
thanked Councillor Jacky Smith for all her efforts and time.  
 
Councillor Jacky Smith thanked the Leader for his kind words and said she had 
enjoyed her time. She had reluctantly accepted the role of Chairman and had 

9



 

 
 

attended various events both civic and business related between May 2019 and 
September 2020 with the Leader as her consort. She referred to the impact of Covid-
19 and the marvellous job that the Council did and continued to do during this 
uncertain period.  She said that there was still a lot of hard work to do and it was her 
intention to continue to be a South Kesteven District Councillor for as long as 
possible.  She concluded by thanking officers in Member Services for their help and 
assistance and the Leader and Chief Executive for their support and stated that it 
had been an honour to be the Chairman of the District Council. 
 
4. Election of the Vice-Chairman of the District Council 

 
Councillor Ian Stokes was proposed and seconded as Vice-Chairman of the District 
Council.  Councillor Ian Stokes had been the Mayor of Grantham and was also the 
Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee, he had vast experience and was 
a staunch supporter of South Kesteven. 
 
A further nomination was made. It was proposed and seconded that Councillor Helen 
Crawford be elected as Vice-Chairman of the District Council.  Councillor Crawford 
was a new Councillor who was very enthusiastic and tackled everything with good 
humour. 
 
A vote was taken, and it was AGREED: 
 
To elect Councillor Ian Stokes as the Vice-Chairman of South Kesteven District 
Council. 
 
5. Disclosure of Interests 

 
The Chairman stated that all members had an interest in relation to agenda item 12 
because a recommendation sought Members’ approval for an increase in their 
allowances in order to reflect the national pay agreement for 2020/21. The Monitoring 
Officer had used the delegation made to her by Council on 12 July 2012 to grant all 
Members a dispensation to allow them to consider the item. 
 
No other interests were disclosed. 
 
6. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2020 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2020 had been deferred from the 16 July 
2020 Council meeting. Two different versions of the minutes had been circulated with 
the agenda for 16 July 2020 meeting and clarity was requested as to which was the 
correct minutes.  The Monitoring Officer had written to all members following the 
meeting to explain the error and to apologise. 

 
The minutes appended to the agenda were agreed as a correct record subject to the 
following amendments: 
 
 
 
 
 

10



 

 
 

• First paragraph last sentence to read: 
 

“Members of the public were thanked for expressing their views emotively 
during the public speaking session, which had taken place immediately prior to 
the meeting.” 

 

• Second paragraph first sentence to read: 
 

“In setting out the procedural rules for the item, the Chairman confirmed that 
no motions on notice had been accepted for the meeting.” 

 
7. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2020 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2020 were proposed, seconded and 
agreed as a correct record subject to the following amendment: 
 
That at minute number 119 the following sentence was to be added; 
 
As the meeting had exceeded the time limits agreed, no debate on the item followed.    
 
The Monitoring Officer was questioned as a point of order in relation to time and that 
no debate had taken place in relation to minute 118 and 119.  The Monitoring Officer 
responded and stated that no precedent had been set and assured the member that 
this would not happen again. 
 
8. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements) 

 
The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements and that the Chairman had been an 
active supporter of the Armed Forces during her time as Chairman. 
 
Reference was made to one of the engagements in relation to the unveiling of a 
memorial plaque in Wyndham Park which had been re scheduled.   
 
9. Best Kept Village - announcement of winners 

 
The Chairman invited the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to 
announce the winners and runners up in the 2020 Best Kept Village competition.   
 
Following on from the Big Clean initiative and the raising of street cleanliness 
standards, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations announced the 
winners of South Kesteven’s Best Kept Village. While the competition had previously 
been run by the Council for the Protection of Rural England, this year the Council had 
run its own version. 
 
One hundred villages and hamlets had taken part and the Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations thanked South Kesteven District Council’s Parks 
Contract Manager (Steve Frisby) and the Lincolnshire Gardens Trust who had judged 
the gardens.  
 
 
 

11



 

 
 

• The winners for a large village were: 
 

Joint 1st Allington and Barrowby, 2nd Caythorpe and 3rd Thurlby. 
 

• The winners for a small village/hamlet were: 
 

1st Irnham, 2nd Stoke Rochford and 3rd Greatford 
 
Prize money for first place was £400, second place £300 and third place £200. 
 
The winners would receive a gold inscribed litter bin which would replace a bin 
already sited in the village. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
congratulated the winners and runners up and this was echoed by other members. 
 
A comment was made that going forward could something to be looked at to enable 
the towns in the district to be included. The Chairman referred to Stamford, which 
held a Stamford in Bloom competition. 
 
(14:47 Councillor Jan Hansen left the meeting and did not return) 
 
10. Announcement by the Leader of the Council on the size and membership 

of the Cabinet and Cabinet Members' remits 
 

In announcing the membership of the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council referred to 
the impact of Covid-19 and the Council’s response. He highlighted the following: the 
awarding £29.1million in Government grants to over 250 businesses, contacting over 
18,000 vulnerable residents to offer support and telephoning 1500 residents as part 
of the befriending programme. Over 2,500 households had been supported through 
the Council Tax Hardship fund, over 80,000 bins a week had been collected by the 
waste operatives, and 2,500 emergency housing repairs had been undertaken. The 
Leader thanked everyone for the part that they had played during the crisis. He gave 
special thanks to the staff at South Kesteven who within 72 hours of lockdown had 
gone from an office-based team to working remotely. 
 
The Leader confirmed that Councillor Adam Stokes would continue as the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources, Councillor Annie Mason would continue as the 
Cabinet Member for Communities. Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew would 
continue as the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy and Councillor Dr 
Peter Moseley would continue as Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations. 
Councillor Robert Reid would continue as Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning. The Deputy Leader would be Councillor Barry Dobson. 
 
A new Corporate Plan was due to be agreed at the next Council meeting setting the 
Council’s direction of travel, the ambitions for the district and articulated the Council’s 
vision to be “the best place to live, work and visit”. Underpinning this vision were five 
key priorities: Growth and our Economy; Housing that Meets the Needs of all 
Residents; Healthy and Strong Communities; A Clean and Sustainable Environment 
and A High Performing Council, all were supported by action plans which would help 
the Council achieve its priorities. The Leader also referred to the Corporate 
restructure and that individual accountability fully aligned with the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.   

12



 

 
 

 
The Leader then detailed the key actions going forwarded which included: 
 

• St Martin’s Park at Stamford.  

• The regeneration of Grantham town centre. 

• The development of town centres in Bourne, Stamford and Market Deeping.   

• A strategic tourism framework. 

• To work with the housing market to stimulate housing growth.   

• The Council would continue to work in partnership with the police in tackling 
crime and would invest in the CCTV service.   

• Help with funding sources for the voluntary sector.   

• Develop and adopt a sports physical activity strategy. 
 

The Leader stated that the contract with the Council’s leisure provider, One Life, was 
due to end next year and options for the leisure service were being looked at with a 
view, in the short-term, to transferring the service to a Council owned company to 
provide greater control and flexibility.   
 
By 2030 it was hoped to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint by 30% and to have a 
net zero carbon footprint as soon as viable before 2050.  Street cleaning standards 
were still being maintained following the Big Clean and proactive work would 
continue with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.  
 
 (15:01-15:20 meeting adjourned)  
 
11. Appointments to committees including the appointment of their 

Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 
 

The Chairman referred Members to the table, which had been circulated immediately 
prior to the meeting, setting out each group’s nominations to Committees, including 
the Leader’s recommendations for Chairman and Vice-Chairman. 
 
 The Leader proposed the appointments as listed, with the inclusion of Councillor 
Bob Adams to the Companies Committee and these were seconded.  The Leader of 
the Independent Group wished to add two substitute members to the Planning 
Committee from the Independent Group: Councillor Ashley Baxter and Councillor 
Paul Wood. 
 
(15:25pm Councillor Sue Woolley arrived) 
 
On being put to the vote the Council AGREED to approve the appointments to 
committees as appended to these minutes.  
 
The Chairman then stated that in accordance with Article 4.4.1 (a)(viii) of the 
Constitution it was for the Leader of the Council to nominate the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Committees due to their suitability and merit. 
 
The following Chairman and Vice-Chairman were proposed by the Leader: 
 
 

13



 

 
 

Committee Chairman  Vice-Chairman 

Planning  Councillor Bob Adams Councillor Judy Smith 

Licensing  Councillor Pam Bosworth Councillor Dean Ward 

Governance & Audit Councillor Ian Stokes Councillor Paul Wood 

Employment Councillor Jacky Smith Councillor Annie Mason 

Constitution Councillor Linda Wootten Councillor Mike Exton 

Companies  Councillor Graham Jeal Councillor John Dawson 

Finance, Economic 
Development & 
Corporate Services 

Councillor Graham Jeal Councillor Mark 
Whittington 

Culture & Visitor 
Economy 

Councillor Judy Stevens Councillor Hilary 
Westropp 

Environment Councillor Nikki 
Manterfield 

Councillor John Cottier 

Rural & 
Communities 

Councillor Ray Wootten Councillor Sarah Trotter 

 
The Independent Group Leader proposed the following Vice-Chairman from the 
Independent Group which were seconded: 
 

• Councillor Penny Milnes for Planning Committee 

• Councillor Ashley Baxter for Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• Councillor Phil Dilks for the Finance, Economic Development & Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• Councillor Paul Wood for Governance and Audit Committee 
 
The Leader stated that, in his opinion, only the names he has proposed should be 
put to the vote. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED to appoint those Chairman and Vice-
Chairman as nominated by the Leader and set out on the schedule of committee 
appointments appended to the minutes.  
 
The Leader confirmed that the Chair of Chairs for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s would be Councillor Ray Wootten. 
 
12. Appointment of representatives to Outside Bodies 

 
Appointment to Outside Bodies was a function of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Council and a table setting out the proposed nominees had been circulated to 
Members prior to the meeting. 
 
The appointments to outside bodies where the number of nominees matched the 
number of places were proposed and seconded en bloc:  
 
The Council voted to appoint representatives to: 
 

• Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board   

• East Midlands Council    

• The Local Government Association  

14



 

 
 

• Upper Witham Internal Drainage Board      

• Joseph Clark’s (Grantham) Apprenticeship Foundation     

• Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee  

• Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel  

• Lincolnshire Sports Partnership (Active Lincolnshire)     

• South Lincolnshire Fenlands Partnership       
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED to appoint Councillors to those bodies listed 
above, as set out in the table appended to these minutes. 
 
A question was asked about one of the proposed nominees for the Welland Drainage 
Board, where that Member was based in Grantham to which the Leader replied. 
 
16:04: As the meeting had reached three hours it was proposed, seconded and 
agreed to extend the meeting for one hour. 
 
Those outside bodies who had received more nominees, than there were places, 
were voted on individually. Those nominees who received the most votes were 
allocated the position on the outside body. It was noted that the South Kesteven 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau was now called Citizens Advice South Lincolnshire. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED to appoint Councillors to the following 
bodies as set out in the table appended to these minutes: 
 

• Lincolnshire Flood and Water Management Scrutiny Committee 

• Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board 

• South Lincolnshire Citizens Advice Bureau 
 
13. Amended 2020/21 Budget 

 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources presented his report which 
concerned the requirement to amend the 2020/21 budget set by Council on 2 March 
2020 due to the Covid-19 crisis to reflect the changes in income and expenditure. 
 
The Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met on 26 August 2020 to 
discuss the proposed amendments to the 2020/21 budget where Members were 
supportive of the proposals.  Cabinet considered the amended budget proposals on 8 
September 2020 and made recommendations to Council. The amended budget 
proposals included an additional recommendation from the Cabinet to include a 
market supplement for waste operatives and operational street scene employees up 
to 31 March 2021. 
 
The amended budget proposals showed a projected deficit of £1.3m and the report 
set out a number of interventions and actions that the Cabinet would oversee in order 
to mitigate the impact on the Council’s Budget Stabilisation Reserve which currently 
stood at £2.843m.  The financial situation would be kept under close review and the 
Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would receive reports as the year progressed. 
 

15



 

 
 

The report also set out the Government’s proposed criteria for its fees and charges 
reimbursement scheme.  Based on this scheme the Council would be seeking a 
reimbursement of £1.4m against an overall income loss of £3.1m.  The difference 
reflected the exclusion of specific income streams such as rental income and a 
requirement for the Council to absorb 25% of the loss.   He proposed the 
recommendations as contained within the report.  The recommendations were 
seconded. 
 
Discussion on the amended budget followed.  A question was asked in relation to the 
use of the £12m figure designated for building council houses and whether this was 
realistic; the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning responded to the question. 
 
Further comments were made about the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget 
and that the Council needed to be mindful of issues outside of its control. Gratitude 
was expressed for the increase in the Ward Member grant to £1,000, which enabled 
members to help their local communities at a critical time.  Reference was also made 
to the changes expected to the National Planning Policy Framework and any impact 
that this would have. 
 
(16:32 Councillor Ward left the meeting and did not return) 
 
The Interim Director for Finance spoke about the prudent approach that the Council 
had taken over the years.  The Strategic Director for Growth stated that changes 
were anticipated arising from the Planning White Paper and stated that an all 
member briefing would be taking place shortly.   
 
Members spoke in support of the amended budget proposals and the work 
undertaken by the Finance and Economic Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  The Interim Director of Finance and his team were thanked for their work 
in putting the budget together.  
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that: 
 

1. Council approves the increase to the salary and member allowances budgets 
of an additional 0.75% in order to meet the national pay agreement for 
2020/21 of 2.75% and to implement the additional 0.75% increase from April 
2020. 

2. Council approves the budget amendments for the 2020/21 budget framework 
as outlined in the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources report. 

3. Council approves the use of the Budget Stabilisation Reserve in the event that 
a balanced position cannot be achieved by 31 March 2021. 

4. Council approves a capital allocation of £100k to undertake refurbishments 
and modernisation improvement works at Stamford Arts Centre. 

 
 
 

16



 

 
 

14. Updates from the Leader of the Council 
 
(a) Decisions taken as a matter of urgency 
 
The Leader informed the Council that two urgent decisions had been taken since the 
last meeting of the Council.   The South Kesteven Annual Position Statement had 
been made by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning and the Chief 
Executive had taken a decision under emergency powers in relation to Pavement 
Licences which had been delegated to Lincolnshire County Council. 
 
(b) Meetings of the Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the Cabinet meetings on 7 July 2020 and 18 August 2020 were 
enclosed in the agenda pack.   
 
The Deputy Leader was asked a follow up question to one asked at Cabinet on 7 
July 2020 in relation to the Deepings leisure centre.  He referred to the meeting held 
and organised by Deeping St James Parish Council. He asked about the plans for 
the leisure centre and why the school academy was the favoured site for the pitches.  
Given the budget of £20m for the leisure centre, the Cabinet Member was asked if 
consideration had been given to acquiring land which adjoined the site for either a 
further pitch or car parking. 
 
The Deputy Leader stated that the most immediate concern was getting the location 
for 3G pitch resolved at the meeting arranged with Deeping St James Parish Council 
on 17 September 2020.  
 
Following technical issues, a question was asked about reviewing the software used 
for meetings.  The Leader stated that a new provider was being looked into by the 
Chief Executive. 
 
(16:40pm Councillor Bob Broughton left the meeting and did not return) 
 
A further question was asked about timescales for a meeting with all Deeping 
members in relation to the leisure centre which the Leader had referred to at the last 
Cabinet meeting.  The Leader stated that an all Member briefing would be held to 
discuss leisure provision across the district as well as a meeting for all Deeping 
Councillors and those representing Wards in the immediate area surrounding the 
Deepings. 
 
The Deputy Leader stated that they were aware of the availability of other farmland 
adjacent to the existing sports pitch areas for either a grass pitch or another artificial 
pitch for sports other than football.  Reference was made to the Cabinet meeting held 
on 8 September at which a comprehensive response had been given by the Deputy 
Leader on the leisure centre. An all members meeting would take place in October. 
 
(16:56pm Councillor Chivers left the meeting and did not return) 
 
 
 

17



 

 
 

15. Members' Open Questions 
 

Question 1 
 
The Leader was asked for an update on the potential impact of Local Government 
Reorganisation on South Kesteven District Council by Councillor Lee Steptoe. The 
Leader replied that the White Paper was due out in the Autumn. A letter had been 
sent to the Secretary of State and a response was still awaited.  
 
Question 2 
 
Councillor Paul Wood asked the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
about toxic smoke that residents at Fen Lane, Long Bennington were being 
subjected to from an illegal waste tip which the Environment Agency, Lincolnshire 
County Council and South Kesteven District Council knew about. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that he was aware of the 
illegal waste site and South Kesteven was working with the Environment Agency who 
were the enforcing authority. Evidence was being collected and an appeal had been 
lodged with the Environment Agency that was being heard that day. Lincolnshire 
Police were aware of the breaches in the restrictions as were the Fire and Rescue 
Emergency Services. Land adjacent to the site was also being used and the 
Environment Agency would continue to make the owners aware of their 
responsibilities when disposing of waste. 
 
Question 3 
 
A further question was put to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations by 
Councillor Ian Selby in relation to the Lincolnshire County Council waste and 
recycling centre and the restrictions that had been put in place due to Covid-19. The 
member felt that the restrictions in place were too excessive at the present time and 
would lead to an increase in fly tipping. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that the topic had been 
discussed at a recent meeting of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership where it had 
been felt that the restrictions would not lead to an increase in fly tipping.  However, 
he would write to the Lincolnshire County Council Executive Member for the 
Environment asking that the facility be fully opened, and he would take the issue to 
the next Lincolnshire Waste Partnership meeting at the end of the month. 
 
Question 4 
 
The Leader was asked by Councillor Judy Stevens if he agreed that the disrespectful 
behaviour that had been carried out by a member at the last meeting should be 
apologised for at the meeting. 
 
The Leader stated that he would not accept personal and individual comments made 
by members and an investigation had taken place. If the member was present, he 
invited her to make an apology. The member did not appear to be present at the 
meeting and therefore no public apology was made. 
 

18



 

 
 

The Leader drew the Chairman’s attention to the time and the hour by which the 
meeting had been extended had been passed. He stated that he did not propose to 
extend the time further.    
 
A proposal was made to extend the time by half an hour, and this was seconded. As 
a number of Members had left the meeting, a rollcall vote was taken in favour of 
extending the meeting. The vote to extend the meeting by half an hour was lost and 
the meeting was closed. 
 
The Chairman reminded members who had indicated that they would like to ask a 
question during Members’ Open Questions session that they could direct any that 
were outstanding to the Leader. 
 
16. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9: 
 
(a) Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 
Motion deferred to the next ordinary meeting of Council on 1 October 2020. 
 
(b) Councillor Ashley Baxter 
 
Motion deferred to the next ordinary meeting of Council on 1 October 2020. 
 
17. Close of meeting 

 
The meeting closed at 17:20pm. 
 
 
 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Allocation of seats on committees of the Council 

Planning Committee (13 members) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  Unaligned 

 
Councillor Bob Adams 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Judy Smith 
(Vice Chairman) 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Robert Reid 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
 
Subs:  
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor John Cottier 
 

 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Harrish 
Bisnauthsing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Subs:  
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 

 
Councillor Charmaine 
Morgan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Subs: 
 
Councillor Lee Steptoe 
 

 
Councillor Ian Selby 
(gifted by the 
Conservative Group) 

 

Licensing Committee / Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment 

Licensing Committee (11 members) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Pam Bosworth 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Dean Ward (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Bob Broughton 
Councillor George Chivers 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-
Brown 
Councillor Jane Kingman 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
 
 

 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
 
 

 
Councillor Lee Steptoe 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Governance & Audit Committee (7 members) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Sue Woolley 
 

 
Councillor Paul Wood (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

21

Minute Item 11



Employment Committee (7 members)  

Conservative  Independent  Labour 

 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Annie Mason (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Councillor Barry Dobson 
Councillor Adam Stokes 
 

 
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Anna Kelly 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Constitution Committee (7 members) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Mike Exton (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Breda Griffin 
Councillor Mark Whittington 

 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Companies Committee (8 members) 

(Should not include any member of the Cabinet) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
(Chairman) 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (9 members) 

(Must not include any member of the Cabinet) 

Conservative  Independent Labour  

 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Ian Stokes 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
 
 
 
 

 

22



Culture & Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee (7 members) 

(Must not include any member of the Cabinet) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Hilary Westropp (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Sue Sandall 
Councillor Judy Smith 
Councillor Jill Thomas 

 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee (7 members) 

(Must not include any member of the Cabinet) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour  

 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
(Chairman) 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (7 members) 

(Must not include any member of the Cabinet) 

Conservative Independent  Labour 

 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
(Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice 
Chairman) 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-
Brown 
Councillor Linda Wootten  
 

 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Chief Executive’s Appeal Panel (3 members) 

(Must include one Cabinet Member and may not include any member of the Employment Committee) 

Conservative  Independent  Labour 

 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
 
 
 
 

 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



Representatives on Outside Bodies 

Recommendation 1:  

That the Council considers nominations and makes appointments to the outside bodies set out in Table 1 

Outside Body Term of Office Outgoing Reps Proposed Reps 

Black Sluice Internal Drainage 
Board (1 representative) 

3 years Vacancy (formerly Councillor Chris 
Benn) 

Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley 

East Midlands Councils 
(1 representative plus reserve) 

1 Year The Leader of the Council 
Reserve: The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

The Leader of the Council 
Reserve: The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

Lincolnshire Flood and Water 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
(1 representative) – must sit 
on an SKDC scrutiny 
committee 

4-years (mid-
term 
appointment) 

Vacancy (formerly Councillor Chris 
Benn) 

Councillor Helen Crawford 
 

The Local Government 
Association 
(1 representative plus reserve) 

1 year The Leader of the Council 
Reserve: The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

The Leader of the Council 
Reserve: The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

Upper Witham Internal 
Drainage Board 
(3 representatives) 

3 years Councillor Mrs. Rosemary Kaberry-
Brown 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Vacancy (formerly Councillor Chris 
Benn) 

Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor John Cottier 

Welland and Deeping Internal 
Drainage Board 
(4 representatives) 

3 years Councillor Bob Broughton 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 

Councillor Bob Broughton 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Jill Thomas 

 

 

 

25

M
inute Item

 12



Representatives on Outside Bodies 

Recommendation 2: 

That the Council reconfirms those appointments made in 2019, as shown in Table 2, or considers taking any new nominations 

 

Outside Body Reps appointed on 23 May 2019 Any new nominations 

Dame Margaret Thorold 
Educational Foundation  

(The representative should 
come from the north of the 
district, which is the area in 
which the charity operates) 

Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 

Deeping St. James United 
Charities  

(The representative must live 
within the ecclesiastical parish 
of Deeping St. James and 
Frognall) 

Councillor Judy Stevens Councillor Judy Stevens 

Elsea Park Community Trust Councillor Robert Reid Councillor Robert Reid 

Grantham Almshouse Charity Councillor Ray Wootten Councillor Ray Wootten 

Grantham Canal Partnership Councillor Mark Whittington Councillor Mark Whittington 

Greater Lincolnshire 
Enterprise Partnership 

The Leader of the Council 

Sub: The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

The Leader of the Council 
Sub: The Deputy Leader of the Council 

Heritage Lincolnshire Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 

Joseph Clark’s (Grantham) 
Apprenticing Foundation 

Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Annie Mason 

Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Annie Mason 

26



Representatives on Outside Bodies 

Outside Body Reps appointed on 23 May 2019 Any new nominations 

Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

(The representative and 
substitute must be a member 
of an SK Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee) 

Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 

Sub: Councillor Linda Wootten 

Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
 
Sub: Councillor Linda Wootten 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime 
Panel 

Councillor Ray Wootten Councillor Ray Wootten 

Lincolnshire Sports 
Partnership (Active 
Lincolnshire) 

Councillor John Cottier Councillor John Cottier 

South Lincolnshire Fenlands 
Partnership 

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew Councillor Helen Crawford 

South Kesteven Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau 

Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Robert Reid 
Councillor Linda Wootten 

Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
Councillor Annie Mason 

 

27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
16 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Minutes of meetings of the Cabinet approved since 2 
March 2020 and the Leader's Scheme of Delegation  

The minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 18 February 2020 (approved by the Cabinet on 17 
March 2020), 17 March 2020 (approved by the Cabinet on 16 June 2020) and 16 June 2020 
(approved by the Cabinet on 7 July 2020) are provided for Councillors’ information. The minutes of 
the Cabinet’s meeting held on 7 July 2020 will be made available at a future meeting of the 
Council following their approval by the Cabinet.  

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Julie Edwards, Electoral Services Team Leader 26 June 2020 

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 29 June 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 7 July 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Council is asked to note the approved minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 
18 February 2020, 17 March 2020 and 16 June 2020 (attached as appendices 1, 2 
and 3 to this report). 

29

Agenda Item 5a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement as 

established under the Local Government Act 2000. In 2010 the Council adopted the strong 

Leader model under provisions within the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007. 

1.2 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 set out 

the responsible body for different functions, specifically those functions that are not 

executive functions and those that may be determined by an authority’s executive. All 

other functions are, by default, executive functions and would therefore, under the 

Council’s arrangements, be determined by the Cabinet. The requirements of these 

Regulations mean that at all its meetings, the Cabinet may make some decisions outright 

whilst in other instances it may make recommendation to the Council. 

1.3 The approved minutes of the Cabinet’s meetings are made available to the Council to note 

the decisions taken. The agenda, reports to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Member 

decisions are all available on the Council’s website should Members wish to read them. 

1.4 Between 17 March 2020 and 16 June 2020 Cabinet meetings were suspended as a result 

of the COVID-19 pandemic. On 19 March 2020, the Leader of the Council revised his 

scheme of delegation, withdrawing authority for the Cabinet, when sitting as a Committee, 

to make Key Decisions. Instead authority to make Key Decisions was reserved to the 

Leader. Individual Cabinet Members retained authority to make Non-Key Decisions that 

fell within their remit. Key Decisions taken by the Leader under these revised 

arrangements, together with officer delegated decisions in respect of the Council’s 

COVID-19 response are captured in a separate report within this agenda.  

1.5 On 15 June 2020, the Leader of the Council updated his scheme of delegation, re-granting 

authority for the Cabinet, sitting as a Committee, to make Key Decisions.  

2 Financial Implications  

2.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this report.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

3 Legal and Governance Implications  

3.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded to inform Members of the 

deliberations that took place at the Cabinet’s meetings. 

3.2 Article 8.5.4(ii) of the Council’s Constitution allows for the Leader of the Council to change 

his scheme of delegation at any time by serving written notice to the proper officer (the 

Chief Executive). The notice must state which delegations have been withdrawn or new 

delegations that have been added. Decision-makers affected by the revisions should be 

notified of the changes to their authority.  Where changes are made to the Leader’s 

scheme of delegation, they should be reported to the next meeting of the Council. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

 

 

30



 

 
 

4 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

4.1 This report provides Members with the record of Cabinet meetings. Where appropriate, 

analyses in respect of equalities and safeguarding relevant to its decisions will be 

presented to the Cabinet within reports as individual issues come forward. 

5 Risk and Mitigation 

5.1 Risk has been considered as part of the preparation of this report and no specific high 

risks have been identified. 

6 Community Safety Implications  

6.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.  

7 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

7.1 The recommendation in this report has no carbon impact. The carbon impact of any 

proposal considered by the Cabinet will be captured in the reports as individual issues 

come forward. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 18 February 2020. 

8.2 Appendix 2: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 17 March 2020. 

8.3 Appendix 3: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16 June 2020. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Council 2 June 2020 

Final Decision date   No decision required 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 18 February 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
 
Officers 

 

 
Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive  
Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation & Change  
Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial & Operations  
Harry Rai, Interim Strategic Director, Growth  
Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance  
Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance  
Steve Bowyer, Chief Executive, InvestSK  
Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance  
Sarah Evans, Interim Principal Democracy Officer  
 

 
The Leader advised that future Cabinet meetings would be held in the Council 
Chamber, South Kesteven House. 
 
 
73. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record subject to the following amendments:  
 

33

Appendix 1



(a) Officers present be updated to reflect Steve Bowyer’s role as the Chief Executive 
of InvestSK 
 

(b) Page 6, paragraph 5  
 
With regard to a travellers’ site, the Leader advised that there was no allocation 
this year but he would support this in the future when it was needed we would 
deal with sites required on a needs basis and when reviewing the Local Plan we 
would also be looking at sites moving forward 
 

(c) Page 7, paragraph 3  
 

He referred to a mistype on page 38 under the heading of ‘Lobbying’ and 
explained that the Council was not looking to abolish the right to buy as the 
Council did sell homes and received the full rate to invest back into building more 
social and private housing across the district.  the Council was not looking to 
abolish the right to buy as it did not have those powers as this was Government 
policy, but the Council was looking for 100 percent of the sale cost to reinvest into 
more Council housing 
 

Minute 66 – Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns 
and Balloons 
 
As referenced in the above minute, the Leader asked whether a message had been 
conveyed to the town councils in the district as to following the Council’s lead on their 
property.  He added that he would follow this up with the Chief Executive after the 
meeting. 
 
 
74. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 
 
75. Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and Indicative Budgets for 2021/22 and 

2022/23 - A district that works for everyone, delivering opportunity 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources presented the draft Budget 
proposals and drew Cabinet Members’ attention to the following as well as a revised 
version of appendix Ai, showing a balanced budget and no surplus, which replaced 
the version circulated with the agenda: 
 

• The budget had been under consideration for many months by all Members and 
had been reviewed by overview and scrutiny 

• Consultation on council tax options had closed on 14 February 2020. The results 
were being collated and would be presented to the Council meeting on 2 March 
2020 

• The budget was for one year only 

• There were challenges ahead due to the uncertainty of national funding and the 
business rates reset 

34



• There was emphasis on delivering savings that were considered to be realistic 
and achievable 

• Confirmation had been received from Government that the New Homes Bonus 
would end next year; it was noted that the Council did not need to rely on this to 
set a balanced budget 

• The budget included provision for the refurbishment of the council offices 

• Funding had been allocated for defibrillators in Grantham town centre 

• Ward Member grants would continue on a reduced basis 

• Inclusion of foodbank funding  

• £60m investment in new social housing across the district 

• Arrangements for the alignment of reserves to provide financial flexibility  

• The Council did not need to use reserves to support the budget 

• Savings and transformation savings were included in the proposals 
 

He proposed that recommendations 1-18 be referred to the Council. 
 
The Leader supported the budget and mentioned: 
 

• Councils across the region and key stakeholders were lobbying the Government 
for a 4-year funding programme 

• As in previous years there were challenges in balancing savings and growth 
expenditure 

• Work to support the Council’s Corporate Plan would be underpinned by redefining 
the operating model of the Council, maximising commercialism opportunities, 
service transformation and rationalisation of assets and operating costs 

• A senior management team restructure was expected following the arrival of the 
new Chief Executive with a view to achieving efficiencies of £300k  

• Proposed investment in the Council offices would create opportunities to set up a 
public sector hub where other organisations could work from the Council building 

• The proposed office refurbishment represented the first real investment in the 
building for a number of years, and would provide a modern and agile working 
environment, helping with staff retention and attracting new staff  

• Sound business cases would be required to ensure value for money and viability 
of all proposed projects, particularly the Capital Programme 

• The partnership arrangement for St. Martin’s Park, Stamford had been agreed 
with Burghley; Members would be kept apprised of the project’s progress 

• Cabinet Members were thanked for their contributions throughout the budget 
process  

 
Other Cabinet Members expressed support for the budget. It was noted that Cabinet 
Members were individually responsible for their budgets and delivery of savings. 
There was recognition of the need to make compromises in the 2020/21 Budget, with 
some work rolled forward for future consideration including investment in assets (eg. 
refurbishment of the depot) and development of a car parking strategy. 

 
Cabinet Members noted that the Council had a contract in place with Environment 
SK and it paid the company to deliver services as set out in that contract. Members 
noted that the Council would continue to identify and pursue other commercial 
opportunities, growing its expertise in this area. 

35



 
An amendment was proposed that £20,000 be allocated towards events and festivals 
in the 2020/21 budget. This allocation would be used to support the wider cultural 
agenda across the District. Cabinet Members agreed to this proposal.  
 
A further amendment to the draft budget was proposed: an allocation of up to 
£35,000 towards the funding for the university for one year only; this did not take 
account of revenue funding, which would be offset against the budgeted sum. This 
was also supported by members of the Cabinet. 
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED  
 
The Cabinet recommends to Council: 

 

1. To set a General Fund budget requirement of £15.114m for 2020/21 as 
detailed at section 3 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and shown in detail at Appendix A (inclusive of special 
expenses)  

2. To propose a Council Tax level of £163.62 for 2020/21 (Band D property) 

3. To note the indicative base estimates for 2021/22 and 2022/23 as detailed 
in the summary at Appendix A to the report of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 

4. To approve dwelling rent increases of 2.7% (CPI + 1%) in accordance 
with Government guideline rent providing an average rent of £79.64 (an 
average rental increase of £2.02 per a week) 

5. To approve an increase in garage rents of 3% 

6. To approve an average increase of 3% in service charges for communal 
facilities and communal rooms 

7. To approve an increase in shared ownership rents by 2.7% (CPI +1%) 

8. To approve the Housing Revenue Account for the year 2020/21 and 
indicative years 2021/22 and 2022/23 detailed at section 5 of the report of 
the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix 
A 

9. To approve the General Fund Capital programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 
detailed at section 5 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and shown at Appendix C; 

10. To approve the Capital Financing statement detailed at Appendix C to the 
report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

11. To approve the Housing Investment programme for 2020/21 to 2022/23 
detailed at section 5 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and as shown at Appendix C 

12. To approve the Capital Financing statement detailed at Appendix C to the 
report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources  

36



13. To approve the movements in Revenue and Capital reserves and 
balances detailed at section 7 of the report of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix D 

14. To approve the movements in HRA revenue and Capital reserves and 
balances detailed at section 7 of the report of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix D 

15. To approve the Treasury Management Strategy detailed at section 8 of 
the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources report and 
provided at Appendix E 

16. To approve the Capital Strategy detailed at section 8 of the report of the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and provided at Appendix F 

17. To approve the fees and charges policy detailed at section 9 of the report 
of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at 
Appendix G 

18. To approve the fees and charges detailed at section 9 of the report of the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and shown at Appendix H 

19. To approve a sum of £20,000 towards events and festivals in the District 

20. To approve a sum of £35,000 for 2020/21 (for 1 year only) towards the 
funding of the university 

 
 
76. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report which highlighted matters referred to 
the Cabinet by the Council or the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees since 
the Cabinet’s last meeting held on 21 January 2020. 
 
The Chairman of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
was invited to present a recommendation from that committee’s last meeting held on 
11 February 2020 as follows: 
 

• To provide the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
with a formal written response as to the status of the Bourne CiCLE Festival, and 
a response to their recommendation made to the December 2019 meeting of 
Cabinet: ’To support the CiCLE Festival being held in 2020, subject to stronger 
budgetary controls and greater community and business involvement’. 

 

The Committee Chairman referred to festivals as taking place biannually and would 
appreciate a written response on the festival programme.  
 
It was noted that the Bourne Corn Exchange and Town Hall provided excellent 
community space and venues for cultural activities. It was also noted that the 
Committee was working with the Arts Officer on a toolkit which included little 
interventions that improved quality of life and which did not impact on the Council’s 
budget. 
 

37



It was AGREED that the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy respond 
to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on behalf of 
the Cabinet, and that the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy will work 
with the Committee over the next year to work on a festival programme moving 
forward. 
 
 
77. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 

Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report giving an overview of decisions taken 
by individual Cabinet Members and it was noted that one decision had been taken by 
the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations since the last Cabinet meeting 
held on 21 January 2020. The decision related to repair works in those car parks 
operated by South Kesteven District Council. 
 
 
78. Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 March 2020 to 28 February 2021 
 
Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for the period 1 March 2020 to 28 
February 2021 which had been distributed prior to the meeting.  The Forward Plan 
gave an indication of the items that would be presented to Cabinet over the coming 
12-month period. It was noted that the plan needed updating to reflect the new dates 
for Council (2 March 2020) and Cabinet (17 March 2020).  
 
 
79. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
There was a comment on hard copy agenda packs that supported the meeting. This 
was linked to the Council’s commitment to climate change and the work of the task 
group in reducing waste including paper and printing. It was considered that there 
needed to be a thorough review on the use of printing. 
 
It was noted that Karen Bradford, the new Chief Executive, would be taking up her 
position on 2 March 2020. A vote of thanks was expressed for the Interim Chief 
Executive, Paul Thomas.   
 
 
80. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 14:32. 
 
 

38



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 17 March 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
 
Officers 

 

 
Chief Executive (Karen Bradford) 
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas) 
Strategic Director, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield) 
Interim Director of Finance (Richard Wyles) 
Director of Law and Governance (Shahin Ismail) 
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)  
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey) 
 

 
Statement by the Leader of the Council 
 
Before turning to the formal business of the meeting, the Leader of the Council made 
a statement regarding the response of the Council to the Covid-19 outbreak. He 
stated that, whilst to date Lincolnshire had not been impacted by the virus, 
preparations still needed to be made. The Leader announced, therefore, that a 
decision had been made in consultation with the Showman’s Guild to cancel the 

39

Appendix 2



 

 

Grantham and Stamford mid-Lent fairs. He also announced the closure of the 
Guildhall Arts Centre, Stamford Arts Centre, Bourne Community Access Point and 
Wyndham Park Visitor Centre to the public. Staff that worked within those buildings 
would be redeployed to help deliver key services. 
 
Measures had been put into place to protect tenants, including closing communal 
rooms and cancelling external bookings. The improvement programme had also been 
suspended, meaning that only urgent repairs would be carried out. Written notice had 
been sent to tenants about changes and letting them know the best ways to contact 
the council with their questions or concerns. 
 
Council officers were being updated regularly by the Leader and Chief Executive, with 
Government advice being followed in relation to meetings, travel and home working. 
An emergency planning team had been established and an incident room was in 
operation.  
 
A decision was then taken to suspend all Council and Committee meetings for the 
foreseeable future. Emergency legislation was expected, which would support the 
Council’s decision-making through remote participation, clarifying in particular the 
arrangements for dealing with planning and licensing applications. It was agreed by 
the Cabinet that the Leader of the Council, under the strong Leader model, would 
assume full control over making all Key Decisions of the Council, which would 
normally have been taken by the Cabinet. Arrangements for deputising duties would 
be included, so that there was resilience in the event of the indisposition of the 
Leader. The arrangements for Executive decision-making would be kept under review 
and captured within the Council’s Constitution. A report would also be provided to 
Council setting out those decisions that had been made by the Leader. Cabinet 
Members indicated their support for this arrangement by way of a show of hands.  
 
 
81. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record of the decisions taken subject to clarification under the Budget item that the 
Council had a contract with EnvironmentSK and made payment for the services 
provided by the company through that contract. 
 
 
82. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 
 
83. Tenancy Strategy 2020-2025 (Key Decision) 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented his report on the Tenancy 
Strategy. This had been considered by the Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the recommendations from which had been captured within the 
document.  
 

40



 

 

On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 

1. That Cabinet approves the Tenancy Strategy 2020-25 as attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning) 

2. The Cabinet will receive an annual report (via e-mail) on the impact of the 
changes to the Strategy (in particular the number of fixed term tenancies 
issued and to the types of household to which they are issued) 

 
 
84. Safeguarding Policy 2020-2023 (Key Decision) 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities presented her report on the Safeguarding 
Policy 2020 to 2023. She explained that the seven district councils in Lincolnshire 
had worked together to develop a combined policy. She highlighted the proposed 
change with regard to training for elected Members. When the draft policy was 
considered by the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Members recommended increased training. Instead of just providing safeguarding 
training as part of Members’ induction, the Committee recommended completion of e-
learning to ensure Members’ knowledge was refreshed more frequently than once 
every four years. The Committee also requested that ‘Keeping People Safe’ cards 
setting out key contact numbers, should be provided for all Members. The revised 
policy would be shared with officers through Net Consent and the intranet. Face-to-
face training sessions would also be arranged. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 

1. Cabinet approves the Safeguarding Policy 2020-23 
2. Cabinet approves the introduction of mandatory safe-guarding e-

learning for elected Members to be completed across their term of office 
and to complement the in-house training provided during Member 
induction 

 
 
85. Area Offices - Customer Consultation (Key Decision) 
 
This item was withdrawn from the agenda for the meeting. 
 
 
86. Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
Members noted the report of the Leader of the Council outlining matters referred to 
Cabinet by the Council’s overview and scrutiny committees. 
 
 
87. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 

Decisions taken under Delegated Powers. 
 

41



 

 

The Leader of the Council presented his report giving an overview of decisions taken 
by individual Cabinet Members since the last meeting of Cabinet. Since the Cabinet 
last met on 18 February 2020 one decision had been taken by the Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations for the lease of land from the National Trust for the 
site on which the Heroes’ Orchard was being planted. 
 
 
88. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members 
 
One Member referred to the announcement that was made by the Leader at the start 
of the meeting and the opportunities for using technology to keep Members engaged 
in Council business. The Leader was asked when training would be offered on 
programmes like Skype and Teams, which facilitated virtual meetings. The Leader 
responded, stating it was key for Members to be fully trained on modern.gov and the 
use of their devices, however training would be suspended while restrictions imposed 
as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak were in place. The Member suggested that 
earlier training would have been beneficial. The Leader referred to the restrictions 
about decision-making meetings, where Members had to be present; guidance from 
Government was awaited about opportunities for remote decision-making. The 
Leader responded to a further comment by stating that any decisions made during 
the interregnum of meetings would be done in a transparent way, with a record being 
provided for all Members. He also indicated that he would be happy for the use of 
webinars to engage Members and would speak to the training team. 
 
A question was put about a footpath running across the St. Martin’s Park site in 
Stamford. The footpath had been blocked and the Leader was asked what the 
Council was doing to ensure it remained accessible. The Leader stated that he would 
speak to the appropriate officer to ensure that the blockage was removed. 
 
The Leader was asked for assurance that the Council would take a flexible and 
benevolent approach to people who could not pay their council tax because of the 
coronavirus outbreak. The Leader stated that the Council was following the guidance 
provided by the Government. He added that he did not wish to see residents 
removed from their homes for non-payment of Council Tax, adding that the Council 
was waiting to see what funds would be made available by Government. 
 
In the final question that was put to the Cabinet, reference was made to a recent 
incident in Grantham town centre when an assault near a public house had resulted 
in a fatal injury. Following the incident, support had been expressed locally for the 
reintroduction of a Pubwatch scheme. Reference was made to provisions within the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which allowed local authorities to 
introduce a Late Night Levy and Early Morning Restriction Orders. The Late Night 
Levy would put a charge on premises selling alcohol between midnight and 6am; 
income from this levy would be used to support the cost of policing the night-time 
economy.  
 
When the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy was reviewed in 2016, the Council 
decided against implementing the Late Night Levy, however, it did provide for the 
introduction of the Levy at any point if there was a change in circumstances and 
evidence to support its implementation. The same provision was included in respect 

42



 

 

of an Early Morning Restriction Order. The Cabinet was asked to support the 
introduction of a Pubwatch scheme and the review of the Statement of Licensing 
Policy to enable the introduction of a Late Night Levy. 
 
 
The Leader stated that he would support an urgent review of the Statement of 
Licensing Policy being undertaken by the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night 
Refreshment Licensing Committee to consider the introduction of a Late Night Levy. 
 
 
89. Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 
Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, which 
had been distributed prior to the meeting. The Forward Plan gave an indication of the 
items that would be presented to Cabinet over the proceeding 12-month period.  
 
 
90. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting was closed at 14:26. 
 
 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 16 June 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Lee Steptoe 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
 
Officers 

 

 
Chief Executive (Karen Bradford) 
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas) 
Strategic Director, Commercial & Operational (Gary Smith) 
Strategic Director, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield) 
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon) 
Interim Director of Finance (Richard Wyles) 
Director of Law & Governance (Shahin Ismail) 
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai) 
InvestSK, Chief Executive (Steve Bowyer) 
Head of Regeneration and Visitor Economy, InvestSK (Liz Bates) 
Head of Governance (Jo Toomey) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor) 
 

45

Appendix 3



 

 

At the last meeting of the Cabinet on 17 March 2020 the Leader of the Council 
revised his Scheme of Delegation to enable him to take all Key Decisions of the 
Council during the COVID-19 pandemic emergency, which would normally have 
been taken by the Cabinet. The Leader stated that he was withdrawing those 
arrangements made at the March meeting.   His revised Scheme of Delegation re 
granted authority to individual Cabinet Members when sitting together as a collective 
body to make Key Decisions. 
  
91. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
All Cabinet Members were present. 
 
92. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2020 were agreed as a correct record 
of the decisions taken. 
 
93. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 
94. Future High Street Fund 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council presented his report on the Future High Street 
Fund which recommended the submission of a Business Case on 31 July 2020 for 
projects in Grantham. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council had classed Grantham as the “Hub for Lincolnshire” due 
to its infrastructure.  A bid had been prepared in consultation with a consultancy 
company to apply for a £10 million grant to regenerate the town.  The area that the 
bid covered ran from the train station approach into the town centre and up Westgate 
including the George Centre and Westgate Hall. 
 
The aim was to make Grantham a more attractive place to work, live and visit.  
Grantham was well situated with the train infrastructure to support a strong 
commercial environment and encourage people to the town.   The Deputy Leader 
referred Members to the appendices attached to the report highlighting how areas 
such as Westgate were proposed to be developed and work that was being 
undertaken with Lincolnshire County Council to help keep large vehicles out of the 
town centre.   Officers who helped put the report together were thanked, as well as 
Councillors who had contributed to the document including the Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy and the Cabinet Member for Communities.   The Leader 
made reference to how the different sectors had been highlighted within the 
document and the engagement and research that had been undertaken to produce 
the document.  
 
A question was asked about the figures contained within the main body of the report 
in relation to funding. The original proposal was for works with an estimated value of 
£27 million, bidding for a contribution from the Future High Street Fund of £12 million.  
Feedback on the draft bid indicated that it would have the greatest chance of success 

46



 

 

if the total valued contribution was below £10 million.  Members also asked about  
the Council’s contribution; the match-funding from the Council related to revenue 
costs associated with the bid and were unlikely to change. The total contribution 
required from the Council would be confirmed at the meeting on 16 July 2020.   
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED that the Cabinet: 
 

1. Approves the submission of the Future High Street Business Case. 
 

2. Recommends that Council approves its financial contribution to the delivery of 
the Future High Street Scheme, as outlined in the Future High Street Fund 
report. 

 
3. Delegates authority to the Strategic Director for Growth in consultation with the 

Deputy Leader of the Council and the Interim Director of Finance, to make any 
minor amendments to the bid as required prior to submission. 

 
95. Programme of Meetings 2020/21 
 
The Chief Executive presented her report on the draft Programme of Meetings for 
2020/21 and referred to the addendum that had been circulated to the Cabinet 
Members on 12 June 2020 updating the programme following further feedback from 
Members.  She thanked Members for their input in developing the draft programme 
of meetings and stated that partner organisations had been contacted to avoid the 
need to reschedule meetings; conference dates and commitments had also been 
taken into consideration. The programme would usually be agreed at the Annual 
Council meeting.  As the meeting was not taking place until September 2020, the 
recommendation was that Cabinet recommended that the Council adopt the draft 
programme of meetings 2020/21 at its meeting on 16 July 2020.  
 
It was AGREED: 
 
That the Cabinet recommends that the Council adopts the updated draft programme 
of meetings for 2020/21 at its next ordinary meeting on 16 July 2020 under the Local 
Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 
96. COVID-19 - Financial Impact 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources presented a report to Cabinet on 
the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  A financial impact report had been 
presented to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 26 May 2020.  A further update would be presented to 
this Committee on 30 June 2020 with the latest information.   
 
The report highlighted the key budget income areas being impacted and the 
forecasting in place, cashflow modelling and proactive work being undertaken to 
protect the Council.  The report also included commentary on collection rates for 
Council Tax and Business Rates, together with the Lincolnshire Business Rate 
Pooling arrangements and the modelling for any reduction in the Business Rate 

47



 

 

base.  South Kesteven’s profile showed that it was at a lower risk than some of its 
neighbouring authorities due to the diverse businesses within its area.  The report 
also listed the costs incurred by the Council in its response to COVID-19. The 
Leisure provider details were contained within exempt Appendix D to the report. The 
report also gave details of the two tranches of funding grant received from 
Government (totalling £1,480,912) to help offset some of the funding shortfalls.  To 
date, the Council had passed on £27 million in business grants, awarded £17 million 
as part of the extended retail relief scheme and awarded grants to over 2,800 
working age council tax support claimants, reducing their council tax bills by £150.   
 
Since the report had been published a further 58 employees from the Arts Centres 
had been furloughed, which would save an average of £29,000 each month. The 
income cashflow and risk register had been circulated to other senior finance 
colleagues across Lincolnshire to ensure a consistent approach and share best 
practice.  Although the total financial cost was unknown, modelling showed income 
losses of £3.8 million. It was expected that this should be offset by reductions in 
expenditure such as the furlough of staff, income received in the form of Government 
grants and use of the budget stabilizing reserve that had been put in place in March 
2020. 
 
A further financial report would be presented to the July Cabinet meeting with a 
further review to Cabinet, at its meeting on 8 September 2020 recommending a 
revised budget for consideration at the Council meeting on 17 September 2020.  The 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources endorsed the recommendations as 
outlined within the report.   It was noted that the report had been compiled with 
caution scenarios due to the uncertainty of the situation. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that the Cabinet:  
 

1. Notes the current financial position for 2020/21 and the actions being taken 
as detailed within the Financial Impact Report. 
 

2. Agrees to continue to monitor the current 2020/21 financial position and 
recommend amendments to the budget framework at its meeting on 8 
September 2020 for consideration by Council on 17 September 2020. 

 
3. Agrees to suspend car parking charges until 1 August 2020 at all Council 

operated pay and display car parks. 
 

4. Agrees to continue the remuneration bonus payment of £50 to drivers, 
operatives, team leaders, supervisors, vehicle fitters and support staff 
working within the street scene service (together with any staff seconded to 
the service during the COVID-19 response period) for the period up to and 
including 30 September 2020.  The bonus payment received by part-time and 
casual staff will be on a pro rata basis. 

 
5. Agrees to re-introduce the billing of rent to the SMEs (small, medium 

enterprises) that occupy Council premises from 1 July 2020 and delegate 
authority to the Interim Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet 

48



 

 

Member for Finance and Resources, to suspend rents for individual tenant 
businesses that meet criteria in relation to hardship. 

 
97. COVID-19 SKDC Response - Position Statement 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report which gave a position statement on 
South Kesteven District Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. He stated he 
was proud of the response of the Council and the community, adding that the support 
received from staff, communities and Members from across the Council had been 
outstanding. The Leader placed on record his gratitude. 
 
Over the last 12 weeks significant changes had been made to the way services had 
been delivered and communities supported. The report detailed the response of the 
Council and its partners and, the current position in respect of the Council’s response 
to COVID-19.  The report also formally recognised the response from community 
groups, charities and volunteers, and parish and town councils. It also identified 
lessons that could be learnt from the crisis moving forward to the restart and recovery 
phases.  At the start of the crisis the Council had three clear priorities: 
 

• To protect the health of staff, Members and residents 

• To maintain the Council’s critical services 

• To support local businesses 
 

Highlights of the report included: 
 

• Facilitating over 400 staff working from home, protecting the health of both 
staff and residents.   

• Staff being redeployed to new services such as the Community Hub and the 
befriending service.   

• Maintaining waste collection, urgent housing needs and emergency housing 
repairs services 

• Distribution of grants totalling more than £27 million to 2,200 businesses. 

• 900 local businesses which had received business rate relief.      
 
The Cabinet recognised Members’ contributions to the response by their increased 
Ward Member Grant scheme allowance to help support communities during the 
crisis and volunteering for the befriending service.  
 
Communication from the Council had been clear with a special version of SKToday 
giving details of services available and contact details.  Social media activity had 
increased by 155% since the start of the lockdown.  Daily e-mails had been sent to 
staff providing updates and giving support while Members received twice weekly e-
mails keeping them informed about what was happening.   
 
Customer Service officers continued to work remotely supported by the IT team, 
which had also helped support the running of virtual meetings. The Leader stated 
that he hoped remote meetings would continue after the COVID-19 response period.   
 
Close partnership working had been carried out with the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum, across councils and across the region. The Cabinet recognised that while 

49



 

 

there was still further work to do and the crisis had not yet finished, the Council 
would learn from the lessons to date. 
 
Members of the Cabinet commented on the challenging and unprecedented time of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  Members expressed their thanks for the work that had 
been undertaken by communities, volunteers, members of staff and Members, noting 
the work of the Leader and the Chief Executive during this period. 
 
A minute’s silence was held for those who had lost their lives during the COVID-19 
crisis in the district.  
 
The Cabinet noted:      
 

1. The response of South Kesteven District Council and partners to the COVID-
19 crisis and the current position of the Council with regards to the response, 
recovery and delivery of its priorities 

2. The exceptional role of the voluntary and community sector and residents’ 
groups in achieving the delivery of the priorities during this period 

3. The initial lessons learnt from this report and the intention to carry out a full 
review of the response as part of the COVID-19 Recovery Plan 

 
98. COVID-19 SKDC - Recovery Plan 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report which detailed a framework  for 
developing a recovery plan from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The initial 
response to the pandemic had been reactive but  there was recognition that it was 
important for the district to recover and thrive in the coming months.  In addition to 
meeting the three key priorities outlined in the COVID-19 SKDC Response – Position 
Statement report, progress had also been made on other key projects, such as St 
Martins Park, the leisure programme and the housing and planning programmes, the 
timescales for which had been adapted.  
 
Alongside the COVID-19 Recovery Plan, the Council was developing a Corporate 
Plan and a revised Budgetary Framework.  All three documents would be presented 
to Cabinet and Council in September 2020. 
 
The framework for recovery was based on four phases:  
 

• Response – the immediate, primarily emergency / reactive tasks happening 
as the pandemic developed (e.g. closing public buildings, staff working from 
home, initial business grant distribution)  

• Restart – the phased re-opening of operations (sports facilities, supporting 
wider businesses to re-open, arts activities) based on the five key themes 
within the report (vibrant and resilient economy, housing that meets the needs 
of our residents, strong communities with high quality facilities, a clean and 
sustainable environment and a high performing Council) 

50



 

 

• Recover – stimulating activities to spark wider businesses (sector specific 
support where necessary and appropriate, focus of InvestSK) 

• Reshape – revising the Council’s long-term plans to incorporate wider 
changes in behaviours and its role in community leadership (greater digital 
service offering, increased working from home, embedding carbon reduction 
into new ways of working) 

When services were looking to move to the next phase it was important that a review 
and reset was undertaken to look at risks, opportunities and lessons learnt to shape 
the future direction. Timescales had not been included due to the uncertainty at the 
present time. Appendices 1 to 5 detailed activities that the Council would be 
undertaking to support residents and businesses.  
 
There had been a significant impact on finances due to COVID-19.  It would be 
necessary to amend the budget approved in March 2020;  an amended budget would 
be presented in September 2020.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations made reference to the first 
virtual climate change task and finish group, which 25 people had attended. The 
Council’s carbon footprint was put at 7,600 tonnes however this was before buildings 
were closed.  The Cabinet Member stated that the Big Clean would be re-established 
and hoped that the best kept village could be reintroduced.  Cabinet Members also 
noted that the electric charging points in Welham Street car park were due to be 
connected by Western Power. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning spoke about continuing to support 
tenants including those in housing need and in sheltered housing. The homeless had 
been supported by the allocation of temporary accommodation. Housing 
Management had been restarted and work was continuing on housing repairs. The 
development of Council owned sites would be progressed, the Blessed Hugh More 
site was currently subject to consultation. The performance and delivery of the 
housing service was also being reviewed.  The Local Plan review was being 
progressed, together with a review of the Council’s growth function. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities stated that the recovery plan was an excellent 
starting point and that a review and a reset needed to be carried out between each of 
the phases. The Council needed to capitalise on what had been achieved with 
communities and the relationships made during the crisis. 
 
The Deputy Leader stated that across all the Cabinet portfolios, the Council wanted 
to deliver growth for the economy, to have strong communities with high quality 
facilities and a clean and sustainable environment. 
 
The Chief Executive stated that it was a comprehensive restart plan and thanked 
Cabinet Members for their input. Work had been undertaken with the Corporate 
Management Team on populating the actions for each of the five outcomes shown at 
Appendices 1 to 5 of the report. 
 
On being put to the vote is was AGREED that: 
 

51



 

 

The Cabinet approves the framework for developing a COVID-19 Recovery Plan  and 
notes the upcoming activities in the “Restart” phase of the framework.  

 
99. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
No matters had been referred to the Cabinet by the Council or the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. 
 
100. Representations and questions from Non-Cabinet Members 
 
The Leader of the Council made a statement in relation to Grantham Hospital.  At the 
January meeting of Council, it was noted that there were many issues that affected 
Grantham and the wider district.  One of the main issues was the need for 24/7 
urgent care provision in the largest town within South Kesteven.  The Council was 
supporting growth within the district to develop communities in a dynamic and 
sustainable way. It was therefore considered essential that health provision 
supported the existing and expanding communities and provided a high quality 
accessible health care service for the residents of South Kesteven.    
 
United Lincolnshire Hospital Trust (ULHT) had announced temporary changes to the 
services that would be provided on the Grantham Hospital site. Some of the 
proposals were welcomed, such as the provision of cancer care treatments and the 
provision of some elective surgery at Grantham hospital, together with the separation 
of COVID-19 and non COVID-19 issues.   
 
The Leader stated that  any proposals for the hospital needed to reflect future needs 
as well as current demands, which at present they did not.  Conversations had been 
held with both Gareth Davies MP and Caroline Johnson MP who would continue to 
lobby for a health care provision for existing and the future needs of the district.  A 
special Council meeting would be held to discuss the proposed changes to Grantham 
hospital and the views of the Council would be presented to the ULHT Board and its 
Chief Executive, Andrew Morgan. 
 
A Member, not on the Cabinet, wished to place on record thanks and appreciation to 
the NHS not only in Grantham, but nationwide, for the professional way in which they 
had served everyone, putting their lives at risk on a daily basis. The Member then 
spoke about the decision made last week by the ULHT Board to downgrade 
Grantham Hospital’s accident and emergency department to an urgent treatment 
centre from 22 June 2020 and a COVID-19 green hospital.   
 
The Member agreed that those with cancer on the waiting list should be treated as 
soon as possible but was very concerned about the loss of the accident and 
emergency department on a temporary basis until 31 March 2021 and felt that it 
would not recover.   Hospital staff had raised concerns with the Member that services 
would be lost “by the backdoor”. During a radio interview in April, ULHT’s  Chief 
Executive, Andrew Morgan had stated that the Trust was not looking to downgrade 
the site “by the backdoor”. Grantham Hospital’s  accident and emergency department 
had been closed at night since 16 August 2016 and it was felt that the temporary 
changed would become permanent.   

52



 

 

At a recent meeting the Chief Executive of ULHT had stated that it was the 
responsibility of Lincolnshire CCG to make changes.  ULHT figures stated that 19% 
of patients (4,603) would have to travel to Lincoln or Boston, where waiting figures for 
the ULHT were one of the worst recorded in England for dealing with patients within 
a four-hour period.  
 
It was noted that Councillors and campaigners had made their voices known over the 
four-year period since the temporary closure of the accident and emergency 
department with rallies, motions at Council and protests. The non- Cabinet Member 
asked if the Cabinet would consider sending a letter to John Turner, Chief Operating 
Officer for the Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Matt Hancock MP, 
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care acknowledging the need for cancer 
patients to be seen and treated quickly but that Grantham hospital should be 
reinstated back to its current position and a public consultation held on the hospital’s 
future as soon as possible. 
 
The Leader stated that he would be happy to send a letter and referred to the 
extraordinary Council meeting.  Following that meeting a strong letter needed to be 
sent and signed by the Chairman of the Council and himself as Leader.  The Leader 
raised concerns about the relocation of staff affected by the current proposals and 
temporary changes being made elsewhere in the country which were for much 
shorter periods of time.  He did not consider finance should be  an issue as the 
Government had written off a £345 million of hospital debt. 
 
Other Members of the Cabinet and Council endorsed what had been said and felt 
that the COVID-19 pandemic was being used as a mechanism to downgrade 
services “by the backdoor” at Grantham hospital.    
 
A question was asked about the date and time of the Extraordinary Council meeting 
and the Leader stated that Monday 29 June or Wednesday 1 July 2020 were being 
considered as possible dates.  He stated that Members would be notified of the time 
and date of the meeting as soon as they had been confirmed.  
 
A question was asked about the leisure transformation programme and the Working 
Groups that had been nominated by the Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and the Culture and 
Visitor Economy OSC. These working groups had not met but the Deputy Leader had 
spoken to Parish Councils on the subject.  Investment Plans for the Leisure Centres 
was on the Forward Plan to  report at the September Cabinet and the non-Cabinet 
Member wanted to know the scrutiny path for the issue and whether consultation 
would take place with Ward Members.  The non-Cabinet Member also asked whether 
a joint OSC meeting would take place between the Finance, Economic Development 
and Corporate Services OSC and the Culture and Visitor Economy OSC.    
 
The Deputy Leader referred to his meeting at the end of January 2020 with Members 
for the Deepings area and the meeting he had attended with Deeping St James 
Parish Council.  Before the September meeting of the Cabinet a meeting would be 
arranged with the Chairman of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services OSC to confirm a date for a joint meeting to discuss the leisure programme 
and the options available to the Council. The leisure programme would require 

53



 

 

significant investment and feedback from the joint OSC meeting would allow for the 
refinement of the report and future engagement and consultation with Members.   
 
The Deputy Leader had visited all the leisure centres with Members from all groups 
and the proposal was to upgrade, facilities in Bourne, Grantham and Stamford and 
build a new centre in the Deepings. Consultation had been carried out with an 
architect who had undertaken design for Sport England projects and the Deputy 
Leader hoped to progress the issue as soon as possible.    
 
The Leader of the Council stated that the leisure programme would be the largest 
expenditure that the Council would have and confirmed that engagement would take 
place with local Ward Members. There would be opportunity for Members to debate 
the issue at the joint OSC meeting, Cabinet and Council, which would make the final 
decision.   
 
A further question was asked about the current position on the development of a new 
cycling strategy through Sustrans. A budget of £11,000 had been agreed in March 
2019. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that the Council 
was not able to come to an agreement with Sustrans and therefore the strategy had 
not been progressed. The Council has continued to support Sustrans with other 
projects such as the crossing at Harlaxton and a project to enhance cross Grantham 
connectivity in partnership with the Woodland Trust. Cycling was something that 
would be part of the green recovery and should be directed through the Environment 
Overview Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The Leader was asked if he would support the Members of the Planning Committee 
during the COVID-19 recovery plan to resume full site visits whilst acknowledging 
social distancing.  During the height of lockdown Members had been told not to visit 
sites.  The Member felt that this hiatus had highlighted the vital need to see a site on 
the ground before determining an application. The non-Cabinet Member stated that 
decisions made by the Planning Committee affected communities and had long term 
impacts and he felt that site visits should be re-introduced.  The work being 
undertaken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning and the Chairman of 
the Planning Committee was welcomed.     
 
The Leader said that he would support site visits if they were sensible and 
appropriate.  The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning stated that site visits 
were being considered and he was hopeful that they could be resumed in July 2020 
for important sites.  A Member who was on the Planning Committee endorsed the 
need for site visits to enable Members to get a feel for the area that could not be 
found in reports.  
 
101. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers. 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report on Key and Non-Key Decisions taken 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet.  Details during the COVID-19 response period 
had been reported to the meeting of Council held on 14 May 2020.  Decisions taken 
after this period included the awarding of the Insurance Contract to Zurich Municipal 
from 1 July 2020 for a three-year period with the option to extend for a further two 
years.   

54



 

 

 
102. Cabinet Forward Plan 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 
 
Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 
which was appended to the agenda. The Forward Plan gave an indication of items 
that would be presented to Cabinet in the next 12 months.  The Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning indicated that there would be two further items for inclusion on 
the plan following the reviews taking place in planning and housing. 
 
103. Close of meeting 
 
Before the Leader of the Council closed the meeting, he wished to thank Councillor 
Chris Benn, who had recently resigned, for the work that he had done in the Glen 
Ward and as Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   
 
The meeting closed at 15:45pm. 
 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
16 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Decisions taken as part of the Council's COVID-19 
response, together with decisions made under General 
Exception and Special Urgency arrangements 

This report summarises Key Decisions that have been made under General Exception and Special 
Urgency provisions and officer delegated decisions taken by the Chief Executive as part of the 
Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Julie Edwards, Electoral Services Team Leader 24 June 2020 

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Director of law and Governance 25 June 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 7 July 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That Council notes the content of the report. 

57

Agenda Item 5b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 At the Cabinet meeting held on 17 March 2020 when COVID-19 restrictions were 

heightening, the Leader of the Council announced the suspension of all Council and 

Committee meetings, including meetings of the Cabinet. 

1.2 So that Executive decision-making could continue while meetings were suspended, the 

Leader revised his scheme of delegation. The revisions saw him take responsibility for any 

Key Decisions that needed to be made during the response period. Other Cabinet Members 

retained their existing remits and responsibility for making any Non-Key Decisions. 

1.3 Where decisions need to be made and it is not possible to give the statutory notice that 

would ordinarily be required, the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 

Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 has alternative procedures that the 

Council can follow. Those procedures are General Exception and Special Urgency. 

1.4 All the decisions that have been made under these arrangements or relating to the Council’s 

COVID-19 response, have been published on the Council’s website. To make it easier to 

find those decisions, they are listed on a new webpage, which incorporates links to the detail 

of the decision. 

1.5 Each sub-heading within this report setting out the name of the decision is a hyperlink to the 

relevant published documents.  

2 General Exception 

2.1 The General Exception procedure is used where a matter is likely to be a Key Decision that 

has not been included on the Forward Plan and where it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next Forward Plan and 28 days have elapsed.  

2.2 Before a decision is made under the General Exception Rule, the Chairman of the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be informed in writing (if there is no such person 

then each member of the Committee must be notified in writing). The Monitoring Officer 

must publish that notice. Five days after that notice has been served on the Chairman (or 

Committee members in the Chairman’s absence) and its publication, the decision may be 

made. Decisions made under the General Exception rule are eligible for call-in. 

2.3 Since the last report was presented to Council on 14 May 2020, two decisions have been 

taken under the General Exception procedure. 

Award of Insurance Contract (Appendix 1) 

2.4 A Key Decision was made by the Leader of the Council on 27 May 2020 in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources to award the Council’s insurance contract 

to Zurich Municipal. The decision came into effect on 4 June 2020. The decision was made 

under the General Exception procedure because, by the time 28 days had passed, the 

Council would be left without insurance cover if any of the bidders challenged the selection 

of the appointed provider. 

Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the Leisure Service (Appendix 2) 

2.5 A Key Decision was made by the Cabinet on 7 July 2020. The decision relates to the 

financial impact of COVID-19 on the leisure service. The report to Cabinet was exempt 

under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 

58

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?id=1073&LLL=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3931&Ver=4


 

 
 

because it contained information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual 

or organisation. 

2.6 Details of the issue are covered in the exempt report to Council, which is included in this 

agenda. A copy of the General Exception notice is attached at Appendix 2 to the report. This 

matter was determined by Cabinet using the General Exception provisions because, to wait 

for the next plan to be published and the passing of 28 days would mean deadlines would 

not have been met in order to get the Cabinet’s recommendations to Council for its 

consideration on 16 July 2020. Failure to make a decision at this time would have 

implications on the provision of leisure services, in anticipation of the COVID-19 recover 

phase. 

3 Special Urgency  

3.1 Where a decision is urgent and the General Exception Rule cannot be followed because of 

the date by which a decision must be taken, the Special Urgency procedure is available. By 

using Special Urgency provisions, a decision may be made and implemented on the same 

day as it removes the requirement to give five working days’ notice in advance of the 

decision being made and the five working day call-in period following the publication of the 

decision.  

3.2 To enable the decision to be made using Special Urgency arrangements, agreement must 

be sought in writing from the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

The communication must set out why the decision cannot reasonably be deferred. In the 

absence of the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, agreement 

should be sought from the Chairman of the Council, or in their absence, the Vice-Chairman 

of the Council.  

3.3 Permission is also sought from the Chairman of the Council to suspend call-in for urgent 

decisions where the call-in process would prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest. In 

the absence of the Chairman of the Council, consent is sought from the Vice-Chairman and 

in her absence from the Head of Paid Service or, in her absence, her nominee. 

3.4 Once written agreement has been received confirming that the decision may be made under 

these provisions, the decision-maker may proceed. A notice must be published setting out 

why the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be delayed. Where decisions are taken 

under these arrangements, they must be reported to Council. 

3.5 Since the decisions made under Special Urgency provisions were last reported to Council 

on 14 May 2020, two further decisions have been made. 

Food Waste Collection Service (Appendix 3) 

3.6 On 29 May 2020, the Leader of the Council made a decision to extend the food waste 

collection scheme within the existing area of South Kesteven until 31 March 2021. The 

decision, which was taken in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 

Operations, also delegated authority to the Chief Executive (in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Commercial and Operations) to carry out an interim review of the arrangements 

and cost of the scheme by 30 September 2020 and implement any related findings at which 

point withdrawing the scheme would remain an option. 

3.7 The timing of the notification from Lincolnshire County Council on behalf of the Lincolnshire 

Waste Partnership and the discussions that were required with the County Council about 

arrangements for the transfer and treatment of food waste in the event that South Kesteven 

59

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IssueId=27183&OptionNum=0


 

 
 

District Council wished to continue to deliver the scheme in the pilot area, meant that it was 

not possible to give 28-days’ prior notification of the decision. The time that the call-in period 

would have taken has also been considered prejudicial to the interests of the Council and 

the public because it would result in the disruption of service. This would lead to a backlog, 

which residents would be required to store, and members of the street scene team would 

need to collect at a time when the service was under pressure because of the COVID-19 

response.  

Planning and Business Bill - Pavement Licences (Appendix 4) 

3.8 At its meeting on 7 July 2020, the Cabinet made a decision which related to the Planning 

and Business Bill – Pavement Licences. This decision was taken under the Special Urgency 

provisions because new legislation was rapidly passing through Parliament, which would 

come into immediate effect. The legislation was expected to be made within two weeks of 

the meeting and the Council needed to make preparation is advance of this to ensure that 

the legislation could be implemented.  

3.9 The decision that was made by the Cabinet delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, to consider the final 

proposal from Lincolnshire County Council in respect of processing and determining 

applications under this legislation, and agree any delegations/similar that may be necessary 

to ensure that pavements licences may be determined. 

4 Officer Delegated Decisions 

4.1 The Chief Executive is able to take action regarding operational procedures to ensure the 

continued delivery of service. There are also specific decisions that are delegated to the 

Chief Executive. 

4.2 Since the last report to Council on 14 May 2020, two decisions have been made by the Chief 

Executive as part of the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: Furlough of Arts and Culture Staff 

(Appendix 5) 

4.3 Following the closure of the Council’s arts venues from 23 March 2020, the Chief Executive 

made a decision to furlough 58 staff from Stamford Arts Centre and the Grantham Guildhall, 

backdating the claim to 23 March 2020. The furloughed staff were identified following an 

assessment of knowledge, skills and experience. The decision was taken in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy.   

Public conveniences (Appendix 6)  

4.4 On 12 June 2020, the Chief Executive made a decision in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Commercial and Operations, to re-open South Kesteven District Council’s 

public conveniences from 15 June 2020 to coincide with the ‘re-opening’ of the district’s 

town centres. 

Virtual Council Meeting Procedures during COVID-19 restriction period 

(Appendix 7)  

4.5 On 7 July 2020 the Chief Executive made an Officer Delegated Decision to update the 

procedures that would be used for Virtual Council meetings and how the provisions within 

the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 

60

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3931&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27241&Opt=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27305&Opt=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27445&Opt=0


 

 
 

Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 

The decision was taken in consultation with the Chairman of the Council and the Leader of 

the Council.   

4.6 The updated procedures allowed for the restoration of the public open forum, Members’ 

open questions and motions on notice to be re-added to the agenda for ordinary meetings 

of the Council. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Where decisions are taken under urgency procedures, there is a requirement to report these 

decisions to Council. At the outset of the response period, the Leader also committed to 

reporting any decisions made by the Chief Executive, to ensure transparency.  

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this covering report. The specific 

financial implications will be referenced in each individual report as appropriate. There will 

be a requirement for Council to consider an amended Budget Framework in September of 

this financial year that incorporates the financial impact of these decisions and other budget 

areas affected by the current situation.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 Legal and Governance implications are captured within the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

8.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. Where 

relevant, an equality analysis has been completed in conjunction with a decision report. 

9 Risk and Mitigation 

9.1 Risk was considered in the preparation of this report and no significant risks were identified.  

10 Community Safety Implications  

10.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.  

11 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

11.1 This report has no climate impact. The climate impact of each decision referred to here is 

examined in their respective reports.  

12 Background Papers 

12.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made   

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix 1: Award of insurance contract (report, bids and evaluation document, decision 

notice and General Exception notice) 

13.2 Appendix 2: Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the leisure service (General Exception notice) 

61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


 

 
 

13.3 Appendix 3: Food Waste Collection Service (report and Special Urgency notice) 

13.4 Appendix 4: Planning and Business Bill – Pavement Licences (report and Special Urgency 

notice) 

13.5 Appendix 5: Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: furlough of Arts and Culture staff (decision 

notice) 

13.6 Appendix 6: Public conveniences (decision notice) 

13.7 Appendix 7: Virtual Council Meeting Procedures during COVID-19 restriction period 

(decision notice) 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Council 14 May 2020 

Final Decision date   16 July 2020 

 

62



Document is Restricted

63

Appendix 1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Decision made by: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

Decision: To approve the award of the Council’s insurance contract to the 
bidder with the highest score (further details in exempt Appendix 
1 to the decision report) for the initial period of three years (with 
an option to extend for a further two years plus two years) 
commencing from 1 July 2020. 

Date: 27 May 2020 

Publication date: 27 May 2020 

Date decision effective: Thursday 4 June 2020 (subject to the decision not being called 
in by 5 members of the Council or the Chairman of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 

Public or Exempt: The decision notice is a public document. The report related to 
this decision is public with an exempt appendix 

Reasons for exemption: Appendix 1 is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because of the 
likelihood that information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or organisation would be disclosed. In 
this instance the exempt information relates to bids submitted as 
part of the procurement process and the evaluation of those 
bids. 

Conflicts of interest: None 

Dispensations: None 

 

1. Delegated authority for this decision  

1.1 As set out in Article 8 of the Council’s Constitution the Leader will allocate decision-making 

power to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. The Leader has determined that during 

the Covid-19 response period, he will take responsibility for the making of all Key Decisions 

in consultation with the Council’s Chief Executive.  

 

 

 

Record of Member 
Decision 

         

69

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


2. Preferred Option 

2.1 To award a contract to the bidder with the highest evaluation score. Details of the 

evaluation and bidder can be found in exempt Appendix 1 to the decision report. 

3. Reasons for decision 

3.1 A procurement exercise has been undertaken, in accordance with the Council’s Contract 

Procedure Rules, in preparation for the new insurance contract which commences on 1 July 

2020. The contract is for a period of three years with the option to extend for two periods, 

each for a duration of two years. The Council appointed a broker in December 2019 to 

assist with the procurement which was undertaken via the YPO Insurance Dynamic 

Purchasing System (DPS).  This   was deemed the most effective and efficient route to 

market. The DPS contains 21 suppliers and all were invited to submit a bid. 

3.2 With the support of the broker and YPO, a mini competition was issued through the DPS on 

5 March 2020 with a closing date of 8 April 2020 to all 21 suppliers. The mini competition 

contained the following Lots: 

 

Lot 1:  Material Damage 

Lot 2:  Combined Liability 

Lot 3:  Motor 

Lot 4:  Crime 

Lot 5:  Engineering 

Lot 6:  Personal Accident and Travel 

3.3 The procurement leaves the Council with two choices, either to award to the bidder with the 

highest evaluation score or not to award a contract at all. The second option is not realistic 

(the Council would be left without insurance) and therefore awarding a contract to the 

bidder with the highest evaluation score is recommended as the way forward. 

3.4 As a result of the procurement exercise five insurers responded to the invitation to tender. 

3.5 Bids were evaluated using the criteria stipulated in the invitation to tender which was based 

on 60% price and 40% quality with the quality criteria being broken down into Core Cover 

Requirements (20%), Claims Handling (15%) and Added Value (5%) 

3.6 Further information about the results of the evaluation can be found in exempt Appendix 1 

to the decision report. 

4. Consultation 

4.1 The procurement approach was agreed with the Interim Director of Finance. 

4.2 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources has been consulted in the preparation of 

this report. 

4.3 This report is being taken under general exception arrangements set out in the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. It is therefore necessary to give notice in writing to the Chairman of the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, setting out why the decision cannot wait for the 

publication of the next Forward Plan and the passing of 28 days. 

4.4 The purpose of the report is to award a contract for the provision of insurance cover for 

South Kesteven District Council. To wait until the next Forward Plan is published and the 

passing of 28 days means that there would be a period during which the Council would not 

70



have insurance cover if any of the bidders challenged the selection of the appointed 

provider. 

5. Approval  

Signed:   

  Leader of the Council 

 

    27 May 2020 

 Dated: ____________________________________________ 
 

 
 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



KEY DECISION – GENERAL 

EXCEPTION NOTIFICATION 

Notice given to Councillor Graham Jeal, Chairman of the 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Notice is hereby given that the following decision will be taken under 

the general exception provisions set out in Section 10 of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

The decision relates to the awarding of an insurance contract for 

South Kesteven District Council, commencing on 1 July 2020. 

 

The decision will be made under these provisions because it has not 

been possible to give 28-days prior notification of the intention to 

make this decision on the Forward Plan. To wait for the next plan to 

be published and the passing of 28 days would mean that the Council 

could be left without insurance cover. The Council’s response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic has affected staff availability to complete 

necessary documents and to get a decision taken at an earlier stage. 

 

       Shahin Ismail 

       Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices 

St. Peter's Hill 

Grantham 

 

 

Monday, 18 May 2020 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



KEY DECISION – GENERAL 

EXCEPTION NOTIFICATION 

Notice give to Councillor Graham Jeal, Chairman of the Finance, 

Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and Councillor Judy Stevens, Chairman of the Culture and 

Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Notice is hereby given that the following decision will be taken under the general 

exception provisions set out in Section 10 of the Local Authorities (Executive 

Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 

2012. 

 

The decision relates to the financial impact of COVID-19 on the leisure service. 

 

Following the publication of the last Forward Plan, the need has arisen for 

urgent consideration of the financial impact of COVID-19 on the leisure service. 

The decision will therefore be made under these provisions because it has not 

been possible to give 28-days prior notification on the Forward Plan. To wait for 

the next plan to be published and the passing of 28 days would mean deadlines 

would not be met in order to get Cabinet’s recommendations to the Council for 

consideration at its meeting on 16 July 2020. Failure to make a decision at this 

time would have implications on provision of leisure services, in anticipation of 

the COVID-19 recovery phase.  

 
       Shahin Ismail 

       Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices 

St. Peter's Hill 

Grantham 

 

 

Monday, 29 June 2020 

75

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Key Decision 
22 May 2020 

Councillor Kelham Cooke 

 The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Food waste collection service 

A report considering whether to extend the food waste collection service within the existing area of 
South Kesteven. 

 

 

Report Author 

Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and Operational 

 
01476 406080 

 gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet Member 
consulted 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations 

19 May 2020 

Approved for circulation Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of 
the Council 

29 May 2020 

Public or Exempt Public 

Reasons for exemption Not applicable 

Conflicts of interest None 

 

 

Recommendation to decision-maker 

1. That the Council continue to deliver the food waste collection service to the 
existing area until 31 March 2021 

2. That authority is delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Commercial and Operations, to carry out an interim review of the 
arrangements and cost of the scheme by 30 September 2020 and implement any 
related findings, at which point withdrawing the scheme would remain an option 

77

Appendix 3

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 In June 2018 the Council began a pilot food waste collection service to approximately 

4,700 properties in the district of South Kesteven. The pilot was funded by Lincolnshire 

County Council on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.  

1.2 Performance has been good with consistently high participation levels (circa 70-80+%) 

and food waste collections increasing the total amounts of waste recycled by 

approximately 10%.  In addition, the majority of customers who responded to the survey 

(1,147 or 95.9%) agreed with the trial. 

1.3 The food waste collection scheme supports DEFRA’s ambitions to roll-out mandatory food 

waste collection nationally and aligns with the ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for 

England’. 

1.4 On 12 May 2020 the Council received formal notification from Lincolnshire County Council 

that, on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership, it was withdrawing support for food 

waste collection beyond the current year, which comes to an end on 4 June 2020. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This decision is being taken under the special urgency arrangements set out in the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012 because it has not been possible to give 28-days prior notification of this 

decision on the Cabinet Forward Plan. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the 

Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been consulted. He 

has indicated his support for the proposal and confirmed that he is happy for this decision 

to be made under the special urgency provisions.  

2.2 The timing of the notification from Lincolnshire County Council on behalf of the 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership and the discussions that were required with the County 

Council about arrangements for the transfer and disposal of food waste in the event that 

South Kesteven District Council wished to continue to deliver the scheme in the pilot area 

meant that it was not possible to give 28-days prior notification of the decision. The time 

that the call-in period would take has also been considered prejudicial to the interests of 

the Council and the public because it would result in the disruption of service. This would 

lead to a backlog, which residents would be required to store and members of the street 

scene team would need to collect at a time when the service is under pressure because of 

the Covid-19 response.  

2.3 The Chairman of the Council has also been consulted and she has confirmed that she is 

content that for this reason the decision should not be subject to call-in. 

2.4 The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations has been consulted in the drafting of 

this report and is supportive of the continuation of the scheme as set out. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council could choose to stop delivering the food waste collection service to the pilot 

area.  This is not considered desirable given the positive performance, level of support 

from residents who participate, the shortness of notice to residents who participate and the 

general direction of travel of the national waste policy. 

3.2 It would not be possible to make a decision to rollout out the scheme to the wider district at 

this time because of the logistical, vehicle and staffing level requirements that would need 

78



 

 
 

to be planned.  In addition, arrangements would need to be put in place to ensure 

sufficient funding was available.  

3.3 The final option available is to extend the scheme in the pilot area, either for a prescribed 

period or indefinitely. Extending the scheme indefinitely would require the matter of budget 

to be addressed, together with a longer-term plan for the wider district. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is to continue to provide the food waste collection service in the pilot 

area for a fixed period with a mid-term review date at which point the Council could 

choose to withdraw the scheme.  With some operational changes and taking advantage of 

alignment with wider waste collection, it is anticipated that £50k would cover the continued 

food waste collection for a period of 12 months.  This can be funded from within currently 

allocated budgets in the short term. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The fixed term extension would provide time to complete a full review of resourcing 

arrangements and time to identify alternative approaches. This would allow further time to 

work with Lincolnshire County Council to review the treatment/disposal solution. The 

extension would also allow sufficient time to understand whether Covid-19 is expected to 

impact on the timetable for the national rollout of the mandatory food waste collection 

scheme. 

5.2 By building in a review date of September 2020, the Council can assess any financial 

impact on disposal and transfer of food waste following the change in arrangement with 

Lincolnshire County Council. The review will give the Council the opportunity to withdraw 

from the scheme should costs be higher than anticipated. 

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 There is residual funding available from the money allocated and approved within the 

budget at the outset of the pilot which can be utilised to fund the scheme for the remainder 

of the financial year. This is assuming that the Council’s delivery model and its associated 

costs remains unchanged. If there are any changes to this funding proposal, then this will 

need to be taken into consideration at the review date proposed in the recommendation.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 Legal and governance implications are captured within the body of the report.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

8.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

9 Risk and mitigation 

9.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report and no significant high risks 

have been identified. Consultation with Lincolnshire County Council will be a key part in 

mitigating risks to an ongoing solution.  Initial discussions with Lincolnshire County Council 

have indicated that they would be able to facilitate the disposal of food waste if South 

Kesteven District Council decided to continue collections. 

79



 

 
 

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

10.1 Collecting and recycling food waste has a positive carbon impact, however, the Council 

taking responsibility for transporting the food waste to the north of Lincoln for treatment, 

may have a negative carbon impact.  

11 Background papers 

11.1 Cabinet minute 106 of 11 January 2018 and associated papers agreeing to the principle of 

a food waste pilot: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3503#AI20

618  

11.2 Non-key decision on the pilot food waste collection service: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23742&optionId=

0  

Report Timeline: Call-in deadline Not applicable 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in)  29 May 2020 

 

Decision: 1. That the Council continue to deliver the food waste 
collection service to the existing area until 31 March 2021 

2. That authority is delegated to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations, to carry out an interim review of the 
arrangements and cost of the scheme by 30 September 
2020 and implement any related findings, at which point 
withdrawing the scheme would remain an option 

Date: 29 May 2020 

Decision made by: 

 

In consultation with: 

 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 

 

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

 

80

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3503#AI20618
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3503#AI20618
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23742&optionId=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23742&optionId=0


URGENT DECISION 

Notice is hereby given that a decision has been taken under the 

special urgency provisions set out in Section 11 of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

The decision relates to the extension of the Food Waste Collection 

Scheme in the pilot area until 31 March 2021. 

 

The decision has been taken under these provisions because the 

Council received formal notification from Lincolnshire County Council, 

on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership on 12 May 2020, that 

it was withdrawing support for food waste collection beyond the 

current year, which comes to an end on 4 June 2020. Following that 

notification, South Kesteven District Council has been in discussion 

with Lincolnshire County Council about collection and disposal of food 

waste should the Council wish to continue the scheme for the pilot 

area until the end of the financial year. 

 

If the decision was not made as a matter of special urgency, then 

there would be a gap in provision of service, which could create a 

reputational risk to the Council and create a backlog, placing pressure 

on the street scene team during the Covid-19 response period. As 

this has been taken as an urgent decision, call-in provisions do not 

apply. 

 

       Shahin Ismail 

       Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices 

St. Peter's Hill 

Grantham 

 

Friday, 29 May 2020 

81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
7 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Planning and Business Bill – Pavement Licences  

The Business and Planning Bill 2019-2021 introduces new provisions for an expedited process 
allowing businesses selling food and drink to apply to the district council for authorisation to put 
furniture such as tables and chairs on the highway adjacent to their premises.  This report explores 
the options available to the Council to ensure that the requirements of the Bill can be implemented 
when it becomes legislation.   
 
This decision is being taken using the special urgency procedures in the Council’s Constitution 
because new legislation is rapidly passing through Parliament. It is expected to be made within the 
next two weeks and come into immediate effect. The Council needs time and certainty to make 
preparation in advance of this, so that the legislation can be implemented.  

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental 

 
01476 406319 

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

1 July 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

1 July 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

1 July 2020 

 

 

 

83

Appendix 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations, to consider the final proposal from Lincolnshire 
County Council and agree any delegations/similar which may be necessary to 
ensure that pavement licences may be determined within South Kesteven.  

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 On 25 June 2020 the Business and Planning Bill 2019-21 was introduced to the House of 

Commons by the Government and given its (formal) First Reading. The Bill is expected to 

speed through Parliament and is timetabled for its Second Reading in the House of Lords 

on 7 July 2020. 

1.2 Currently, pavement licences (also known as “street café licences” and “tables and chairs 

licences”) which allow businesses such as cafes, restaurants and bars to place furniture on 

the highway are determined by Lincolnshire County Council under the Highways Act 1980.  

1.3 The Bill introduces a streamlined route for businesses to secure a licence to place furniture 

on the highway and bypasses the existing regulatory regime. The government intends that 

this will support businesses to operate safely while Covid-19 social distancing measures 

remain in place and provide income for those businesses.  The new Bill places the 

responsibility for issuing the licences on district councils, in consultation with the highways 

authority and other relevant persons, until 30 September 2021.  

1.4 The Bill is expected to become law within the next week, with an immediate implementation 

once enacted. This would be a new function for the Council which is not currently in place 

and will require processes, procedures, systems and training to be developed and put in 

place within a matter of days.  Lincolnshire County Council has offered the option to 

Lincolnshire district and city councils that they would be prepared to take on the processing 

of these licences.  If the Council so wishes, it could delegate the pavement licensing function 

under the Business and Planning Bill to the County Council, which would be able to adapt 

its current licencing scheme to ensure compliance with the new legislation. 

1.5 The details of this proposal were not available at the time of writing this report although 

Lincolnshire County Council has indicated that it is prepared to undertake this at no cost to 

this Council if it chose to delegate authority and it would not charge the business an 

application fee (the Bill caps the application fee at £100). The County Council is currently 

adapting its existing processes to ensure it can determine applications under the new 

regime.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 As this report is being taken using special urgency provisions, the Constitution states that 

the decision-maker must consult and receive confirmation in writing from the Chairman of 

the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. As the chairmanship of the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is vacant, the Constitution states that the consultation 

should take place with the Chairman of the Council. The Chairman of the Council has 

confirmed that she is happy for the decision to be made as a matter of special urgency, and 

for call-in to be suspended on this occasion. The Vice-Chairman of the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee has also been notified of the proposed decision. 

 

84



 
 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council could choose to administer this function itself.  The new streamlined process 

detailed in the Bill means that applications are subject to 7 days of consultation and then a 

decision has to be taken within a further 7 days, otherwise the licence is deemed to have 

been granted for a year (or less, up to 30 September 2021).  As this would be a new function 

for the Council there are currently no processes in place, no knowledge or experience of 

this function and existing staff capacity to take on this additional function is limited. If this 

was not in place by implementation there is a risk of deemed licences as a result of non-

determination.  Given the timescales, the Council is likely to only be able to put in place a 

fairly basic online process that focussed on meeting the minimum statutory obligations. 

3.2 The Council could delegate this function to another authority, such as Lincolnshire County 

Council which has the experience, staffing and processes in place to determine these 

licences.   This is currently being explored, however the details of the proposed arrangement 

were not available at the time of writing this report.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 As the Business and Planning Bill is not yet finalised and as the details of any arrangement 

with Lincolnshire County Council are not currently available, it is preferred that the Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, 

considers the final proposal once it is available and agrees the most appropriate method to 

deliver this function.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To ensure that the Council can meet its obligations to determine pavement licences under 

the new Act in an effective manner.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Once received, the final detailed proposal from Lincolnshire County Council will be 

considered in line with the recommendation of this report.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 Lincolnshire County Council has indicated that there would be no cost to the Council in 

delegating authority to it to deliver the function.  

7.2 If the Council chose not to delegate authority and administer the function itself, there would 

be staffing costs associated with setting up and administering the function.  The volume of 

applications is unknown and may result in additional staffing resource being required to 

process them within the statutory timescale. Therefore, it is not possible to quantify the 

financial implications at this time if this option was taken forward but it is suggested that the 

resource implication is one factor that will be taken into consideration when determining the 

preferred solution.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Business and Planning Bill has not yet passed into legislation and there is still the 

possibility that it may be amended, however, the Council should prepare for the Act to be 

implemented in its current form. 

85



 
 

8.2 The Council may delegate executive functions to other local authorities or under joint 

arrangements, subject to access to information rules. 

8.3 It is possible for any delegation of functions to another authority to be rescinded at a later 

date. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

No equality implications have been identified as this report relates to the implementation of 

legislation, which concerns the licensing of businesses.  However, the Bill makes provision 

for a mandatory national licence condition which will ensure that clear routes of access along 

the highway are maintained, taking into account the needs of disabled people, and the 

recommended minimum footway widths and distances required for access by mobility 

impaired and visually impaired people. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Significant risks and their mitigation have been considered in the body of the report.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 The approval of pavement licences with appropriate local conditions provides a framework 

for enforcement (remediation notices and revocation provisions) should poor behaviour 

associated with the licence be experienced.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The determination of pavement licences by the Council or delegation to another authority 

is considered carbon neutral.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 The Business and Planning Bill 2019-2021 

14.2 Government draft guidance: pavement licences (outdoor seating proposal) 

15 Appendices 

None  

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan 
(if required) 

Not applicable – the matter is 
being determined under the 
Special Urgency procedure 

Final Decision date   7 July 2020 

 

86

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/lbill/58-01/119/5801119.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pavement-licences-draft-guidance/draft-guidance-pavement-licences-outdoor-seating-proposal


URGENT DECISION 

Notice is hereby given that a decision has been taken under the 

special urgency provisions set out in Section 11 of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 

Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

The decision relates to the Planning and Business Bill – Pavement 

Licences 

 

The decision is being taken under these provisions because new 

legislation is rapidly passing through Parliament. The legislation, 

which will come into immediate effect, is expected to be made within 

the next two weeks. The Council needs to make preparations in 

advance of this to ensure the legislation can be implemented.  

 

 

       Shahin Ismail 
       Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices 

St. Peter's Hill 
Grantham 

 
 

Friday, 03 July 2020 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Officer Delegated 
Decision 
27 May 2020 

  

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

         
  

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: Furlough of Arts 
and Culture Staff 

Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to be redeployed 
elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as fees and charges. The report 
sets out the case to furlough 58 staff in the arts and culture area. 
 
The report recommends the furloughing of staff in the arts and culture area as per the case set out 
in the report. 
 

Decision 
made by: 

Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

Decision: To furlough 58 staff from Stamford Arts Centre and the Grantham Guildhall 
based on an assessment of knowledge, skills and experience backdating the 
claim to 23 March 2020 

  27 May 2020  

Public or 
Exempt: 

Public 

Reasons for 
exemption: 

Not applicable 

Conflicts of 
interest: 

No 

Policy 
compliant: 

Yes  

Details of 
delegation: 

The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme Key Decision taken by the Leader of 
the Council on 22 April 2020 gave delegated authority to the Chief Executive to 
furlough staff. The delegation stated that any such decision should be taken in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council: 
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074)  

 

Contact 

Michael Cross, Head of Arts  

 
01476 406129 

 michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk 

89

Appendix 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 This report sets out proposals for the furloughing of 58 arts and cultural services staff. 

1.2 South Kesteven District Council’s arts venues in Stamford and Grantham have been 

closed since 23 March 2020, with limited access by designated staff only to maintain 

security, ensure property issues are reported and take remedial action where necessary.    

1.3 The Coronavirus (covid-19) pandemic has created great uncertainty for the cultural sector 

globally and venues across the UK are working on a series of scenarios for how business 

might be resumed when restrictions are eased.  

1.4 Whilst preparations for the initial closure covered the period until 1 June 2020, much of the 

summer schedule, until early September, has been moved to later in the year – or into 

2021. 

1.5 At the time of writing this paper, the country continues to operate under some restrictions 

and the position of easing restrictions for arts venues is unclear. A date in early July has 

been suggested, but this is without any certainty. 

1.6 There are many different scenarios being considered for when ‘normality’ might resume; 

some are looking at a 12-month period, but few are anticipating less than 6 months. When 

Government permit events to go-ahead in cinemas and other cultural venues the 

considerations around social distancing and other requirements will continue to have a 

negative impact on service delivery. 

1.7 A limited number of the team are working from home, with the necessary IT and telephony 

equipment. From these, a small number are also redeployed with SK Community Hub 

shifts. 

1.8 A regular project team (of seven staff) meet weekly, to deliver a fortnightly e-Newsletter 

providing arts and cultural activity links and information to residents and for local 

practitioners to promote their work and online services. A Virtual Arts Programme of 

events is also in planning. 

1.9 Both arts centre websites and email addresses are monitored regularly, with action taken 

as necessary to maintain effective customer service measures. 

1.10 A key decision has been made which accepted that the Coronavirus Job Retention 

Scheme may be suitable for discrete staff groups, in exceptional circumstances. As part of 

the decision, it was agreed that where staff are furloughed the Council would top up the 

government’s scheme of paying 80% of wage costs so that they would not experience a 

reduction in salary income or pension contributions. 

1.11 The key decision report also gave delegated authority to the Chief Executive to furlough 

staff, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, and requires that any such decision be 

reported to Council. This report considers whether it would be suitable for staff employed 

in the Stamford Arts Centre and the Grantham Guildhall based on the criteria with the 

furlough policy: 

a) That the Council accepts that furloughing of Council staff is generally not 
appropriate for staff funded directly through public funds 

b) Where staff are not able to carry out their usual work, all employers in the public 
sector should make every effort to redeploy employees to assist with the 
Government’s response. This could include redeployment within the current 
organisation, or to other areas of the public sector 

90



 
 

c) Furloughing may be appropriate in exceptional cases for staff who are not able to 
be redeployed elsewhere and whose funding comes from private funds, such as 
fees and charges 

d) Where staff are furloughed, the Council will top up the government’s scheme from 
80% to 100% so that staff will not experience a reduction in salary income or 
pension contributions  

2 Comments of Consultees 

2.1 Consultation was made with Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet Member for 

Culture and Visitor Economy). “Severe loss of revenue generation across both venues is 

creating significant pressure on the Arts budgets. Financial support for staff members 

reliant on a full programme of activity will make a vital contribution to the overall budget.” 

3 Available Options Considered 

Furloughing no staff in the Arts Venues 

3.1 The majority of Staff from both venues could not be redeployed because they are 

fundamentally venue based, without personal access to corporate IT equipment and there 

would be insufficient budget to pay them as the service is significantly funded through the 

box office receipts, commissions, rentals and other hire charges it collects through 

activities held in the venues and by providing a third party box office service. The revenue-

earning element of the service has been eradicated almost completely during the closure 

period. 

Furloughing all staff in the Arts Venues 

3.2 It would not be possible to furlough all staff within the service because there are 

operational, promotional and longer-term community project activities that are carried out 

by the team, which would need to continue. There is ongoing communication with 

professional touring companies, tenants, producers and other suppliers in relation to the 

longer-term programme and preparations for a phased return to business. 

Furloughing a proportion of staff 

3.3 Maintaining sufficient staff to carry out operational, promotional and longer-term project 

activities duties, ensuring that the service can continue to respond during the various 

stages of the COVID-19 lockdown period. This is the preferred option. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To recommend to furlough 58 staff from the Cultural Services team with roles involving 

customer-service, administration and technical duties totally dependent on access to the 

venue, a physical programme of shows to sell and patrons to serve. A small team of staff 

are necessary to maintain a core service. Those staff who will be retained have been 

identified as having the knowledge, skills and breadth and depth of experience required for 

this. 

4.2 Where possible we will seek to backdate the furlough claim to 23 March 2020. 

5 Reasons for the Decision (s) 

5.1 It is necessary to assess the proposed furloughing of staff against the policy that has been 

agreed. 

5.2 Both venues are reliant on income received through box office receipts, hires, rents, bar 

and catering sales, commissions and other sources. This revenue is currently unavailable 

91



 
 

due to the current closure. No income creates a significant deficit with the overall arts 

budget. 

5.3 Arts Centre staff members included in this decision are all venue based and deliver task 

specific duties. They do not have access to IT equipment or mobile telephones. 

5.4 A review has been taken of potential duties that might arise during the furlough period 

covered by this decision and appropriate staff retained to deliver these functions. This 

process has been used as the basis for considering the proportion of staff who would be 

put forward for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. 

5.5 The decrease in fee-earning income is reflected in reduced demand for services. There 

has also been a reduction in future bookings, online enquiries from patrons and from 

prospective tour bookers and hirers.   

5.6 An assessment has been carried out to establish the required number of staff to deliver 

business continuity functions and maintain the service in the context of that reduced 

demand. It is therefore apparent that there is insufficient work should all staff within the 

service be retained. 

5.7 Several staff members from Cultural Services have already taken up opportunities for 

redeployment across the council - no budgetary provision has been made within services 

to cover this re-charge. 

5.8 The policy adopted by the Council indicates that furlough will only be considered in 

exceptional circumstances and only where it is not possible to redeploy those members of 

staff. 

5.9 A significant number of staff members who are to be furloughed work within the Front-of-

House teams. They provide services directly linked to their wages being covered by 

income generated through Box Office receipts, bar and catering sales and other events 

presented by hirers.   

5.10 Those staff members who are to be furloughed have been identified by scoring individuals’ 

knowledge of the role, customers and systems, skills and the breadth and depth of their 

experience. The assessment has also considered whether there are any staff members 

who are already shielding or self-isolating because of health issues. 

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 The employer (the Council) can claim 80% of the regular wages for each employee 

through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme up to a monthly cap of £2,500 per 

employee.  The employer will also be able to claim back the NI contributions for each 

employee during the period.  The employee will still pay tax and other deductions from 

their income for the period.  The employee will not be able to be redeployed by the Council 

whilst on furlough.  The funding, when received will be used to offset the operational costs 

of those specific services.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 If a decision is taken to furlough staff this will involve changing employees’ contracts and 

should be agreed with them, and with recognised trade unions.  Following this, the Council 

will need to write to them to confirm that they are being furloughed from a specified date 

for a minimum of three weeks.  

92



 
 

7.2 The national picture shows that many local authorities are furloughing increasing numbers 

of staff. It is not clear whether HMRC will accept all public sector furlough applications and 

so the Council is advised to continue to apply its policy to furlough in exceptional 

circumstances only. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

8 Risk and mitigation 

8.1 HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) may carry out an audit of any claims submitted and 

there is a risk that if SKDC was audited that HMRC could decide that claims are not valid.  

At this time there is no information about what the consequences of this could be. 

8.2 Staff that are furloughed may subsequently not be accepted by the government’s scheme, 

which means the service would have to stand the full cost of keeping that employee. 

9 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

9.1 Furloughing employees may have a negative impact on wellbeing due to the temporary 

removal and purpose of the employee’s role and will also detach them from their 

colleagues. All current communication channels will be maintained with those employees 

placed on furlough as well as access to organisational communications, including 

wellbeing messages, key organisational messages and emotional support. Furloughed 

staff will continue to be advised on plans and proposals for future reopening.     

10 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate’ emergency? 

10.1 This decision has a positive carbon impact. The temporary reduction in staff will lead to 

reduced vehicle use.  

11 Background papers 

11.1 Key decision report: Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074  

Report Timeline: Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicable 

Date decision effective  27 May 2020 

 

Signed by: 

  _______________________________________________________________ 

  Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

 

Date:  _______________________________________________________________ 

 

In consultation with:  

  _______________________________________________________________ 

  Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 

 

Date:  ______________________________________________________________ 

93

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27074


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Officer Delegated 
Decision 
12 June 2020 

 Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

         
  

 

Public Conveniences 

As part of the Council’s emergency response to the COVID-19 pandemic and national 
movement/business restrictions, South Kesteven District Council closed its public conveniences in 
March 2020.  In recognition of the Government’s moves to ease movement restrictions and to 
allow non-essential retail to reopen, it is proposed that the Council reopens its public 
conveniences from Monday 15 June 2020. 

 

Decision made by: Karen Bradford 

Decision: To reopen South Kesteven District Council’s public 
conveniences from 15 June 2020 

Date: 12 June 2020 

Public or Exempt: Public 

Reasons for exemption: Not applicable  

Conflicts of interest: No 

Policy compliant: Yes 

Details of delegation: The Chief Executive may take action regarding operational 
procedures to ensure continued delivery of service 

 

 

Contact 

Gary Smith, Strategic Director - Commercial & Operations 

 
 01476 406080 

  gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

95

Appendix 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council closed its public conveniences in March 2020 in response 

to the COVID-19 risks and Government movement and business restrictions. 

1.2 Following the reduction in new COVID-19 infections, the Government has begun to ease 

movement and business restrictions.  This includes allowing non-essential retail to reopen 

from 15 June 2020. 

1.3 It is proposed that the Council reopens all of its public conveniences, which were shut in 

March 2020, from Monday 15 June 2020 to support the ‘reopening’ of the district’s town 

centres.  Those public conveniences that were fee paying will continue to be fee paying. 

2 Comments of Consultees 

2.1 The Leader has been consulted and backs the reopening of South Kesteven District 

Council’s public conveniences. 

2.2 The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations supports the reopening of the 

Council’s public conveniences. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council’s public conveniences could remain shut.  The provision of public 

conveniences is a discretionary, rather than statutory service, so it could be decided not to 

reopen them. 

3.2 The Council’s public conveniences could reopen and include attendants at the Abbey 

Gardens (Grantham) and Red Lion Square (Stamford) facilities.  However, this would not 

enable social distancing and would increase the risk to the public and staff. 

3.3 The Council’s public conveniences could reopen and be fully unattended to comply with 

the COVID-19 service risk assessment.  Other COVID-19 safety measures and mitigations 

have been considered and will be implemented if appropriate in line with guidance, social 

distancing requirements and as identified through the service risk assessment.  These 

safety measures include signage (to encourage hand washing, hand sanitising and social 

distancing), taking out of service alternate sinks/urinals and specific, regular cleaning 

procedures. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 It is recommended that the Council’s public conveniences reopen and be fully unattended 

to comply with the COVID-19 service risk assessment. 

5 Reasons for the Decision (s) 

5.1 This strikes the right balance between enabling the use of these facilities whilst complying 

with COVID-19 restrictions and risks.  There would be an emphasis on patrons taking self-

responsibility and continued personal hygiene. 

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 There are no additional financial implications as the costs for reopening public 

conveniences can be met from within existing resources. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 

96



 

 
 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 The opening of public conveniences is allowed under the exemption granted to public 

toilets under Schedule 2, Part 3 of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) 

(England) Regulations 2020, which set out the businesses and venue closures and 

restrictions. 

7.2 The Council has authority under section 87 of the Public Health Act 1936 (as amended) to 

provide public conveniences but it is not obliged to do so.  Where the Authority provides 

such conveniences, regard must be had to the needs of disabled persons, and provision 

must be made so far as practicable and reasonable to meet those needs.  If the Authority 

chooses to exercise this power, it also has the ability to enter into agreements with third 

parties to achieve the outcomes, either under the Local Government Act 1972 or the 

Localism Act 2011. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

8.1 The decision to reopen the Council’s public conveniences to coincide with the reopening 

of the District’s ‘High Streets’ has been taken to ensure that people have equitable access 

to services.  Facilities for persons with disability remain accessible via RADAR key.  Any 

reduction in facility/service provided has been introduced in the interests of public 

protection relating to COVID-19 and the requirements placed on society for social 

distancing.  Considerations explored during preparations to reopen the public 

conveniences did not identify any potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 

opportunities to promote equality have been taken. 

8.2 However, should any negative impact to persons with a relevant protected characteristic 

be identified once the reopening is implemented, all reasonable adjustment will be made 

to meet the need of patrons. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

9.1 The reopening of public conveniences will have a minor negative impact on the Council’s 

carbon footprint through increased electricity and water usage as well as increased 

consumables to maintain them. 

Report Timeline: Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicable 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in)  12 June 2020 

 

Signed by:   Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

Date:    12 June 2020 

In consultation with:  Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 

Date:    12 June 2020 

 

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Officer Delegated 
Decision 
7 July 2020 

  
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

           

 

Virtual Council meeting procedures during COVID-19 
restriction period 

This decision sets out updates that have been made to the meeting procedures for Virtual Council 
meetings and how it is adopting provisions within the Local Authorities and Police and Crime 
Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020. 

 

Decision made by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

Decision: To update the meeting procedures for Virtual Council meetings  

Date: 7 July 2020 

Public or Exempt: Public 

Reasons for exemption: Not applicable 

Conflicts of interest: No 

Policy compliant: Yes 

Details of delegation: Officer delegations at Article 16 of the Council’s Constitution 

 

 

Contact 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

99

Appendix 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 

Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 

make provision for local authorities to hold virtual meetings during the coronavirus 

pandemic. 

1.2 On 1 May 2020, and in advance of the Council’s first virtual Full Council meeting on 14 

May 2020, the Chief Executive made an Officer Delegated Decision to adopt Council 

Procedure Rules under the Coronavirus legislation. The procedures that were adopted 

included the temporary suspension of the public open forum, Members’ open questions 

and motions on notice. The initial procedures recognised the complexity of virtual 

meetings and the need for participants to become accustomed to new technology. The 

focus at this first meeting was transparent, robust decision-making. 

1.3 The review of the Council procedures in July 2020 is about making provision for the 

Council to progress. 

1.4 Members have now had the opportunity to attend a range of formal and informal meetings 

hosted through Skype for Business and are more confident with the technology. The 

procedures have been reviewed in light of this, and lessons learned. 

2 Comments of Consultees 

2.1 The Chairman of the Council and the Leader of the Council have both been consulted and 

are in support of the changes. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Possible alternatives are: 

a) To retain the procedure originally agreed on 1 May – this would mean that 
members of the public would not have the opportunity to engage with Council 
meetings and reduce the opportunity for backbench and opposition councillors to 
bring forward matters about which they are concerned or wish to ask questions. 

b) To revert to the full Council Procedure Rules set out in the Constitution – while 
some arrangements are easily transferrable, other elements are complex and could 
have a detrimental impact on the smooth-running of the meeting. 

c) Adopting a set of procedures that constitutes a midway point between those 
approved on 1 May 2020 and the Procedure Rules set out in the Constitution.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is to adopt a set of procedures (attached as Appendix 1) that 

encapsulate the framework of the Council Procedure Rules as presented in the 

Constitution, but incorporate measures to promote the smooth-running of the meeting. The 

additions to the procedures are shown in blue italics, where there is something in those 

added sections that deviates from the Council Procedure Rules, the revised text is 

underlined. Deletions are shown in italic text which is struck through. 

4.2 The main changes are set out below: 

a) Public Open Forum 

While Members of the public are already required to provide questions in advance 
of the meeting, the revised procedure would require them to submit a copy of any 

100



 

 
 

statement that they wished to make. This reflects the procedure in place for any 
member of the public who wishes to speak at meetings of the Planning Committee. 
Provision of a written statement means that if a member of the public is unable to 
successfully connect to the meeting, an officer will be able to read out the statement 
on their behalf. Experience to date has indicated that most members of the public 
who speak at a Planning Committee have successfully managed to join and deliver 
their speech and two people have been unable. In the first instance, a colleague of 
the speaker was able to read their address, in the second, the submitted statement 
was read by a member of the governance team. A copy of the recording of the 
meeting could then be shared on the Council website so that the member of the 
public could hear their statement being put. 

b) Members’ Open Questions 

While broadly the same as the provisions within Article 4 of the Constitution, one 
change is proposed. Where possible Members are being asked to register their 
intent to ask a question; this would not preclude any other Member indicating 
through the ‘Chat’ function that they wish to ask a question. Those Members who 
had pre-registered would be called on first, giving other Members the opportunity to 
indicate their wish to speak and a list to be compiled. 

c) Motions on Notice 

No procedural changes are proposed in respect of motions on notice. The relevant 
provisions have been brought forward as set out in the Council Procedure Rules 
within Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

4.3 Other changes within the procedures are drawn from lessons learned; for instance, giving 

Members control of their own microphones during meetings.  

5 Reasons for the Decision (s) 

5.1 By reviewing the procedures and incorporating the changes highlighted in the version at 

Appendix 1, Council meetings will start to follow a more normal pattern, providing greater 

transparency and accountability. The initial procedure was a useful tool to ensure any 

urgent decisions that needed to be made could be but there is recognition of the need to 

progress. 

6 Financial Implications  

6.1 There are no financial implications arising as a result of this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 The legal and governance implications are covered within the body of this report.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

8 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

8.1 There may be implications for those members of the public who do not have access to IT 

to be able to join the meeting. Regrettably, there are few mitigation measures that can be 

taken, but the impact is considered to be low as the Skype for Business application can 

easily be downloaded by all those who have a smart device. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

101



 

 
 

9.1 The carbon footprint of officers and members involved in virtual meetings will be greatly 

reduced, as very few people will be required to attend the meetings in person. 

10 Appendices 

10.1 Appendix 1: Virtual Council meeting protocol (revised July 2020) 

Report Timeline: Call-in deadline (where applicable) Not applicable 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in)  7 July 2020 

 

Signed by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

 

Date:  7 July 2020  

 

In consultation with: Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 

 

Date:  7 July 2020 

 

 

102



 
 
Virtual Meetings through Skype for 
Business 

Full Council Protocol 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 

Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2020 make provision for remote attendance at, and remote access to Council 

meetings held on or before 7 May 2021. 

1.2 The Regulations enable the Council to hold meetings without all, or any, of the 

Members being physically present in the room. They allow for remote meetings 

through electronic and digital means at virtual locations using video and telephone 

conference, live webcast and live interactive streaming. 

1.3 The “place” at which the meeting may be held may be a council meeting, or where 

the organiser of the meeting is located, or an electronic, digital or virtual location, a 

web address or a conference call telephone number. 

1.4 In order for Members to be able to attend meetings of the Council remotely, they 

need not be physically present, provided they are able to hear and be heard (and 

where practicable, see and be seen) by other Councillors and members of the public 

attending remotely or in person. 

1.5 The procedure rules in this protocol replace Council standing orders for all Virtual 

Council Meetings held during the Covid-19 response period until 7 May 2021.  

1.6 In line with the Regulations, this protocol is designed to provide a guide to virtual 

Council meetings involving Members, officers and the public during the Covid-19 

crisis and will be kept under review.  

 

2.0 Access to documents 

2.1 Democratic Services will publish the agenda and reports for Council meetings on the 

Council’s website and will notify Councillors by e-mail. Councillors will be supplied 

with a hard copy of the agenda unless they have expressly requested otherwise. 

 

103



3.0 Public / press access 

3.1 Details of how members of the press and public can join the meeting will be included 

on the meeting Agenda cover sheet 

3.2 Members of the public can also e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk and the 

team will talk them through how they can enter the meeting 

3.3 Members of the public wishing to attend the meeting will do so through Skype for 

Business  

3.4 Members of the public using a smartphone or tablet may need to download the app 

before they can enter, so sufficient time should be allowed for this. The app can be 

downloaded for free through the app store on Apple devices and Google Play Store 

on android devices  

3.5 Users accessing the meeting via a laptop or desktop computer should be able to 

access the meeting via their web browser 

3.6 When members of the public follow the link to the meeting, they will enter a virtual 

lobby 

3.7 Members of the public will be invited into the meeting from the lobby just prior to its 

commencement 

3.8 Members of the public will be able to see which members are indicating to speak 

through the Chat function. Members of the public are not permitted to use the Chat 

function and the Chair will make an announcement at the start of the meeting.  

 

4.0 Before the meeting 

4.1 Members of Council will be sent an invitation that provides them with a link to the 

meeting 

4.2 All Members should be present in the virtual meeting environment 30-minutes before 

the published start time of the Council meeting 

4.3 Officers will ensure that Members have been able to successfully join the meeting 

and brief them on: 

• How they can request to speak 

• How their microphone will work 

• Any rules about how long they can speak for  

• How to “pin” the people they need to see to their screen 

• How to see participants 

• What happens if it is necessary to go into exempt session 

• General etiquette  

4.4 Just before the start time, the Meeting Clerk will start the recording.  

4.5 The Technical Clerk will invite any members of the public in from the lobby and will 

also be responsible for turning microphones on and off. 

 
 

 

104

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


5.0 Opening the meeting  

5.1 The Chairman will open the meeting in the usual manner 

5.2 The Chairman will remind all present of the following:  

• Members and officers will have control of their own microphone once the 
meeting has started their microphone released and turned off for them 

• Speakers will be advised when they have 30 seconds left and when their time 
is up 

• That the meeting is being recorded 

• All present should turn off their telephones or put them onto silent mode 

• The chat facility is for use by Councillors only to indicate that they wish to 
speak. Members of the public must not use the chat function. 

 

6.0 The Public Open Forum 

6.1 Residents of the District or any non-domestic ratepayer may ask a question of any 

Member of the Council or make a statement on any item on the agenda of an 

ordinary meeting during a period of no longer than 30 minutes set aside at the start of 

the meeting.  

6.2  Notice of any question or intention to speak should be delivered in writing by e-mail 

to the Chief Executive at least 3 working days before the day of the meeting. The 

written notice must include the wording of the questions to be put or the script for any 

statement that will be made. 

6.3 The request must give the name and address of the speaker or questioner and must 

name the Councillor to whom a question is to be put or the item on the agenda to be 

addressed. 

6.4 The Chairman may direct a question to another member if more appropriate and they 

agree to accept it. 

6.5 Questions will be asked, and speeches made in the order in which notice of them 

was received, except that the Chairman may group together similar questions or 

items to be spoken on.  

6.6 Each question or speech will be subject to a total time limit of 5 minutes.  

6.7 At any one meeting, no person or organisation may submit more than two questions 

or speak on more than two items on the agenda of the relevant meeting. 

6.8 No more than six such questions or speeches will be tabled or delivered at any one 

meeting. 

6.9 If more than six notices of intention to speak are received, the first six received will be 

invited to attend to speak on the agenda item. Any questions tabled for that same 

meeting will be dealt with by way of written response or held over until the next 

meeting at the request of the questioner. 

6.10 The Chief Executive may reject a question or prevent the right to speak if it: 

• Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which 

directly affects the district or is not an item on the agenda of the relevant 

meeting. 

• Is or becomes defamatory, frivolous, objectionable, improper or offensive. 

• Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 

the Council in the past 6-months (in respect of questions only). 

• Requires disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

105



6.11 The Chief Executive will make a record of questions and requests to speak submitted 

correctly, which will be open to public inspection. 

6.12 Rejected questions and requests to speak will be set out with reasons for rejection. 

Any questions or statements deemed to be defamatory will not be recorded or open 

for public inspection. 

6.13 Copies of all questions and requests to speak will be published as a supplement to 

the agenda pack for the meeting. 

6.14 A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary 

question without notice to the Member who has replied to their original question. The 

supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 

6.15 The Chairman may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds listed 

above or if the time limit has expired. 

6.16 Any question which cannot be dealt with during the public open forum, either 

because of lack of time or the non-attendance of the member to whom it was to be 

put, will be dealt with by a written answer within 7 working days of the meeting. 

6.17 Unless the Chairman decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any 

question or speech but any Member may move that a matter raised by a question or 

speech is referred to the Cabinet or the appropriate committee. Once seconded, such 

a motion will be voted on without discussion.  

 

7.0 Confirming who is present 

7.1 A Member is deemed to be present, for the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, so 
long as they can:  

• Hear, and (where practicable) see others in the meeting 

• Be seen and heard by other Members and the public 
 

7.2 The first item on every agenda will be a Register of Attendance 

7.3 The Chief Executive will call the name of each Member in alphabetical order the 
order listed on the agenda coversheet. Members should respond with the word 
“present”. 

7.4 The Chief Executive will call the name of each officer in attendance. Officers should 
respond with the word “present”. 

7.5 The Meeting Clerk will confirm if the meeting is quorate (a quorum for Council is 14 
Members).   

 

8.0 Approving minutes 

8.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman will propose and second the minutes of the 
previous meeting. Any comment on the accuracy of the minutes will only be permitted 
for substantial inaccuracies.  

 

9.0 Disclosure of Interests 

9.1 If you think you have an interest in an item or would like any advice, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team before the meeting 

9.2 The Chairman will ask for disclosures of interests  

106



9.3 Any member with an interest will indicate through the ‘Chat’ function that they wish to 
disclose an interest 

9.4 Following a brief pause, the Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to list aloud the 
Members who have indicated they have an interest to disclose 

9.5 The Chairman will call their names in turn and the Technical Clerk will release the 
Member’s microphone 

9.6 The Member will make their disclosure and the Member Technical Clerk will turn off 
their microphone 

9.7 The Technical Clerk will make a note of which Members disclose an interest in which 
items and will remove them from the meeting prior to the commencement of that item 
and will confirm to the Chairman when this has been done 

9.8 The ejected Member should leave Skype for Business open and wait to be invited 
back into the meeting (when a Member is removed from the meeting a banner will 
give them the option to re-join; they should not click on this banner as it will bring 
them straight back into the meeting)  

9.9 The item will be considered 

9.10 The Technical Clerk will invite any Members who have disclosed interests back into 
the meeting 

 

10.0 Proposing and seconding 

10.1 Items still need to be proposed and seconded 

10.2 The Chairman will invite the relevant Cabinet Member or Chairman of the relevant 
Committee to propose the recommendations in a report 

10.3 Prior to the meeting, the Chairman will have been advised of who will be seconding 
the recommendations and call on them to do this 

 

11.0 Debate  

11.1 The Chairman will ask whether anyone wishes to speak, and pause for a moment to 
allow Members to register 

11.2 Members should indicate that they wish to speak through the Skype for Business 
‘Chat’ function by typing “me” 

11.3 The Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to list members who have indicated they 
wish to speak 

11.4 The Chairman will call Members in order 

11.5 The Technical Clerk will release and mute microphones Once called, the Member will 
turn on their microphone. When they have finished speaking, they will turn off their 
microphone 

11.6 The Chairman will ask the Technical Clerk to confirm any more speakers  

11.7 Each Member may speak for no more than 5 minutes  

11.8 Each Member may speak once on any proposition (except the proposer, who will 
have 5 minutes to sum up at the end of the debate) 

11.9 There will be no points of order or personal explanation 

107



11.10 Speeches will be timed by the Technical Clerk. Speakers will be advised when they 
have 30 seconds left and when their time is up 

11.11 Members must not present or share their screens during debate 

 

12 Amendments 

12.1 Members are asked to consider carefully the need for amendments 

12.2 Where a Member knows before the meeting that they wish to make an amendment, 
they are asked to e-mail a copy of the wording to democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk 
prior to the meeting’s commencement 

 

13 Voting 

13.2 Votes will be by roll call in the order the names appear on the front of the agenda, 
with the exception of the chairman, who will be called last 

13.3 As each Member’s name is called by the Chief Executive, they will state whether they 
are for, against or abstain 

13.4 The Meeting Clerk and Legal Adviser will confirm their records tally and the Meeting 
Clerk will confirm the number of votes cast for, against and in abstention and whether 
the proposition has been carried 

13.5 Only the outcome of the vote will be noted in the minutes unless a recorded vote has 
been requested prior to the vote taking place 

 

14 Members’ Open Questions 

14.1 With the exception of the Budget Council meeting, Members’ Open Questions will be 
included on the agenda for all ordinary meetings of the Council. 

14.2 Time allowed for questions will be a maximum of 45 minutes 

14.3 Questions should be addressed to: the Leader, Cabinet Members, Chairmen or Vice-
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders 

14.4 No questions are to be addressed to the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Planning 
Committee, Licensing Committee (or Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night 
Refreshment Licensing Committee), Governance and Audit Committee or any officer. 

14.5 Questions will be on a ‘first come, first served’ basis until either all requests have 
been exhausted or 45 minutes has elapsed. Where a Member knows they would like 
to ask a question, they should e-mail notice of that intention to 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. They will be called on first. This will not prevent 
Members indicating through the Chat Function of Skype for Business that they wish 
to ask a question. 

14.6 No debate, speech or statement is to take place and Members are limited to one 
question per meeting. No supplementary questions can be asked.  

14.7 The response to any question that has been asked but not answered at the meeting 
is to be made available at the start of questions at the next full Council meeting. 

14.8 Questions will not be recorded verbatim in the Council minutes. A summary of the 
question and answer will be provided. 

14.9 Members must show respect to each other during the session. 

108

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


14.10 A question will be rejected by the Chairman: 

• If it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or 
which directly affects the district 

• If it is of a defamatory, frivolous, objectionable, improper or offensive nature 

• If it is substantially the same as a question that has been put at a meeting of 
the Council in the past 6-months 

• If the answer requires disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 

 

15 Motions on Notice 

15.1 Except for motions that can be moved without notice, written notice of every motion 
must be delivered in writing to the Chief Executive at least 9 working days before the 
date of the meeting at which it is to be moved. 

15.2 Motions on notice will be recorded in the order in which they are received and open 
to public inspection. 

15.3 Any motion which purports to contravene current legislation or the arrangements or 
terms of the Council’s Constitution can be excluded by the Chief Executive in 
advance or at the meeting at which it is proposed to be debated. 

15.4 Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in 
which they were received unless the Member giving notice states in writing that they 
propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it. 

15.5 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which 
directly affect the district.  

15.6 The content of any motion on notice shall consist of one subject matter. 

15.7  No motion on notice shall be debated in the absence of the Member who has 
proposed the motion. 

15.8 No Member shall have more than two notices of motion on the agenda for any 
meeting. 

 

16 Dealing with technical difficulties 

16.1 Loss of public access 

• If the Chairman is made aware that technical connection problems have 
prevented members of the public accessing the meeting, the meeting will be 
adjourned without further consideration of any items 

• If access cannot be restored within a reasonable period, the remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman 

• If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary Virtual Meeting  

 

16.2 Loss of Member connection 

• If a member loses connectivity for more than a few seconds, they will have 
been deemed to have left the meeting  

109



• The Chairman may adjourn the meeting for a short period to try to reconnect 
the Member (a member of the IT team will be available to help troubleshoot any 
problems) 

• If the Member cannot re-join and the meeting is quorate, the remaining 
business of the meeting shall be transacted in the absence of the Member  

• If the connection is re-established while the meeting is still in progress, the 
member will have been considered as having re-joined it at that point 

• If the meeting is inquorate, the meeting must be adjourned and remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman 

• If the Chairman does not fix a date, outstanding business will be considered at 
the next ordinary Virtual Meeting 

 

17.0 Dealing with disruption 

17.1 The ‘Chat’ function in Skype for Business is solely for the use of Members, for 

Members to indicate their desire to speak. Members should not use the ‘Chat’ 

function for any other purpose. 

17.2 If a member of the public posts in the ‘Chat’ function, they will be asked not to use it 

17.3 Should the member of the public comment in the ‘Chat’ function for a second time, 
they will be removed from the meeting 

 

18.0 Exclusion of press and public 

18.1 Where it is necessary to exclude the press and public from the meeting to discuss 

confidential or exempt items (as defined Schedule 12A or the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended)) the Technical Clerk will ensure that there are no public in remote 

attendance or remotely accessing the meeting 

18.2 Each Member will be called in turn and must verbally declare that there are no other 

persons present who are not entitled to be present (either hearing or seeing) during 

consideration of such items, and/or recording the proceedings. Members should be 

particularly mindful to ensure any smart speakers (such as Amazon Alexa, or Google 

Home) do not record and transmit any exempt item. 

18.3 Any Member who fails to disclose that there were persons present who were not 

entitled to be there would be in breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

19.0 Conclusion of the meeting 

19.1 The Chairman will declare the meeting closed 

19.2 The Meeting Clerk will stop the recording of the meeting 

19.3 The Technical Clerk will close the meeting, which will remove all participants from the 
session 

 

20.0 The meeting recording 

20.1 The recording will be used to help the Meeting Clerk produce the minutes of the 
meeting 

110



20.2 The recording will be published on the Council’s website and retained in line with the 
Council’s retention Schedule (one year from the date of the meeting pending any 
outstanding challenge to a decision taken at that meeting when the recording will be 
retained as long as necessary) 

20.3 The minutes will be checked and published on the Council’s website 

 

Other matters  

• Equipment: Members and officers must only access Skype for Business and the 

meeting via the device that has been configured by SKDC for this purpose 

• Power: Meeting participants should remember to charge their device in advance 

of the meeting or ensure they are plugged into a power source 

• Location and background:  Meeting participants should consider their location 

for the meeting and what is visible in the background. A plain wall can create a good 

background for a remote meeting and participants should remove anything that they 

would not wish to be on view, such as family photos 

• Prepare some notes or lists for ease of reference during the meeting. This 

preparation may save you time when referring to the agenda and participating in the 

meeting   

• Find a suitable location for the meeting, where you will be comfortable and won’t be 

disturbed   

111



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Council 
16 July 2020 

Notice of Motion 

 Councillor Virginia Moran 

         
  

 

 

Background 

The Department for Transport and Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) have moved ahead 
with zero-emission ambitions and ‘green number plates’ have been confirmed for roll out from 
Autumn 2020. 

Drivers will be encouraged to switch to electric vehicles with the introduction of green number 
plates. Local authorities are encouraged to design and implement new policies and incentives to 
promote low emission vehicles, e.g. reduced parking rates and cost-free entry into zero-emission 
zones for those with a green number plate.  

Recommendations 

1. This Council resolves to grant free parking in Council car parks to ultra-low emission 
vehicles with ‘green’ registration plates. 

2. After six months of operation, this policy will be reviewed by the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

3. The free parking will not be permitted beyond the existing maximum parking periods. 

 

113

Agenda Item 6a

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Council 
16 July 2020 

Notice of Motion 

 Councillor Annie Mason 

         
  

 

Local authorities’ mental health challenge – motion to South Kesteven District Council 

As we move into the recovery phase of the COVID-19 crisis it is essential that the Council puts the 

Mental Health and Wellbeing of residents, staff and Councillors at the forefront of our agenda.  

Therefore, we ask the Council to sign the Mental Health Challenge, set out below: 

This Council notes: 

• 1 in 4 people will experience a mental health problem in any given year. 

• The World Health Organisation predicts that depression will be the second most common 
health condition worldwide by 2020. 

• Mental ill health costs some £105 billion each year in England alone. 

• People with a severe mental illness die up to 20 years younger than their peers in the UK. 

• There is often a circular relationship between mental health and issues such as housing, 
employment, family problems or debt. 

This council believes: 

• As a local authority we have a crucial role to play in improving the mental health of everyone 
in our community and tackling some of the widest and most entrenched inequalities in health. 

• Mental health should be a priority across all the local authority’s areas of responsibility, 
including housing, community safety and planning.  

• All councillors, whether members of the Executive or Scrutiny and in our community and 
casework roles, can play a positive role in championing mental health on an individual and 
strategic basis. 

This council resolves: 

• To sign the Local Authorities’ Mental Health Challenge run by Centre for Mental Health, 
Mental Health Foundation, Mental Health Providers Forum, Mind, Rethink Mental Illness, 
Royal College of Psychiatrists and YoungMinds.  

• We commit to appoint two elected Members as the Council’s joint ‘mental health champion’ 
(role details set out below). 

• We will identify a member of staff within the council to act as ‘lead officer’ for mental health 
(role details set out below) 

• The Council will also: 

1. Support positive mental health in our community, including in local schools, 
neighbourhoods and workplaces  

2. Work to reduce inequalities in mental health in our community 

3. Work with local partners to offer effective support for people with mental health needs 

115

Agenda Item 6b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


4. Tackle discrimination on the grounds of mental health in our community 

5. Proactively listen to people of all ages and backgrounds about what they need for 
better mental health. 

 

Member champion role description 

 

The role of Member champion for mental health may include, but not be limited by: 

• Advocating for mental health issues in Council meetings and policy development. 

• Reaching out to the local community (eg via schools, businesses, faith groups) to raise 
awareness and challenge stigma. 

• Listening to people with personal experience of mental ill health to get their perspectives on 
local needs and priorities 

• Scrutinising the work of local services that have an impact on mental health (eg health, social 
care, housing, police). 

• Fostering local partnerships between agencies to support people with mental health problems 
more effectively 

• Encouraging the Council to support the mental health of its own workforce and those of its 
contractors. 

 

The Member champion will have access to the following benefits to help them in these roles: 

• Advice and support from the mental health challenge national partners (usually by phone or 
email). 

• Access to resources on the challenge website members’ area. 

• A monthly update on relevant news, events and key policy developments. 

• An annual meeting with other Member champions to share intelligence, experiences and 
ideas. 

 

As local leaders for better mental health, we expect all member champions to: 

• Provide a vocal presence for mental health within their council where this is necessary. 

• Identify at least one priority each year for focused work. 

• Seek the views of people with lived experiences of mental ill health when identifying priorities 
and concerns. 

• Work respectfully, sensitively and empathically with people with mental health problems at 
all times. 

• Respond to occasional requests from the challenge coordinator for updates on activities 
undertaken in the role of member champion. 

 

We are aware that Member champions are elected Members of councils who have a number of 
competing priorities and limited time to put into the role of Member champion.  

The national partners reserve the right to raise concerns where Member champions whose conduct 
falls below the expectations set out above. Where steps are not taken to address concerns 
expressed by the national partners, Councils may be removed from the challenge membership. 

116



Lead officer role description 

 

The role of lead officer can be taken by any staff member in the Council. Their role may include, but 
not be limited by: 

• Providing information to the Member champion to support their work. 

• Advising the Member champion on current issues and priorities. 

• Supporting implementation of strategies initiated by the Member champion. 

• Raising awareness within the Council’s staff about mental health issues. 

• Seeking external support for activities led by the Council to promote mental health and 
wellbeing. 

• Liaising with the mental health challenge national partners to secure information and advice. 

 

The lead officer will also have access to the benefits described above for Member champions. 

 

117



This page is intentionally left blank



mental health of their communities, improve mental 
health care and create better life chances for people 
with mental health problems. 

Many of the most effective interventions are relatively 
inexpensive and represent excellent value for public 
funds. For example:

•	 Offering women better mental health support 
during pregnancy and in the year after childbirth 
can help to prevent serious problems developing. 
The cost of perinatal mental illness was recently 
estimated as £8.1 billion for each years’ births. 

•	 Evidence-based parenting programmes cost 
£1,300 per child. But by preventing or mitigating 
behavioural problems they can generate big 
savings over a child’s lifetime in health services, 
schools, the police and the criminal justice 
system.

•	 Specialist welfare advice can help people with 
mental	health	problems	to	manage	their	finances,	
stay in employment or keep their home when 
they	get	into	difficulty.	This	can	help	to	prevent	
an expensive relapse of ill health and prevent or 
shorten hospital admissions.

Welcome pack contents 

Fact Sheet, Five questions	for	your	council,	five	
questions for your public health team, Five questions 
for your local CCGs, Some examples of member 
champions’ activities to date 

Contact details:

Emma Bailey - Mental Health Challenge Coordinator

 emma.bailey@centreformentalhealth.org.uk

 @MH_Challenge

The local authority mental health challenge

Welcome to the Mental Health Challenge 
Thank you for becoming a member champion for 
mental health. 

You have joined a growing network of councillors 
from across England, of many different political 
persuasions and local areas, to speak up for mental 
health. 

As a member champion, you will get support 
and advice from seven national mental health 
organisations. And you will become part of a group of 
member champions with whom you can share ideas, 
seek advice and swap experiences.

To help you get started, we have provided some 
information about a range of mental health topics and 
some examples of what existing member champions 
have done so far in their local areas.

We know that every local area is different and every 
member champion will have their own unique 
priorities, interests, hopes and concerns. We look 
forward to working with you to help you do what you 
can, in whatever position you hold on your council, to 
make a difference.

Why mental health matters

Every year, one in four of us will experience a mental 
health problem. 

Only a quarter of adults and children with common 
mental health problems receive treatment or support.

The economic and social cost of mental ill health is 
£105 billion a year in England. 

People with schizophrenia die 15-20 years younger 
than average as a result of poor physical health. 

What makes a difference?

There is a growing evidence base for ways in which 
local councils and their partners can enhance the 

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

The mental health challenge is supported by:

119

mailto:emma.bailey%40centreformentalhealth.org.uk?subject=Mental%20Health%20Challenge
http://twitter.com/MH_Challenge


Only one third of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
measure levels of children and young people’s mental 
health locally. 

Parenting programmes can help families with young 
children who have behavioural problems and produce 
significant	long-term	benefits.	They	cost	£1,300	
per child. By comparison the lifetime public sector 
costs for a child with severe behavioural problems is 
£225,000.

How many children have mental health 
problems?

More than half of all adults with mental health 
problems were diagnosed in childhood. Only a 
quarter were treated appropriately at the time

1 in 10 children and young people aged 5 - 16 have a 
diagnosable mental health problem - that is around 
three children in every classroom.

Over the last 10 years the number of young people 
being admitted to hospital because of self-harm has 
increased by 68%.

Nearly 80,000 children and young people have severe 
depression, including over 8,000 children aged under 
10 years old.

The number of young people aged 15-16 with 
depression nearly doubled between the 1980s and 
2000s.

What are the links between mental and physical 
health? 

30% of people with a long-term physical health 
condition also have at least one mental health 
problem, such as anxiety or depression.

People with schizophrenia die on average 15–20 
years earlier than those without it; they have a life 
expectancy similar to that of the general population of 
England in the 1950s. 

The local authority mental health challenge

Fact Sheet
How common are mental health problems?

Mental health problems account for 23% of the total 
impact of ill health in the UK. 

They affect about 23% of us at any one time. The 
most common conditions are depression and anxiety, 
which affect about 17% of the population at a time.

By 2030, there will be approximately 2 million more 
adults in the UK with mental health problems than 
there are today.

How much do we spend on mental health care?

Only 13% of the NHS budget is allocated to mental 
health care but mental health problems account for 
23% of the total impact of ill health in the UK. 

How many people get treatment or support for a 
mental health problem?

Only 24% of people with anxiety and depression 
currently access treatment, compared with the 51% 
treatment rate for arthritis, 72% treatment rate for 
chronic pain and 92% for diabetes.

Referrals to mental health services continue to 
increase. Monthly referrals to community mental 
health teams were up 13% in 2013, and up 16% for 
crisis services.

The number of adults with mental health problems 
receiving social care support fell by 48% between 
2005/06 and 2012/13. 

How much is done to prevent mental health 
problems?

Only 1.4% of public health spending is allocated to 
mental health, while just 0.03% of the NHS mental 
health budget is spent on promoting good mental 
health.

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

The mental health challenge is supported by:

120



Fewer than 15% of local areas have fully functioning 
specialist perinatal mental health services that are 
recommended in national guidance and 40% provide 
no such service at all.

Do stigma and discrimination still affect people 
with mental health problems?

Nearly nine out of ten people with a mental 
health problem say they have faced stigma or 
discrimination. 

Time to Change is a national anti-stigma campaign. 
Since it began in 2007, the average level of 
discrimination that people with mental health 
problems report has dropped by 5.5%, and public 
attitudes towards mental health have improved by 
3.6%.

What social groups have the worst health?

72% of children in local authority care have 
behavioural or emotional problems.

Around 70% of homeless people have a mental 
health problem.

People from some Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
communities have higher reported rates of psychosis: 
for example Black African and Caribbean men 
are three times more likely to be diagnosed with 
schizophrenia than white men.

90% of prisoners have at least one mental health 
problem, including drug or alcohol dependency.

10% of prisoners have psychosis: ten times the 
national average. 

Where do I go for more information?

For statistics about local areas, visit the National 
Mental Health, Dementia and Neurology Intelligence 
Network web site at 
www.yhpho.org.uk/mhdnin

One third of ‘avoidable deaths’ each year are of 
people with mental health problems.

42% of all of the tobacco in England is smoked by 
people with mental health problems. Few receive the 
right help to stop smoking despite wanting to quit 
just as much as those without a mental illness.

How many people take their own lives each 
year?

More than 4,000 people take their own lives in 
England each year and suicide is three times higher 
in males than females.

Suicide rates have increased by 4% since 2006/07 
when they were at their lowest recorded rate. 

What does mental ill health cost the economy? 

Poor mental health carries an economic and social 
cost of £105 billion a year in England.

The business cost of mental ill health among the UK 
workforce is £26 billion: equivalent to around £1,000 
for every employee in every UK workplace.

Fewer than 10% of people using mental health 
services are in paid work; yet more than half would 
like to work given the opportunity.

Mental illness is the leading cause of sickness 
absence in the UK, accounting for 70 million sick days 
in 2013.

Since 2009 the number of sick days lost to ‘stress, 
depression and anxiety’ has increased by 24%.

40% of ESA (Employment and Support Allowance) 
recipients had ‘mental and behavioural disorders’ as 
their primary condition. 

What support do women receive during and after 
pregnancy?

At least 10% of women experience a mental health 
problem during pregnancy or in the year after they 
give birth. But just one in ten of these women 
receives the support she requires.

Perinatal depression, anxiety and psychosis carry a 
total long-term cost to society of about £8.1 billion 
each year, equivalent to a cost of just under £10,000 
for every single birth in the country. 

Just 3% of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in 
England have a strategy for commissioning perinatal 
mental health services and a 60% have no plans to 
develop one.

The mental health challenge is supported by:

121

http://www.yhpho.org.uk/mhdnin


population’s mental health and the lives of people 
with mental health problems. Assessing all such 
policies for their impact on mental health is a simple 
way of ensuring that the council is doing all it can to 
make a positive impact and avoid unintentional harm.

Public Health England has produced a short guide 
to help local authorities make such as assessment. 
www.mentalhealthchallenge.org.uk/library-files/
MHC76-mental-wellbeing-checklist-a4.pdf 

How do we involve people with mental 
health problems in commissioning?

Local services for people with mental health problems 
are more likely to work well if they are designed 
jointly with the people who use them. Actively 
involving people with mental health problems in 
commissioning can improve the quality of support 
they offer and to reach out to groups existing services 
have not engaged. www.nsun.org.uk/assets/
downloadableFiles/4pi.-ni-standards-for-web2.pdf

How does the council support mental 
health among citizens from childhood to 
later life? 

Mental health problems can affect people at any age. 
Half of us who will have a mental health problem 
first	become	unwell	during	childhood.	Councils	can	
help to promote a good start in life through their 
commissioning of Sure Start children’s centres and 
Youth Services as well as in their responsibilities for 
education and schools.

Mental health problems can also affect us in later 
life. Depression is common among older people yet 
receives very little attention compared with dementia 
or physical ill health among this age group.  Councils 
should collect data on the mental health of its older 
citizens and seek to support positive mental health for 
example by preventing loneliness and isolation.

The local authority mental health challenge

Five questions for your council
What is our council doing to create a 
mentally healthy workplace for its staff?

Every year, one worker in six will have a mental 
health condition. The cost to business of neglecting 
the mental health of their staff is £1,000 per person 
they employ. About a third of this can be saved by 
better management of mental health at work. Many 
local authorities have given their managers and staff 
workplace mental health training and taken steps 
to promote wellbeing among their own staff. And 
some have reached out to other local employers to 
encourage them to do likewise.

Becoming a Mindful Employer is an easy way to show 
that you welcome people with mental health problems 
and to get help and advice with managing mental 
health at work in your council. www.mindfulemployer.
net

What can we do to help more people with 
mental health problems get back  to work? 

Local councils can engage with a wider range of local 
employers to encourage them to take on people 
with mental health problems. This could be done 
through the council’s supply chain as well as through 
influencing	local	businesses	and	taking	action	to	de-
mystify mental health among local employers.

The Time to Change programme offers a wide range of 
resources to dispel myths about people with mental 
health problems at work. www.time-to-change.org.uk

What impact do our policies have on people 
with mental health problems? 

Local councils work with people with mental health 
problems every day across the full range of services 
they provide and commission and in the policies 
they make. As well as public health and social care, 
housing policies, community safety, leisure and green 
spaces, and education all have a big impact on the 

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

1

2

3

4

5

The mental health challenge is supported by:

122

http://www.mentalhealthchallenge.org.uk/library-files/MHC76-mental-wellbeing-checklist-a4.pdf 4
http://www.mentalhealthchallenge.org.uk/library-files/MHC76-mental-wellbeing-checklist-a4.pdf 4
http://www.nsun.org.uk/assets/downloadableFiles/4pi.-ni-standards-for-web2.pdf 
http://www.nsun.org.uk/assets/downloadableFiles/4pi.-ni-standards-for-web2.pdf 
http://www.mindfulemployer.net
http://www.mindfulemployer.net
www.time-to-change.org.uk


How many families of children with severe 
behavioural problems have completed 
parenting programmes?

Severe behavioural problems in children – sometimes 
known as conduct disorder – are the most common 
childhood	mental	health	difficulty.	They	affect	6%	
of children and cast a lifelong shadow on a child’s 
life. Children with conduct disorder are 19 times 
more likely to go to prison by the time they reach 
the age of 30. Yet low-cost parenting programmes, 
when	implemented	well,	can	help	families	who	find	
it	difficult	to	manage	their	children’s	behaviour.	
They not only enhance children’s wellbeing but 
also improve their parents’ health and family 
relationships. 
http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/parenting

What support do we offer to people with 
housing difficulties and mental health 
problems?

Housing and mental health are inextricably linked. 
Poor quality accommodation and housing insecurity 
are both risk factors for mental ill health (especially 
for children). And people with mental health problems 
are more likely to face rent or mortgage arrears and 
homelessness. Councils can help to prevent problems 
escalating by identifying those at risk quickly and 
offering tailored support to those at risk of losing their 
homes and those who need to be re-housed.

The local authority mental health challenge

Five questions for your public health team
How many people have which mental 
health conditions in our community? 

Across the UK, about 23% of the adult population, 
and 10% of children, have a mental health condition 
at any time. The most common are depression and 
anxiety, which affect about 17% of adults at any one 
time. Severe mental illnesses like schizophrenia 
and bipolar disorder affect about 1-2% of people. 
These	figures	vary	from	one	area	to	another,	and	
some groups (eg black minority ethnic communities, 
disabled people) have much higher rates of some 
conditions. Joint strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) 
should bring this to the fore and identify key issues 
for all sections of the local community.

What priority does our Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy give to mental health?

Most joint health and wellbeing strategies have at 
least one mental health priority – the most common 
being children’s mental health. Some councils have 
developed	specific	mental	health	strategies	to	give	a	
focus for local action. It is unclear what impact these 
have made so far and it is vital that concerns raised 
in JSNAs are prioritised in strategies and acted upon 
once they have been written.

How are we supporting children in their 
early years (0-5) to enjoy a good start in 
life? 

A	child’s	future	wellbeing	is	heavily	influenced	by	
their earliest experiences in life. Supporting an 
infant’s mental health is vital to their future health 
and wellbeing. Health visitor services are moving to 
local councils from April 2015. With the right support, 
they can help to identify babies at risk of poor 
mental health and offer families effective, engaging 
support to promote healthy attachment and child 
development.

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

1

2

3

4

5

The mental health challenge is supported by:

123



comprehensive set of services that NICE says should 
be available everywhere.
http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/ 

Does the CCG commission effective 
employment support for people using 
mental health services? 

Being in work can be a key part of recovery for 
someone with a mental health problem. Fewer than 
one person in 10 who uses mental health services is 
in any paid employment, yet the majority would like 
to work. With the right support, about 50% of mental 
health	service	users	can	successfully	find	work.	The	
Individual Placement and Support (IPS) approach is by 
far the best means of achieving results. But there is a 
postcode lottery in access to IPS. 
www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/individual-
placement-and-support

What support does the CCG offer for the 
physical health of people with a severe 
mental illness? 

People with mental health problems have high rates 
of smoking, obesity and alcohol misuse. Mental 
health services have tended to ignore the physical 
health needs of their patients. People with mental 
health problems should be offered tailored support 
to stop smoking and to manage the side-effects of 
medication. And they should be given regular health 
checks and equal access to cancer screening services. 
www.rcpsych.ac.uk/mentalhealthinfo/
improvingphysicalandmh.aspx

The local authority mental health challenge

Five questions for your local CCGs
How quickly can adults and children with 
depression and anxiety get access to 
evidence-based psychological therapies on 
the NHS? 

Timely, cost-effective psychological therapy can 
be crucial to help a person recover from a common 
mental health problem such as depression or anxiety. 
But waiting times vary widely across the country and 
longer waits are associated with poorer outcomes 
as well as considerable distress for those who are 
waiting and their families.
www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/campaigns/
access-to-talking-therapies/

Do all of our local hospitals have a liaison 
psychiatry service, available around the 
clock to people of all ages with mental 
health needs? 

People with mental health problems are twice as likely 
to go to A&E as those without. And many patients 
have mental health needs that do not get noticed and 
that compromise their physical health too. Liaison 
psychiatry teams in general hospitals can help to 
respond to emergencies more effectively, to reduce 
hospital admissions and lengths of stay, and to 
improve people’s health and quality of life. 
www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/liaison-psychiatry 

Does the CCG commission the full range of 
perinatal mental health services that NICE 
guidelines set out for women during and 
after pregnancy? 

About 10% of women experience mental health 
problems during and after pregnancy, including 
depression, anxiety and, less commonly, psychosis. 
The impact can be devastating for the woman and 
her family. Government guidelines set out what 
support should be available for women with perinatal 
mental health problems, but few CCGs offer the 

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

1

2

3

4

5

The mental health challenge is supported by:

124

http://everyonesbusiness.org.uk/ 
http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/employment/ips.aspx
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/mentalhealthinfo/improvingphysicalandmh.aspx
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/mentalhealthinfo/improvingphysicalandmh.aspx
http://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/campaigns/access-to-talking-therapies/
http://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/campaigns/access-to-talking-therapies/


Developing strategies and creating partnerships 

A growing number of councils are developing 
strategies	that	specifically	address	mental	health,	
as part of their responsibility for public health. 
One county council, Kent, developed a strategy for 
emotional wellbeing among children and young 
adults (aged 0-25); others have focused on suicide 
prevention or on shortening waiting times for mental 
health services. Several member champions have 
also facilitated partnerships to implement the Crisis 
Care Concordat locally, ensuring that urgent care in a 
mental health emergency is improved. 
www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk/  

Scrutinising local services

Many member champions have taken on a monitoring 
role in relation to both their council’s role in mental 
health support and to the work of their local NHS 
commissioners. Norfolk member champion Emma 
Corlett	has	led	a	high-profile	local	campaign	against	
cuts to local NHS mental health services while a 
number of member champions have investigated 
issues through their councils’ scrutiny committees.  

Challenging inequalities in mental health 

Lambeth member champion Ed Davie, meanwhile, 
led an inquiry on mental health among the borough’s 
African and Caribbean communities, highlighting 
longstanding and entrenched inequalities and 
seeking ways to tackle them. 
http://love.lambeth.gov.uk/cllr-ed-davie-blog/ 

The local authority mental health challenge

Some examples of member champions’ activities 
There are now over 40 member champions in 
English councils, from Dorset to Durham and from 
Lambeth to Liverpool. At the end of 2014 we asked 
our Champions what they have done since their 
appointments. What we heard back was encouraging 
and at times inspirational. Member champions 
have taken on a variety of roles in their local 
areas, from challenging stigma and discrimination 
to investigating local services and fostering 
partnerships between organisations to ensure people 
get better support for their mental health. 

Working to break down mental health stigma

The most widely reported activity was in tackling 
stigma and seeking to change public attitudes about 
mental health. Councils that have taken the challenge 
can also sign up to the Time to Change pledge (www.
time-to-change.org.uk). Paulette Hamilton, member 
champion in Birmingham, led a Time to Change 
initiative called ‘300 Voices’ to put people with 
mental health problems at the forefront of efforts to 
improve public understanding (www.time-to-change.
org.uk/300voices).  Many others got involved with 
awareness-raising activities on World Mental Health 
Day (10 October) or at other local events, and one 
challenged a local newspaper for its stigmatising 
coverage of a news story involving a person with a 
mental illness. 

Raising awareness within the council 

Several member champions have sought to raise 
awareness within their councils of mental health 
issues. This includes securing training for staff 
and other councillors in mental health awareness; 
ensuring  that major council policies are assessed 
for their mental health impact; and signing up to the 
Mindful Employer scheme at 
www.mindfulemployer.net  

We’re in!
The mental health challenge
Local councils championing mental health

The mental health challenge is supported by:

125

www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk
http://love.lambeth.gov.uk/cllr
www.time
www.time
-to-change.org.uk
www.time
-to-change.org.uk
-to-change.org.uk


Working with local organisations

Member champions have reached out to a wide 
variety of local organisations to promote mental 
health and create fairer chances for people with 
mental health problems. Lewisham member 
champion Janet Daby worked with local faith group 
leaders and with the police in the borough to raise 
mental health awareness.  

Working with local employers, schools and 
universities

Sutton member champion Simon Wales linked with 
local employers to encourage more of them to recruit 
people with mental health problems. And Dorset 
member	champion	Michael	Bevan,	England’s	first	
member champion, has formed links with a local 
university to encourage them to support students’ 
mental health and hosted a summit involving 
140 local organisations to agree plans to tackle 
discrimination against people with mental health 
problems across the county.

Andrew Gordon and Michael Bevan have also set up a 
group to work on mental health in schools creating an 
initiative called Councillors for Better Mental Health 
in Schools that they have shared in the members area 
library under schools. 

 

The mental health challenge is supported by:

126



 

 

  

Council 
17 September 2020 

Notice of Motion 

 Councillor Amanda Wheeler 

         
  

 

Motion to tackle inequality and racial discrimination  

South Kesteven District Council recognises that systemic racism and inequalities still exist in the UK 
today. SKDC commits to ensuring there is no place for institutional racism or unconscious bias in its 
functions and practices and that it is an authority not just tackling inequality to meet a duty, but one 
that actively works with its communities and other agencies to fight racism and hate crime throughout 
the district. 

  

As such, SKDC resolves: 

 

• To declare that this Council is intolerant to racism and will continue to seek to eradicate it, 
Islamophobia, Anti-Semitism and hate crime across the district by developing initiatives that 
are actively inclusive and anti-racist; 

• To ask organisations across the district to pledge their commitment to anti-racism and 
tackling inequality; 

• To initiate a review involving BAME (Black, Asian and minority ethnic) members of our 
community, of processes, policies and organisational attitudes; 

• To invite appropriate speakers on these issues to help with training for councillors and staff. 

 

 

Background information 

 

A recent (June) Public Health England report found that Black, Asian and minority ethnic 

communities have been disproportionately impacted by Covid-19, with people from Black, 

Bangladeshi, Pakistani and Indian backgrounds up to twice as likely to die from coronavirus 

compared to white people. (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-

the-impact-on-bame-communities) 

 

According to Home Office data, black people are 40 times more likely to be stopped and searched 

under Section 60 (the power which allows officers to search anyone in a defined area for a limited 

period if serious violence is anticipated). (https://www.theguardian.com/law/2019/may/04/stop-and-

search-new-row-racial-bias) 

 

According to a 2018 study by the Equality and Human Rights Commission, 35.7 percent of ethnic 

minorities in the UK were living in poverty:  

(https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/EPoverty/UnitedKingdom/2018/NGOS/EqualityHRCom

missionWales_annex1.pdf) 

 

127

Agenda Item 7a

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.theguardian.com/law/2019/may/04/stop-and-search-new-row-racial-bias
https://www.theguardian.com/law/2019/may/04/stop-and-search-new-row-racial-bias
https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/EPoverty/UnitedKingdom/2018/NGOS/EqualityHRCommissionWales_annex1.pdf
https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/EPoverty/UnitedKingdom/2018/NGOS/EqualityHRCommissionWales_annex1.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Black Caribbean and mixed white/Black Caribbean children have rates of permanent exclusion 

about three times that of the pupil population as a whole. (https://www.ethnicity-facts-

figures.service.gov.uk/education-skills-and-training/absence-and-exclusions/pupil-

exclusions/latest)  

 

South Kesteven has an increasingly diverse population. Mapping of the district shows significant 

increases in black and minority ethnic (BAME) communities and, whilst the greatest concentration 

of diversity is located in the north of the district, specifically Grantham, there are ever-growing 

communities from India, Nepal, Africa and parts of Eastern Europe settling in all four urban centres 

of the district.  

 

South Kesteven experienced its most significant population changes between the Census of 2001 

and 2011 and the diversity of its residents continues to grow. At the Census in 2001 the non-British 

population in this area was recorded as less than 1%. By 2011 this percentage representation had 

risen to 4.5% and according to the 2018 ONS Mid-Year Population Estimate it had increased again 

to around 9%. These figures will be corroborated or amended following the 2021 Census. Whilst 

numbers of people from individual nationalities cannot be described as high in South Kesteven, the 

number of different nationalities is significant.  

 

The Annual Population Survey released in May 2019 provides the estimated population resident in 

the UK by nationality. The figures are provided in blocks so definitive numbers and locations in terms 

of country of birth are outlines only. The Office for National Statistics therefore shows ethnicity within 

South Kesteven as follows:  

 

• EU14 – Estimated total 3,000  

This figure would include residents from: 

Austria, Denmark, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Luxemburg, 

Netherlands, Portugal, Republic of Ireland, Spain, Sweden  

• EU8 – Estimated total 8,000  

This figure would include residents from: 

Czech Republic, Estonia, Poland, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovakia, Slovenia  

• EU2 – Estimated total 2,000  

This figure would include residents from: Bulgaria, Romania  

• South East Asia – Estimated total 2,000  

This figure could include (but is not restricted to) residents from: Indonesia, Malaysia, 

Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam  

• Sub Saharan Africa – Estimated total 2,000  

This figure could include (but is not restricted to) residents from: 

Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Namibia, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Somalia, South Africa, Sudan, 

Tanzania, The Gambia, Zimbabwe  

 

The school census in January 2011 indicates that there are 2,068 BAME (Black Asian and Minority 

Ethnic) school children in the district out of a total pupil population of 18,234. 

128

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/education-skills-and-training/absence-and-exclusions/pupil-exclusions/latest
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/education-skills-and-training/absence-and-exclusions/pupil-exclusions/latest
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/education-skills-and-training/absence-and-exclusions/pupil-exclusions/latest


 

 

Council 
17 September 2020 

Notice of Motion 

 Councillor Ashley Baxter 

         
  

 

 

Creating a new ‘normal’. 

Background 

The recent and ongoing Coronavirus pandemic has presented historic challenges to government at 

all levels and across the world. At South Kesteven District Council, the episode has required the 

implementation of emergency procedures and the establishment of new and innovative ways of 

working. The work of our staff, senior management and fellow councillors through this time has been 

invaluable and we owe a debt of gratitude. 

The effect of Coronavirus on our economy and society has been huge and, in many cases, heart-

breaking. However, some of the new ways of working have had positive impacts which could 

potentially provide long-term benefits. 

Recommendations 

The council resolves that: 

1) Cabinet commissions a report into how the Coronavirus episode has impacted our 

operations, focusing specifically on opportunities to make long term environmental and 

financial savings (The report should be produced and published before the end of the 

December 2020). 

 

2) Environment Committee and Cabinet to prioritise within their workplans:  

a) consideration of how to use remote working opportunities for staff and members to the 

mutual benefit of the council and individuals. 

b) further consideration of opportunities to improve grounds maintenance practices to 

improve ecology and reduce costs 

c) in partnership with the waste disposal authority, consideration of how waste collection and 

disposal systems could be enhanced to improve efficiency and recycling rates. 

 

Motion submitted ahead of the meeting on 14 May 2020 at which no motions were heard. The motion 

rolled forward to the Council meeting on 16 July 2020 but was not considered as time ran out. To 

enable it to be considered at this meeting, rather than the next ordinary meeting on 1 October 2020, 

Councillor Baxter withdrew the motion and resubmitted it for consideration by Council on 17 

September 2020. 

129

Agenda Item 7b

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
1 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Corporate Plan 2020-23 

The report proposes the Corporate Plan for the period 2020 to 2023. 

 

 

Report Author 

Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive  

 
 01476 40 60 80 

  Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 21 September 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  22 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 22 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Council is asked to approve the Corporate Plan 2020-2023 as attached at Appendix 
A.   

2. Notes that key performance indicators and success criteria for each action will be 
developed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Cabinet. 

131

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Ken.Lyon@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background  

1.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the strategic vision and key priorities of the Council.  The 

Corporate Plan underpins the delivery of all of the Council’s strategic activity and provides 

the performance framework for managing the delivery of the actions and priorities in the 

Plan.  It is good practice for a public sector organisation seeking to deliver a wide set of 

aims and objectives to set out a Corporate Plan and regularly review the activity and 

achievements against it. 

1.2 The South Kesteven District Council Corporate Strategy was adopted in May 2018, which 

sets the values of the Council.  The Corporate Plan is focused on what the Council will 

deliver. 

Approach – Setting the Priorities and Actions 

1.3 An evidence-based approach has been undertaken to developing the priorities and actions 

within the Corporate Plan.  A range of data sources were utilised to undertake an 

assessment of performance and benchmarking to form an analysis of strengths, 

weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT) for the District.  The SWOT also 

incorporated the likely impact on the District of Covid-19. 

1.4 The SWOT was then analysed and used to inform three key areas of the Corporate Plan: 

• Vision – an encompassing statement setting out succinctly the high-level aim for the 
District 

• Priorities – specific key areas of focus for the Council 

• Actions – the things that will, in combination seek to achieve the targets of the Council 
(primarily to address things found in the SWOT) 

 

1.5 Each of these areas were cross-checked to ensure consistency. The underlying analysis 

and emerging vision, priorities and actions were developed through an iterative process, 

involving Members and Officers (see Consultation section below for more details). 

Performance Management 

1.6 Alongside the development of the Corporate Plan document attached in Appendix A, is the 

identification of key performance indicators (KPIs) and success criteria for each of the 

actions that will form the basis of the performance management of the Corporate Plan.  Draft 

KPIs and success criteria have been proposed and will be developed and agreed via the 

appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Cabinet. 

1.7 Performance against the success criteria will be managed via ongoing, active performance 

management, which will include quarterly reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees and 

Cabinet.  In addition, there will be an annual performance report, which will be further 

considered by Cabinet. 

1.8 A ‘golden thread’ approach to the delivery of the Corporate Plan will be embedded – 

ensuring there is a clear link between activity at all levels and the Corporate Plan.  To 

support this the following will be developed: 

• Service Plans – setting out how each service will contribute to the delivery of SKDC’s 
vision and priorities.  These will also include KPIs and success criteria and be 
monitored by Senior Officers and Cabinet Members. 

• Individual Performance Appraisals – setting out how each individual contributes to 
the achievement of SKDC’s vision and priorities.  These will be monitored by Heads of 
Service. 

132



 

 
 

 

Annual Performance Review and Refresh 

1.9 An annual performance review will take place in May every year which will encompass a full 

review of SKDC’s performance against the Corporate Plan.  As part of the annual 

performance review the Corporate Plan and SWOT will be reviewed and refreshed in light 

of activities and changes to the external environment.  Therefore, the review may lead to 

changes in priorities, actions, KPIs and success criteria.  It should be noted that any changes 

will require approval by the Cabinet. 

1.10 The ‘golden thread’ approach, showing the interaction between the performance 

management of the Corporate Plan, SWOT and annual performance review is shown in the 

diagram below. 

 

Diagram 1: Showing the golden thread through the Corporate Plan 

 

 

Development of the Vision and Priorities 

1.11 Following consultation with the Leader, Cabinet Members and wider Council Members a 
draft vision was developed for South Kesteven to “Be the best district in which to live, work 
and visit.” Analysis of the SWOT led to the development of a number of priority areas, which 
following further consultation with Cabinet Members were developed into the following 5 key 
priorities: 

• Growth and our Economy 

• Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents 

• Healthy and Strong Communities 

• A Clean and Sustainable Environment 

• A High Performing Council 
  

133



 

 
 

 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The initial SWOT analysis was developed in April 2020 and several iterations were 

circulated through the Corporate Management Team and the Cabinet for feedback, 

additions and refinement of the elements contained.  Alongside this the Covid-19 action plan 

was developed and these documents were integrated to provide an overall assessment of 

the District. 

2.2 Once priorities and actions had been initially developed, these were refined through a 

number of workshops, which all Members were invited to attend, in early July 2020.  The 

feedback from Members led to changes in the action plan and also confirmed the priority 

areas and vision. 

2.3 For Members that were not able to attend the workshops, copies of the presentation and 

draft documentation was circulated to all Members on 9 July 2020. 

2.4 The Corporate Plan 2020-23 was presented to Cabinet by the Leader of the Council on 8 

September 2020, who approved the recommendation for the Plan to progress to Full 

Council.  Several Cabinet Members commented in support of the Corporate Plan as being 

a clear, easy to read document that set out the priorities of the Council for the next three 

years.  Cabinet Members were also asked to note the commitment to embedding a 

performance management ‘golden thread’ and the need to continue to manage finances 

effectively to enable SKDC to deliver its priorities in the context of reducing resources. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Alternative options considered and rejected are as follows: 

• Do nothing – continue without a Corporate Plan – allocations within the annual budget 

would effectively set the strategy; there would be limited links to objectives, success 

criteria and performance targets. 

• Do minimum – develop an annual plan / business plan – this was rejected as it would 

inhibit long-term planning and focus more on deliverable activity in a single year, rather 

than any strategic goals. 

• Develop a single integrated Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy – this 

was rejected due to the need for a revised budget mid-year due to Covid-19.  

Additionally, these documents are generally created separately in local authorities, the 

Corporate Plan sets the framework in which subsequent budgets are set. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is to adopt the Corporate Plan as set out at Appendix A, with targets 

reviewed and reset as part of an annual review process.  More operational targets will be 

measured on an ongoing basis throughout the duration of the Plan.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation(s) 

5.1 The Corporate Plan will give a strategic framework for operational and medium term 

financial planning and provide a clear direction for the Council.  This provides a clear view 

of what the Council is delivering for the public, residents, businesses, key stakeholders and 

for our own staff. 

 

134



 

 
 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If supported by the Cabinet, the Corporate Plan will be presented to full Council on 1 October 

2020 for approval and, if supported, will be published thereafter.  Targets will be measured 

on an ongoing basis and subject to annual review. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The Corporate Plan sets out the strategic framework in which the medium term financial 

planning will directly support.  Budget setting will focus primarily on ensuring that the actions 

set out in the Plan are adequately resourced in order to ensure they can be delivered.  The 

adoption of the Plan will enable the Council to retain its focus on agreed actions and finite 

resources can be deployed accordingly providing a clear alignment between the Corporate 

Plan and the supporting Medium Term Financial Plan.  It is accepted that resources are 

likely to be more challenging in the medium term and in that scenario a revision of specific 

targets may be necessary. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 A Corporate Plan which sets out the delivery ambitions of the Council is to be welcomed in 

terms of good corporate governance and accountability to the public, who will be able to 

see how the Council intends to deliver services and can be held to account for its 

performance against the Corporate Plan. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An equality assessment has been carried out and is presented in Appendix B.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Due to the strategic nature of the Corporate Plan, the core risks should align with the 

Corporate Risk Register.  The periodic review of these documents should ensure that they 

remain aligned. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications in this report.   

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The approach recommended retains ‘A Clean and Sustainable Environment’ as one of five 

key themes through the draft Corporate Plan.  This is to ensure that the environmental 

impact or carbon reduction and general sustainability is fully considered in all decisions. 

Carbon implications reviewed by: Serena Brown, Sustainability & Climate Change 

Officer 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 All significant implications are highlighted above. 

 

135



 

 
 

14 Appendices 

Appendix A – Draft Corporate Plan 

Appendix B – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

11 August 2020 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   1 October 2020 

 

136



Please note this is an interactive document.
Please use the arrow buttons the click backwards 
and forwards through the pages. Hover and click 
over the bar of graphics at the top of the pages to 
navigate through the corporate priorities.

Be the best District to live, work and visit

Corporate Plan 
2020-2023

Be the best district in which to  
live, work and visit

Easton Walled Gardens
137

Appendix A



Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

2

Contents

Our vision for South Kesteven 3

About our district 4

Finance 5

Growth and our Economy 6-7

Housing that Meets the Needs of all Residents 8-9

Healthy and Strong Communities 10-11

Clean and Sustainable Environment 12-13

High Performing Council 14-15

Managing performance  16

Covid-19 response 17

Equalities 18

Core values at heart of SKDC 19

Links to key documents 19

Contact details 20

138



3

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Our vision for South Kesteven
The events of the past few months have turned our
world upside down and left us with a legacy we could
not have predicted. But South Kesteven is a district
full of promise and potential. It is home to innovative
entrepreneurs and savvy start-ups; a base for global
enterprise; and an inviting landscape perfectly situated
in the heart of England. We have much to be proud of,
and much to offer.

Our Corporate Plan clearly sets out how South
Kesteven District Council intends to meet that
promise and potential. Our vision is to “be the best
district in which to live, work, and visit.”

We will continue to support  businesses and work with
partners in all sectors to create the right conditions
for sustainable and dynamic growth so that our local
economy not only recovers from the Coronavirus
pandemic, but recovers stronger than ever.

We will continue to develop a clean and green future, 
working with others to ensure that how we live and 
how we work respects and protects our environment 
and reduces our carbon footprint.

We will develop the immense goodwill and community
spirit that already exists so that our communities 
thrive, are strong and healthy, and we commit to 
building and maintaining housing that meets the 
needs of all residents.

Underpinning all of this is how we work as a council.
Our Corporate Plan is our promise to you, the
residents and businesses of South Kesteven, but
it is also our blueprint for ensuring we are the high 
performing council you deserve; one that attracts and
retains the best staff to deliver high-quality services.

Our values and our commitment to diversity and 
inclusion will help shape how we deliver our services 
and how we meet our priorities. Within our council and 
our communities we want everyone to feel welcome 
and valued. 

As a district council, we work hand-in-hand with other 
public sector partners across Lincolnshire and the 
wider region so that individually and collectively we 
deliver for our residents and businesses. 

Working in partnership with others is a journey we are 
on, and it is a road we continue to follow to realise our 
ambition for South Kesteven.

So as we deliver our priorities over the next three 
years, you should expect to see continued growth that
respects our countryside and our heritage; a reduction
in our carbon footprint to protect our environment for
present and future generations; a focus on harnessing
the community spirit so prevalent in recent months;
housing to meet all needs; and an efficient, high 
performing council that puts local residents and local
businesses first, always.

Cllr Kelham Cooke
Leader of the Council  
South Kesteven District Council

Karen Bradford 
Chief Executive 
South Kesteven District Council

 @southkesteven
  @southkdc
  linkedin.com/company/south-kesteven-council

139



4

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Snapshot
Of South Kesteven

LONDON
1hr

LEEDS 
1hr 10min

East 
Midlands Airport

Robin 
Hood/

Doncaster 
Airport Humberside 

Airport
Manchester

Airport

Birmingham 
International Airport

Stansted 
AirportHeathrow

Airport

Lincolnshire

GRANTHAM

1,400

5,935

Just over

In 2019, there were

households (1,422)  
were on the council’s  

housing register in 2019

businesses in South 
Kesteven, of which the vast 
majority (89.9%) were micro 

businesses – employing 
between one and ten 

people.

143,347
Population figures 2020

Forecast to grow by around 
4.5% over the next ten years, 

and by 7.7% between now 
and 2040

23.6%
Proportion of those aged

65 or over in South Kesteven is

in 2020

STAMFORD

BOURNE

South Lincolnshire

MARKET DEEPI

365sq 
miles

GRANTHAM

Luton 
Airport

140



5

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Finance
As an organisation, South Kesteven District Council 
continues to work hard to generate new income 
channels and deliver savings and efficiencies. There 
is a clear focus on becoming financially self-sufficient 
by 2025 by being more efficient in how services are 
delivered and identifying new income streams by using 
assets and reserves with a commercial focus. This 
approach has already delivered savings of over £1.1 
million in the last two years. This change in approach 
has been vital given the reduction in funding from 
central Government. 

However, this is not the time to be complacent. The 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic – the costs of which 
are estimated to be just over £4 million for the council 
– combined with a reduction in government grant of 
£1.8 million over the next three years and net operating 
costs for the General Fund of around £19 million a year, 
means that there is still much to be achieved.
 
The latest estimates forecast that SKDC needs to save 
£2.3 million over the next three years, to be in a position 
where we will still have a balanced budget. The council 
is fully committed to achieving this target and is leaving 
no stone unturned in its approach to ensure this goal 
is reached. Measures adopted include streamlining 
the organisation so that it is ready for the challenges 
ahead, modernising processes and procedures, making 
the most of commercial opportunities and rationalising 
assets and operating costs where possible. 

The delivery of the council’s priorities set out in the 
Corporate Plan remains its key focus. Underpinning 
this is a pledge to provide quality services, a strong 
commitment to investing in sustainable growth, 
improving leisure facilities and delivery of an ambitious 
housing programme that meets the needs of the social 
housing sector.

Financed from a combination of reserves and grants, 
the council has committed over £52 million to fund the 
delivery of new build social and affordable housing 
and stock acquisition programmes over the next three 
years. Over the same time period it will also continue 
to maintain its existing housing stock, by investing over 
£17 million in a range of programmes including re-
roofing, external wall insultation and the replacement of 
kitchens and bathrooms.

The environment in which the council set out its 
medium term financial plan remains challenging and 
uncertain given the financial impact of the ongoing 
Covid-19 pandemic and the wider funding review 
of local government. However, the council remains 
committed to providing quality services to its residents 
and delivering the actions set out in the Corporate Plan.  

Annual net operating costs 
General Fund

£19 million

£52 million
to fund new build 

social and affordable 
housing

Investing

£2.3 million 
needed over the next 
three years to have a 

balanced budget

£4.2 million
Estimated negative impact 
of the Covid-19 pandemic

Investing over 

to maintain existing  
council homes 

£17 million

141



6

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Delivering growth of the economy is fundamental to the success of the district, 
its businesses and residents. We are, therefore, prioritising:

� Protecting and creating jobs within the district.
� Developing the centres and high streets of our four towns.
� Securing investment for infrastructure to support ongoing and  

sustainable growth.

� Growth and our Economy

Market Deeping town centre

Stamford Georgian Costume Ball Grantham Southern Relief Road

142



7

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Delivery of the St Martin’s Park development 
scheme in Stamford.

� Regeneration of Grantham town centre, 
supported by the Future High Streets bid 
and delivery of the Heritage Action Zone 
programme.

� Identify funding and other opportunities to 
support development of the town centres of 
Bourne, Market Deeping and Stamford, and 
apply lessons learned from the Future High 
Streets Fund and other initiatives.

� Develop a package of measures to support 
recovery of the local economy and safeguard 
local jobs wherever possible.

� Review the scope and focus of InvestSK to 
maximise the support to local businesses and 
attract inward investment.

� Continue to attract investment, encourage 
diverse businesses to the district and ensure 
appropriate land and property is available.

� Work with education providers to increase 
opportunities for local learning and 
apprenticeships in the district.

� In partnership with LCC bring forward housing 
and employment opportunities linked to the 
delivery of the Grantham Southern Relief Road.

� Work with partners and attractions to promote 
visitor economy and increase visitor spend in 
the district, including the adoption of a Tourism 
Strategic Framework.

� Support the roll-out of improved broadband 
and other key infrastructure to support local 
businesses and rural areas.

� Work closely with markets across South 
Kesteven and seek to maintain their viability.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Securing £900k of Heritage Action Zone funding to restore the culture heritage of  

buildings in Grantham town centre.
�  Securing Single Local Growth funding to support the partnership with Lincolnshire  

County Council to deliver the Grantham Southern Relief Road.
�  Gravity Fields and Stamford Georgian festivals provide more than £700,000 in economic 

benefit to the district each year.

✓
✓
✓

Grantham town centre French Market, Grantham

143



8

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

High quality housing is essential for all and the council is committed to  
working with partners to provide this by:

� Offering the new homes that people need, at a price they can afford.
� Ensuring new developments are in keeping with the character of South 

Kesteven and benefit the people who already live here.
� Providing high quality homes and services to those who rent property from 

the council.

� Housing that Meets the
 Needs of all Residents

Modular homes

Council house repairs Trent Road, Grantham

144



9

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Work in partnership with the housing market to 
stimulate housing growth.

� Work to reduce and prevent homelessness in 
our district.

� Increase the supply of high quality, sustainable 
council housing.

� Undertake a planning review to improve 
performance and support local sustainable, 
high quality growth.

� Undertake a housing review to provide the 
highest quality service possible to our tenants.

� Work with housing associations and developers 
to ensure quality affordable housing is 
delivered.

� Ensure the ambitions of the adopted Local Plan 
are met and a review framework is developed 
to deliver sustainable growth in the district.

� Work with Homes England, the Ministry of 
Defence and other partners to develop holistic 
masterplans for the delivery of Grantham’s 
Southern Urban Extension.

� Ensure that major developments in South 
Kesteven are high quality, with sustainable, 
good design.

� Bring private sector empty properties back  
in to use.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Adoption of the South Kesteven Local Plan to enable delivery of sustainable housing and 

business growth in the district.
�  Beginning our programme of building high quality new homes of different tenures, including
 the completion of Wherry’s Lane Phase 2 and modular housing in Grantham.
�  Developing a leading approach, with Government, to improve the repairs process for 

rented properties (private and council housing).

✓

✓
✓

Bathroom fitting Wherry’s Lane, Bourne

145



10

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Supporting communities to be healthy is particularly important, especially  
in light of the Covid-19 crisis, which is why SKDC is:

� Investing in the health of our district by improving leisure provision.
� Working effectively with partners in the voluntary, private and public  

sectors for the benefit of communities.
� Building on, and celebrating, the rich heritage and culture of the district.

� Healthy and Strong  
 Communities

LotterySK supports  
Three Counties Dog Rescue

Grimsthorpe CastleTackling health issues

146



11

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Invest in sustainable, high quality leisure 
facilities across the district.

� Embed the work of the SK Community Hub 
to support volunteering and the voluntary and 
community sectors.

� Work with partners from all sectors to tackle 
health, unemployment and other inequalities in 
areas of highest need.

� Continue to work in partnership with the 
police and the community in tackling crime by 
investing in the CCTV service.

� Celebrate and enhance the rich history of  
the district.

� Adopt a new cultural strategy covering the local 
arts, events and festivals programme.

� Develop and adopt a sport and physical activity 
strategy. 

� Embrace the national mental health challenge, 
ensuring the council places mental wellbeing at 
the heart of decision-making.

� Make best use of different funding sources to 
support the voluntary and cultural sector within 
the district.

� Protect our most vulnerable residents with 
robust safeguarding processes.

� Improve and invest in local arts and 
 cultural venues.
� Promote and make progress against the 

council’s equality objectives.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Creation of the SK Community Hub, working with the community sector to meet the 

essential needs of over 2,000 vulnerable people as part of the Covid-19 response.
�  Development of LotterySK, directing over £120,000 of funding into 110 good causes in 

our local communities.
�  Helped attract over £2.5 million of additional funds for community and voluntary groups 

in South Kesteven via the SK Community Fund (representing a 750% return on the 
council’s investment). 

✓

✓
✓

Guildhall Arts Centre, Grantham Stamford Georgian Festival

147



12

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Protecting and improving the environment is vitally important both now and  
for generations to come. Our work includes:

� Tackling climate change by reducing the council’s carbon footprint.
� Ensuring that the district is a clean and pleasant place to live.
� Improving our parks and open spaces.

� Clean and Sustainable  
 Environment

Garden waste collection

Wyndham Park, GranthamElectric vehicle charging

148



13

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Reduce the council’s carbon footprint by at 
least 30% by 2030 and endeavour to become 
net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050.

� Deliver the Big Clean programme and maintain 
a higher street standard.

� Continue to innovate our approach to waste 
management to build on our strengths and 
maximise commercial and other opportunities.

� Maintain and enhance our green areas across 
the district, aiming to secure Green Flag status 
for Queen Elizabeth Park, Dysart Park and 
other relevant areas.

� Work proactively with EnvironmentSK to deliver 
high quality services and maximise commercial 
opportunities.

� Work with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
to reduce waste and further improve recycling.

� Recognise the changes in environmentally 
friendly modes of transport and seek to work 
with others to adapt required infrastructure.

� Explore opportunities to build on the success 
of the food waste collection trial scheme and 
ensure the service is sustainable.

� Build a new, modern depot that is fit for  
the future.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
� Declaration of climate emergency, with the establishment and publication of the council’s 

carbon footprint for the first time and creation of an action plan to improve.
� Big Clean team established to achieve and maintain a higher street standard.
� Wyndham Park project to refurbish the site completed during 2018 and Green Flag 

secured for the 8th successive year. Queen Elizabeth Park project to refurbish the site 
completed during 2019 and Management Plan developed to support application for 
Green Flag status during 2021.

✓
✓
✓

Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham Wyndham Park Visitor Centre

149



14

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Local residents in South Kesteven are entitled to have high expectations and, 
therefore, we will prioritise:

� Supporting the district in recovering from Covid-19.
� Managing our finances and assets effectively.
� Embedding an approach that seeks to continuously improve our service 

delivery, including good governance and staff and customer experience.

� High Performing Council

Customer Services Savoy multiplex cinema, Grantham

150



15

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

� Implement the Covid-19 Recovery Plan.
� Deliver a balanced, sustainable financial plan 

over the medium term.
� Undertake a constitution review and implement 

outcomes.
� Implement findings of the governance 

review across the council’s assets (including 
companies).

� Develop a people strategy (including a pay 
review) to support the retention and attraction 
of high quality staff.

� Develop and implement commercial and 
transformation strategies to deliver additional 
net revenue benefit.

� Undertake a fundamental review of the 
organisation to meet current and future needs.

� Support the implementation of an IT investment 
roadmap to align future solutions with the 
council’s ambitions.

� Embed an agile approach to working by 
building on cultural and technological changes.

� Deliver the ambitions of the Customer 
Experience Strategy.

� Maximise the value of the council’s own 
spending by using local suppliers  
wherever practical.

� Undertake an asset management review.

Key Actions

Key Achievements
�  Opening of a new multiplex cinema in the centre of Grantham.
� Growth of the council’s high quality collection services, with an increase of 4% for garden  

waste and 51% for commercial waste since March 2019.
�  Development of a more agile approach, with over 400 staff enabled to work from home 

during Covid-19 crisis.

✓
✓

✓

Garden waste IT solutions supporting working from home

151



16

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Priority Area Example Action Example KPI

Growth and our 
economy

Develop a package of measures 
to support the recovery of the local 
economy to safeguard local jobs 
wherever possible.

Number of businesses supported by SKDC

Number of jobs safeguarded/created via 
SKDC support

Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents

Undertake a housing review to 
provide the highest quality service 
possible to our tenants.

Percentage of responsive repairs completed 
within target time

Number of properties fitted with new 
kitchens and bathrooms

Healthy 
and strong 
communities

Make best use of different funding 
sources to support the voluntary and 
cultural sectors.

Amount of external funding brought into 
the district levered with support from SKDC 
funding streams

Clean and 
sustainable 
environment

Deliver the Big Clean programme 
and maintain a higher street 
standard.

Percentage of streets that meet Clean 
Streets Standard

High performing 
council

Develop and implement commercial 
and transformation strategies to 
deliver additional net revenue 
benefit.

Percentage increase in net income from 
commercial funding streams

Amount saved through efficiency 
improvements

Managing performance 
SKDC will be taking a ‘golden thread’ approach to managing performance and delivering priorities 
– meaning that every colleague should be able to understand the impact they are having on SKDC 
achieving our vision, delivering our priorities and realising the key actions. 

A key part of managing performance is to develop an agreed set of Key Performance Indicators, these 
will be agreed via scrutiny committees and reviewed on an annual basis. The table below sets out some 
examples of Actions and KPIs for each priority

Vision
“Be the best district in which to live, work and visit”

Service performance
� Service Plans, actions and KPIs approved by 

Director and Corporate Management Team.
� Monitored by Director and Corporate  

Management Team.

Individual performance
� Individual objectives agreed and linked to  

Corporate Plan.
� Monitored as part of performance appraisal  

by line manager.

Council performance
� Council Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) agreed  

by Scrutiny Committee.
� Three-monthly reports to Corporate Management Team, 

scrutiny committees and Cabinet.
� Yearly review as part of annual performance report  

to Cabinet.

152



17

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Covid-19 response

NEARLY 

18,000
VULNERABLE 

PEOPLE PERSONALLY 
CONTACTED TO 

OFFER SUPPORT

BINS COLLECTED A WEEK 
(BLACK, GREEN AND SILVER)

80,000

CUSTOMER 
ENQUIRIES HANDLED

 

54,048

ELIGIBLE FOR 
COUNCIL TAX 

HARDSHIP FUND 
PAYMENT

BUSINESSES HAVE 
BEEN AWARDED £1.2M 

OF DISCRETIONARY 
GRANTS

4,966

221

VIEWS ON OUR  
CORONAVIRUS  

WEB PAGE

NEARLY  

28,158

EMERGENCY REPAIRS 
HANDLED

2,643

IN GRANTS AWARDED TO 
2,284 BUSINESSES

£27.7 
million

HOMELESS PEOPLE 
PROVIDED WITH 

HOUSING

149
OUR SK COMMUNITY HUB 

HAS RECEIVED MORE THAN

CALLS

2,200 

VOLUNTEERS 
REGISTERED WITH 

THE SK COMMUNITY 
HUB

1,500 

STAFF WORKING TO  
MAINTAIN SERVICES

467

CALLS MADE TO VULNERABLE 
PEOPLE BY OUR 

BEFRIENDING TEAM 

1,500

GAS SAFETY CHECKS 
CARRIED OUT

1,837

OUT-OF-HOURS 
CALLS DEALT WITH

600

HOSTED MEDICAL TESTING 
STATIONS AT GRANTHAM 
MERES LEISURE CENTRE

FACILITATED HIGH 
STREET RE-OPENING 

IN ALL OF OUR TOWNS, 
INCLUDING PROVISION 
OF SOCIAL DISTANCING 

CHAMPIONS

STREET MARKETS 
CONTINUED THROUGHOUT 

AT THE HEART OF OUR 
COMMUNITIES

PROHIBITION NOTICES 
SERVED FOR BREACHES 
OF COVID-19 BUSINESS 

CLOSURE REGULATIONS

4

In March 2020 the world faced a global pandemic which has had a huge impact on South Kesteven.  
The council set out three key priorities: 

� To protect the health of staff, members and residents.
� To maintain critical services.
� To support local businesses.
 
Here are some of the ways in which SKDC delivered against those priorities:  

153



18

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Objective How will we achieve this?

Strengthen our knowledge 
and understanding of our 
communities.

Ensure that the council’s services are responsive to different needs 
and treat service users equitably, with dignity and respect.
Listen, involve and respond to our communities effectively.
Build a database of voluntary and community groups that serve 
our communities at grass roots level and work with them to ensure 
sustainability of provision and service.

Build a culture of equality and 
inclusion into all the services, 
functions and projects we 
deliver.

Incorporate the need to assess and address equality issues into the 
council’s project methodology and democratic processes to ensure 
consideration of the needs of our customers is at the heart of what 
we do, from the earliest stage of development through to 
decision-making and implementation.

Prove our ongoing commitment 
to equal opportunity by 
developing a diverse and 
empowered workforce and by 
reducing our gender pay gap.

Utilise workforce data to help identify areas for improvement 
in the diversity and skills of our workforce to seek equality of 
representation at all levels across the organisation.
Develop and deliver against an action plan to specifically address 
the council’s gender pay gap to form part of the work programme of 
the Employment Committee.
Demonstrate a positive culture with strong leadership and 
organisational commitment to improving equality outcomes.

Equalities
Our commitment to equalities is about long-term, continuous improvement. It is the responsibility of all 
officers and elected members to implement the principles of equality and diversity. We aim to ensure that 
these principles inform decision-making at every level within the council reflecting our ongoing commitment 
to the elimination of discrimination, the advancement of equality of opportunity for all, and to foster good 
relations between different communities. 

English to Speakers of Other  
Languages (ESOL) classCooking in the Community

154



19

Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

Links to key documents
The South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

South Kesteven Economic Development Strategy 2016-2021: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12187

South Kesteven Housing Strategy 2020-2024: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=12186

South Kesteven Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/2017 – 2020/2021: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=20056

South Kesteven Budget 2020-2023:
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s25022/Council%20Budget%20Report.pdf

South Kesteven Carbon Footprint and Reduction Opportunities June 2020: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26489

Core values at heart of SKDC 
The values of the council determine how we behave and deliver services to 
our residents and businesses and how we interact with each other.

They focus attention on seven areas:

� Accountability, which means ensuring that 
everyone at every level is responsible of what 
they do and takes ownership for their actions and 
decisions.

� Flexibility, which means working in different 
ways, at different times and in different places to 
meet the needs of our residents and businesses.

� Agility, which means working together to get the 
job done, using our skills to get the best outcome 
for our residents and businesses. 

� Equity, which means ensuring that we treat each 
other with respect, irrespective of rank, position 
or status. This echoes our commitment to provide 
consistently good services to both our internal 
and external customers.

� Networking, which means that as a council 
we recognise that ours is not the only voice or 
opinion. We embrace the views of others and 
use formal and informal networks to improve 
performance and ensure the solutions we deliver 
meet the needs of our customers.

� Always learning means sharing knowledge, 
skills and expertise to enable the council to 
go from strength to strength and learn from 
everything we do. 

� Talent means harnessing the incredible ability 
that is within the council and valuing the 
contribution that everyone can make.

155



Growth and our 
Economy

Housing that Meets the 
Needs of our Residents

Healthy and  
Strong Communities

Clean and Sustainable 
Environment

High Performing 
Council

South Kesteven  
District Council
You can contact the council about benefits, rent or other issues 
 01476 406080  
Out of hours 01476 590044
 customerservices@southkesteven.gov.uk
	www.southkesteven.gov.uk

Alternative formats are available on request: 
audio, large print and Braille

03
15

5R
T_

9.
20

Stamford 

156



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Corporate Plan 2020 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
All 
 

Lead officer: 
Karen Bradford  

Date of Meeting  
 
20/08/20 Assessors: 

Paul Clarke 
Ken Lyon 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

157

Appendix B



 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This is the over-arching policy setting out the Council’s overall purpose, vision and 
priorities 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 
 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strategy 
have a positive or negative 
impact on any of the equality 
groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc 
is not relevant to a specific 
characteristic please explain 
why   

Age 
 
 

Potential positive (see comments) Across all areas, the Corporate 
Plan gives an evidence-based 
approach to defining actions and 
grouping these into priority areas. 
 
For example, data on the 
Council’s pay audit is used to find 
areas of Strength and Weakness 
and the gender pay gap become 
an area of ongoing measurement. 
 
The first action in several areas 
(such as the Governance review, 
People Strategy and project 
methodology) is to develop a 
strategy for those areas.  These 
areas will themselves require an 
Equality Impact – this overarching 
policy sets out the need for 
sustainability, fairness and 
transparency to be at the heart of 
those subsequent decisions. 
 
It is felt that through a continued 
evidence-based approach, 
embedding equalities into other 
strategies and engaging the 
voluntary and community sector 
more this will provide the 

Disability 
 

 

Potential positive (see comments) 

Race 
 

Potential positive (see comments) 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Potential positive (see comments) 

Religion or Belief   Potential positive (see comments) 

Sex 
 
 
   

Potential positive (see comments) 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Potential positive (see comments) 

158



 

 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Potential positive (see comments) opportunity to improve the impact 
on all equality groups. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

Potential positive (see comments) 

Carers Potential positive (see comments) 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation) 
 

Potential positive (see comments) 

General 
comments 

This is a strategic document.  Projects, policy and functions that 
emerge as outcomes of the Corporate Plan will be assessed on an 
individual basis to ensure equitability across all our services. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 
A review of all available data was undertaken to define the Strengths, Weaknesses, 
Opportunities and Threats facing the district.  This included data on diversity, 
employment, IMD (down to the sub-domain level), crime and education statistics.  
This then formed the evidence base to develop priorities from. 
 
Consultation was undertaken through the CMT group over the period April to June 
2020 and shared with Members for a series of workshops in July 2020. 
 
As this is intended to be an evolving document, subject to at least annual review, 
this is intended as a starting point to add extra information as it becomes available.  
For example, there is the stated intention to build a database of community and 
voluntary groups and work with them to ensure sustainability of provision and 
service. 

 

159



 

 

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

An annual refresh will be undertaken, where any new data can be added.  Various 
other strategies and reviews will be developed using this as the basis (such as a 
Governance Review), so further specific targets and measures can be developed 
from this. 
 
Alongside the development of this Corporate Plan, there will be ongoing 
Performance Management; this gives the opportunity to highlight and track any new 
measures find to be missing. 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 
a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any potential 

for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead Officer 
and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to 
better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 

160



 

 

 
If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 

analysis 
 

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Karen Bradford 
(Name and title)   Chief Executive 
  

Date completed:  20/08/20  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Officer 
 

Date signed off:     20/08/20  
 

161



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Council 
1 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Graham Jeal 

  Chairman of the Companies 
Committee 

           

 

Gravitas Housing Limited: Appointment of Directors 

This report requests that four additional Directors be appointed to Gravitas Housing Ltd.  

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

 
01476 406152 

 j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 23 September 2020 

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 23 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Graham Jeal, Chairman of the Companies 
Committee 

23 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Council is asked to appoint the following as Directors of Gravitas Housing 
Limited: 

a) Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 

b) Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the Council 

c) Paul Thomas, Strategic Director 

d) Director of Housing and Property 

163

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Gravitas Housing Limited is a wholly owned company of the Council limited by shares. 

The company was incorporated on 30 January 2017 in order to deliver quality new 

housing in the District. 

1.2 To date one scheme at Wherry’s Lane Bourne has been approved by the shareholders 

(the Council) and financing for this scheme was approved by Council on 2 March 2017. At 

the present time, this project is the only one approved for delivery and continues to be the 

focus in order that the Council can recoup the financial outlay it has invested into Gravitas 

by way of shares and a commercial loan. 

1.3 Article 13.1 of the Company’s Articles of Association states that the quorum for the 

transaction of Gravitas business shall be three Directors. This means that there must be at 

least three Directors voting on any decision. 

1.4 The three Directors previously listed for the company were Harry Rai, Jane McDaid and 

Richard Wyles. Harry Rai and Jane McDaid are no longer employed by the Council and 

have consequently resigned as Directors of Gravitas. This means that Gravitas currently 

has only one Director in post, making it inquorate and therefore unable to take decisions. 

1.5 In order for Gravitas Housing Limited to be able to lawfully make any decision, it must 

appoint at least two more Directors.  

1.6 Following the resignation of Harry Rai and Jane McDaid as Directors of Gravitas Housing 

Ltd, members are asked to appoint: 

• Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 

• Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader of the Council  

• Paul Thomas - Strategic Director for Growth 

• Director of Housing and Property (subject to approval of the post by Council) 

1.7 These proposed appointments will bring the political and professional strategic support to 

enable Gravitas to successfully deliver the Wherry’s Lane development and bring forward 

a pipeline of strategic housing development proposals for Committee consideration. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The proposed appointments were considered by the Companies Committee at its meeting 

on 22 September 2020. A majority of the Members present at the meeting were supportive 

of the proposed appointments.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The appointment of Directors is required in order to replace the two previous Directors 

who resigned on 31 July 2020. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This is set out in the report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The report recommends nominated Directors who, if appointed, will provide the political 

and professional focus to enable the company to continue to develop quality housing in 

the district.  

164



 

 
 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Any changes to the directorships of the company will be communicated to Companies 

House to ensure up-to-date information is being held for the company. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 From a Council perspective there are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The appointment of additional Directors is important to ensure the board can function 

properly. 

8.2 Articles 4.2 (xi) and 17.17 of the Council’s Constitution lists as a local choice function for 

determination by Council, the appointment of any individual a) to any office other than an 

office in which he or she is employed by the authority; b) to anybody other than the 

authority or a joint committee of two or more authorities; or c) to any committee or sub-

committee of such a body and the revocation of any such appointment.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no equality and safeguarding implications arising as a result of this report. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk has been considered in the preparation of this report; the most significant risk would 

be created by failing to appoint additional Directors to Gravitas Housing Limited. By not 

appointing additional Directors, the company would be unable to operate.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no community safety implications arising as a result of this report.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report has no carbon impact. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Companies 
Committee 

22 September 2020 

Final Decision date   1 October 2020 

 

165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2020
	Minute Item 11 - Appointments to Committees - 2020-21
	Minute Item 12 - Outside Bodies - 2020-21

	5a Meetings of the Cabinet
	Appendix 1 - minutes of Cabinet on 18 February 2020
	Appendix 2 - minutes of Cabinet on 17 March 2020
	Appendix 3 - minutes of Cabinet on 16 June 2020 FINAL

	5b Decisions made under urgency provisions
	Appendix 1 - Insurance Decision Report
	Appendix 1 - Insurance Bids and Evaluation
	Appendix 1- Insurance Decision Notice
	Appendix 1 - Insurance General Exception Notice
	Appendix 2 - Financial Impact of Covid 19 on Leisure Service
	Appendix 3 - Food Waste Report
	Appendix 3 - Food Waste Decision Notice
	Appendix 4 - Pavement Furniture Decision Report
	Appendix 4 - Pavement Furniture Urgent decision notice
	Appendix 5 - Furlough of arts centre staff
	Appendix 6 - Public Conveniences Decision
	Appendix 7 - Updates to Virtual Council Procedures Report
	Appendix 7 - Council meeting procedure

	6a Councillor Virginia Moran
	6b Councillor Annie Mason
	MentalHealthChallengeWelcomePack, 16/07/2020 Council

	7a Councillor Amanda Wheeler
	7b Councillor Ashley Baxter
	9 South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan
	Appendix A - Corporate Plan
	growth and economy
	Housing
	healthy community
	clean and sustainable
	high performing council

	Appendix B - Equality Impact

	12 Appointment of Directors to Gravitas Housing Limited

	Button 148: 
	Button 177: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 178: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 179: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 180: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 181: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 182: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 183: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 

	Button 94: 
	Button 95: 
	Button 96: 
	Button 97: 
	Button 98: 
	Button 99: 
	Button 100: 
	Button 104: 
	Button 103: 
	Button 102: 
	Button 101: 
	Button 147: 
	Button 170: 
	Button 171: 
	Button 172: 
	Button 173: 
	Button 174: 
	Button 175: 
	Button 176: 
	Button 156: 
	Button 157: 
	Button 158: 
	Button 159: 
	Button 160: 
	Button 161: 
	Button 162: 
	Button 149: 
	Button 150: 
	Button 151: 
	Button 152: 
	Button 153: 
	Button 154: 
	Button 155: 


